ASDC For Windows: Air Stripper Design and Costing User Manual

David A. Dzombak Muhammad M. Sherif Nimit Shah Vishal Vaidyanathan Hung-Jung Fang Sujoy B. Roy

Carnegie Mellon University Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering Pittsburgh, PA 15213

May 2021

Preface

Development of the original ASDC program in 1990-1991 was sponsored by the Headquarters Air Force Civil Engineering Support Agency (HQ AFCESA), Tyndall AFB, Florida, under contract no. 8635-90-C-0099 to Carnegie Mellon University. David Dzombak was the Principal Investigator for the project. Captain Edward Marchand of HQ AFCESA served as the Project Officer.

Several commercial products related to the air stripping process are mentioned in this report and in the ASDC computer program. No endorsement or rejection of any product for the U.S. Air Force or other use should be inferred.

After the initial release of the ASDC program and user manual in 1991, several subsequent updates to the program and manual were made, with the last of those in October 1995. The program and manual were distributed at cost initially and eventually for free download when that service became widely available.

The original ASDC program was developed for use with a DOS operating system. Continued use of the program was possible even after the development of the Windows operating system, via use of with DOS emulator tools. With the increasingly limited availability of DOS emulator tools, and the tremendous advancements in the capabilities of the Windows operating system, it became clear that for the continued existence of the program modification for use in the Windows operating system was needed.

Development of ASDC for Windows began in 2012. Muhammad Sherif, then a CEE master's student at Carnegie Mellon, volunteered to lead the task of transferring the program to Windows, which essentially required complete re-programming. In 2013, Nimit Shah, also then a CEE master's student at Carnegie Mellon, joined the effort to help with testing the program and guiding its development. Vishal Vaidyanathan, another CEE master's student, also joined the effort in 2019 to assist with testing of the program and with implementing revisions to the user manual. The effort was conducted as a part-time activity for Muhammad, Nimit, and David Dzombak, for longer than any of us envisioned at the beginning! The persistence of Muhammad and Nimit with the project on a volunteer basis long after they each completed their studies at Carnegie Mellon is a testament to their professionalism and is much appreciated by David Dzombak.

This manual describes the design procedures, data, and algorithms incorporated in the program. It also provides a guide to use of ASDC for Windows. The manual contains much of the information in the original ASDC User Manual but provides updates where appropriate. Sections I-III and the appendices are largely reproduced from U.S. Air Force Report ESL-TR-91-40 (Carnegie Mellon CE Report No. 92-204), "ASDC: A microcomputer-based program for air stripper design and costing" David A. Dzombak, Hung-Jung Fang and Sujoy B. Roy, December 1991.

Availability of ASDC Software and Conditions of Use

The ASDC for Windows program is available for open access non-commercial research use. Carnegie Mellon University allows free use of the ASDC software in its "as is" condition.

By using or downloading the software the user is agreeing to the terms of the ASDC for Windows license agreement provided with the program. Carnegie Mellon University disclaims any liability of any kind for any damages whatsoever resulting from use of the ASDC for Windows software. The Licensor (Carnegie Mellon University) shall not be liable for direct, indirect, special, incidental, or consequential damages or lost profits related to Licensee's use of and/or inability to use the Software, even if Licensor is advised of the possibility of such damage.

Disclaimer of warranties: The software is provided "AS-IS" without warranty of any kind including any warranties of performance or merchantability or fitness for a particular use of purpose or of non-infringement. Licensee bears all risk relating to quality and performance of the software and related materials.

Table of Contents

Pı	eface		i				
A	vailabil	ity of ASDC Software and Conditions of Use	iii				
L	st of Fi	gures	vi				
L	List of Tablesix						
1	Intro	oduction	. 1				
2	Air	Stripper Design	. 3				
	2.1	Overview of Design Methodology	. 3				
	2.2	Algorithm for Selection of Design Contaminant	. 5				
	2.3	Estimation of Mass Transfer Coefficient	. 5				
	2.4	Estimation of Air Loading Rate	10				
	2.5	Temperature Dependency of Henry's Law Constant	16				
	2.5.1	Estimation of $\Delta H v$	17				
	2.5.2	2 Validation of Temperature Dependency Algorithm	20				
	2.6	Design Air and Water Temperatures	22				
	2.7	Design Air and Water Properties	22				
3	Cost	Model	24				
	3.1	Introduction	24				
	3.2	Standard Air Stripper Configuration	25				
	3.3	Direct Capital Costs	26				
	3.3.1	Column Shell	26				
	3.3.2	2 Column Internals	29				
	3.3.3	B Packing Material	30				
	3.3.4	Water Pump	31				
	3.3.5	5 Air Blower	33				
	3.3.6	6 Mist Eliminator	35				
	3.3.7	7 Support Equipment	35				
	3.4	Indirect Capital Costs	35				
	3.5	Operating Costs	36				
	3.5.1	Power Cost	36				
	3.5.2	2 Maintenance and Labor	37				
	3.6	Total Annual Cost	37				
	3.7	Adjustment of Costs for Inflation	37				

4 Progra	m Operation	
4.1 Ir	ntroduction	
4.2 S	ystem Requirements	
4.2.1	Hardware	
4.2.2	Supported Operating Systems	
4.3 Ir	nstallation	
4.4 P	rogram Functions	
4.4.1	Standard Sequential Execution	
4.4.2	New Scenario Specification	
4.4.3	Starting a New Scenario with Contaminant Selection	
4.4.4	Starting a New Scenario with Packing Material Selection	
4.4.5	Starting a New Scenario with Design Parameters	
4.4.6	Air Stripper Design	
4.4.7	Scenario Viewer – to View Report	
4.4.8	Edit Scenario – to Edit an Existing Scenario for Another Run	
4.4.9	Quick Start	
4.4.10	Output and Report Options	63
References		
Apendix A:	Water Pump Characteristic Curves	
Apendix B:	Fan Capacity Tables	
Apendix C:	References for Compound Property Data	

List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Schematic of an Air-Stripping Unit	2
Figure 2-1. Two-Phase Resistance Model for Chemical Exchange at the Gas/Liquid Interface	7
Figure 2-2. Generalized Pressure Drop Curves (Norton Company, 1988)	12
Figure 2-3. (a) $\Delta P/V$ vs ΔP (for $H' = 0.01 - 0.1$) and (b) m, n vs. Flow Parameter H' ; Prahl Li	nearization14
Figure 2-4. Linearization Fits of the Generalized Pressure Drop Curves	15
Figure 2-5. Temperature-Dependency of H for: (a) Chloroform, (b) Trichloroethylene, (c) Carbo (d) Tetrachloroethylene	n Tetrachloride, and21
Figure 3-1. Standard Air Stripping Configuration	25
Figure 3-2. Column shell accessories assumed in standard configuration: (a) typical long-weld n and (b) typical buttweld flange type nozzles	eck type nozzles, 28
Figure 4-1. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup wizard	40
Figure 4-2. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup prerequisites	40
Figure 4-3. Screenshot of ASDC user account control	41
Figure 4-4. Screenshot of Directory chosen for extracted files	41
Figure 4-5. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server installation center	41
Figure 4-6. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL license terms	42
Figure 4-7. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server setup	42
Figure 4-8. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL feature selection	43
Figure 4-9. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL instance configuration	43
Figure 4-10. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server configuration	44
Figure 4-11. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL database engine configuration	44
Figure 4-12. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server installation progress	45
Figure 4-13. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server installation setup	45
Figure 4-14. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup wizard	46
Figure 4-15. Screenshot of ASDC Windows license agreement	46
Figure 4-16. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup installation folder	47
Figure 4-17. Screenshots for step 7 of the installation of the ASDC-Windows: (a) installing ASE prerequisites are installed and program location was selected, (b) installation is prep accept changes to your device and (d) setup extracts necessary files	C windows after paring package, (c) 48
Figure 4-18. Screenshot of ASDC Windows installation setup wizard	49
Figure 4-19. Screenshot of ASDC home screen	50
Figure 4-20. Screenshot of contaminant – new scenario	51
Figure 4-21. Screenshot of packing – new scenario	
Figure 4-22. Screenshot of design parameter – new scenario	53
Figure 4-23. Screenshot of air stripper design tab	54
Figure 4-24. Screenshot of contaminant – edit scenario tab	55

Figure 4-25. Screenshot of contaminant – edit – new contaminant tab	55
Figure 4-26. Screenshot of contaminant – edit – existing contaminant tab	56
Figure 4-27. Screenshot of contaminant – edit – contaminant property tab	57
Figure 4-28. Screenshot of packing – edit – existing packing material	57
Figure 4-29. Screenshot of design parameter – edit scenario tab	58
Figure 4-30. Screenshot of design parameter – main contaminant tab	59
Figure 4-31. Screenshot of ASDC home screen – quick start	59
Figure 4-32. Screenshot of quick start – scenario name	60
Figure 4-33. Screenshot of quick start – contaminant selection (a) before selection of contaminants and (b) after selection of contaminants	er 60
Figure 4-34. Screenshot of quick start – contaminant influent and effluent concentration	61
Figure 4-35. Screenshot of quick start – packing material selection	61
Figure 4-36. Screenshot of quick start – design parameters	62
Figure 4-37. Screenshot of home screen – scenario viewer	63
Figure 4-38. Screenshot of design summary excel sheet	63
Figure 4-39. Screenshot of design estimated cost display options	64
Figure 4-40. Screenshot of line plot	64
Figure 4-41. Screenshot of line plot – interpretation	65
Figure 4-42. Screenshot of pie chart	65
Figure 4-43. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 1	67
Figure 4-44. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 2	68
Figure 4-45. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 3	69
Figure 4-46. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 4	70
Figure A1. Type 1 pump characteristic curves	74
Figure A2. Type 2 pump characteristic curves	74
Figure A3. Type 3 pump characteristic curves	75
Figure A4. Type 4 pump characteristic curves	75
Figure A5. Type 5 pump characteristic curves	76
Figure A6. Type 6 pump characteristic curves	76
Figure A7. Type 7 pump characteristic curves	77
Figure A8. Type 8 pump characteristic curves	77
Figure A9. Type 9 pump characteristic curves	78
Figure A10. Type 10 pump characteristic curves	78
Figure A11. Type 11 pump characteristic curves	79
Figure A12. Type 12 pump characteristic curves	79
Figure A13. Type 13 pump characteristic curves	80
Figure A14. Type 14 pump characteristic curves	80

Figure A15. Type 15 pump characteristic curves	81
Figure A16. Type 16 pump characteristic curves	81

List of Tables

Table 3-1. Packing Height Multipliers for Estimating Total Column Height	
Table 3-2. Design Contingency Overhead Multipliers for Total Column Cost	29
Table 3-3. Average unit costs for polypropylene packing material (2020)	31
Table B1. Type 1 Fan Capacity Table	82
Table B2. Type 2 Fan Capacity Table	83
Table B3. Type 3 Fan Capacity Table	84
Table B4. Type 4 Fan Capacity Table	85
Table B5. Type 5 Fan Capacity Table	86
Table B6. Type 6 Fan Capacity Table	87
Table B7. Type 7 Fan Capacity Table	88
Table B8. Type 8 Fan Capacity Table	89
Table B9. Type 9 Fan Capacity Table	90
Table B10. Type 10 Fan Capacity Table	91
Table B11. Type 11 Fan Capacity Table	92
Table B12. Type 12 Fan Capacity Table	93
Table B13. Type 13 Fan Capacity Table	94
Table B14. Type 14 Fan Capacity Table	95
Table B15. Type 15 Fan Capacity Table	96
Table B16. Type 16 Fan Capacity Table	97
Table B17. Type 17 Fan Capacity Table	98

1 Introduction

ASDC for Windows is an interactive program for air stripper design and cost estimation and optimization. For a specified water treatment scenario, the Air Stripper Design and Costing (ASDC) program can generate many alternative designs simultaneously and estimate approximate capital and operating costs associated with each design. Various plots of costs versus design parameter values can be then displayed on-screen for rapid assessment of optimal design with respect to cost.

Packed tower, countercurrent air stripping has been long used in chemical process industries and this technology is employed for removal of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) from water supplies, wastewaters, contaminated groundwaters and leachate from waste disposal sites. The packed tower air-stripping process is illustrated schematically in Figure 1. Water contaminated with VOCs is pumped to the top of the column and evenly distributed over the cross-sectional area of the column which is filled with a porous packing material. Air is introduced at the bottom of the column and flows upward, counter to the downward water flow. The packing material serves to maximize the water surface area in the column, and exchange of VOCs from water to air occurs at the air/water interfaces the column. Water with reduced VOC concentrations exits at the bottom of the column and air containing VOCs is discharged at the top column. Treatment of the off gas is sometimes required. Several studies have shown that air stripping, even with off-gas treatment, can be a cost-effective method for removal of VOCs from water particularly when compared with treatment by adsorption on granular activated carbon (References 1-4).

Design of an air-stripping unit is performed using a well-developed mathematical model of the process which is based on principles of mass transfer. Because the number of variables exceeds the number of constraining equations, however, a variety of air stripper designs can be employed to achieve a desired removal for a compound. An air stripper is typically designed by assuming values for the extra variables (usually the stripping factor, which reflects the air-water ratio, and the gas pressure drop across the column), generating designs for different assumed values, estimating costs for the various designs, and then selecting the optimum design by considering process requirements and costs. Air stripper design calculations are relatively straightforward but numerous. As the design procedure is iterative, design via manual calculation can be tedious and subject to mathematical errors. Because of this, and because cost data are difficult to assemble,

design of air-stripping units in the past has often involved generation of only a few feasible designs and use of engineering judgement to select the final configuration. As a result, designs for many existing air-stripping units in use for water treatment are not optimal with respect to cost (e.g., Reference 5).

In the following sections of the report, the design and cost estimation components of the ASDC for Windows program are described in detail and a guide to operation of the program is presented. The program operation guide contains descriptions of the function and invocation of menus, and the structure, and format of input and output. Example applications exercising the major options in ASDC for Windows are also presented and include reproductions of the corresponding input and output screens.



Figure 1-1. Schematic of an Air-Stripping Unit

2 Air Stripper Design

The theory of countercurrent packed-tower operation for gas/liquid absorption and stripping applications is well developed in the chemical engineering mass transfer literature (e.g., References 10 and 11). Several excellent papers have been published which describe the application of this theory to the design of air-stripping units for water and wastewater treatment (References 12-14). In addition, the USEPA sponsored development of a process design manual (Reference 15) for air and steam stripping which summarizes the design methods. Also, air stripper design is described in several U.S. Air Force reports (References 16,17). The air stripper design procedure described in the cited articles is employed in the ASDC program. A summary of the design procedure is provided below, followed by detailed explanations of how certain aspects of the design procedure are implemented in ASDC.

2.1 Overview of Design Methodology

In designing an air-stripping unit, the goal is to determine the packed-tower configuration (diameter and height of packing material), air loading rate (moles/area-time), and water loading rate (moles/area-time) that will enable reduction of a given influent concentration C_i of a volatile contaminant to a desired effluent concentration C_e at minimum cost for a specific inflow rate Q and set of environmental conditions (air and water temperatures, atmospheric pressure). The designer must determine values or ranges of values for C_i , C_e , Q, the air and water temperatures (T_{air} , T_{water}), and the atmospheric pressure (P_{atm}), and then select some candidate packing materials. Air stripper design theory (References 10-14) can then be employed to identify several alternative designs.

The Henry's Law constant, K_H in atm-m³/mol or H in dimensionless form, is a compound property that provides an indication of the relative volatility of the compound. It expresses the ratio of a compound's abundance in the gas phase to that in the aqueous phase at equilibrium and is an important parameter in air stripper design. If $K_H < 10^{-7}$ atm-m³/mol, the compound is considered to exhibit low volatility, while at K_H values greater than 10⁻⁷ but less than 10⁻⁵ atm-m³/mol, the compound will volatilize moderately from water. Compounds with K_H values in the range $10^{-5} < K_H < 10^{-3}$ atm-m³/mol are moderately to highly volatile and most easily removed by air stripping. Values of K_H exceeding 10^{-3} atm-m³/mol indicate high volatility of a compound.

The methodology of air stripper design is based on four basic equations derived from mass transfer theory:

$$Z = Packing Height (m) = HTU \times NTU$$
(1)

$$HTU = Height of Transfer Unit (m) = \frac{L_m}{K_L a \rho_L}$$
(2)

$$NTU = Number of Transfer Unit = \frac{R}{R-1} \times \ln\left(\frac{(C_e/C_i)(R-1)+1}{R}\right)$$
(3)

$$R = Stripping \ Factor = \left(\frac{G_m \rho_L}{L_m \rho_G}\right) \times H \tag{4}$$

where K_L is the overall liquid phase mass transfer coefficient (m/s), *a* is the specific interfacial area for the packing (m²/m³), ρ_L is the density of water (kg/m³), ρ_G is the density of air (kg/m³), *R* is the stripping factor (dimensionless), *H* is the Henry's Law constant for the VOC of interest (dimensionless), C_i and C_e are the influent and effluent concentrations, and L_m and G_m are the liquid and gas mass loading rates (kg/m²-s). Thus, the design is constrained by four equations and there are six unknown variables: *Z*, *HTU*, *NTU*, *R*, *G_m*, and *L_m*. Substitution of Equations (2) and (3) in Equation (1) yields:

$$Z = \left(\frac{L}{K_L a \rho_L}\right) \left(\frac{R}{R-1}\right) \ln\left(\frac{(C_e/C_i)(R-1)+1}{R}\right)$$
(5)

Equation (5) can be used in design calculations to estimate the height of packing material needed to achieve a given treatment objective, but values for *R* (and hence the air: water ratio, $G_m \rho_L / L_m \rho_G$) and G_m (needed to obtain L_m) must be fixed arbitrarily for this calculation. The overall liquid phase mass transfer, $K_L a$, for the contaminant is obtained from available data or by experiment. As G_m , the gas loading rate is related directly to the pressure drop, ΔP , the design variables are usually considered to be *R* and ΔP . Thus, the design engineer must assume a desirable pressure drop value for gas flow across a packed column corresponding to a particular value for the gas loading rate. Choosing a particular set of values for *R* and ΔP fixes the value of G_m and all other variables. The general design procedure for an air stripper for one set of *R* and ΔP values is as follows:

- 1. Identify design contaminant of interest and choose a packing material.
- 2. Specify system design parameters (influent concentrations; required effluent concentrations; water inflow rate; water temperature; atmospheric pressure; K_La , if available)
- 3. Choose values for *R* and ΔP
- 4. Calculate G_m/L_m using Equation (4)
- 5. Determine G_m for specified ΔP value using Eckert relationships
- 6. Calculate L_m
- 7. Estimate $K_L a$ using Onda model (Reference 22) if pilot data are not available
- 8. Calculate *HTU* and *NTU* using Equations (2) and (3)
- 9. Calculate Z using Equation (1)
- 10. Calculate the tower diameter based on known water inflow rate, Q and L_m

Thus, with the specification of *R* and ΔP the design is fixed. The design problem is to find the set of *R* and ΔP values that corresponds to minimum total cost for the unit and that is consistent with other non-cost constraints or goals. Key components of the design procedure, including use of the Eckert relationships and the Onda model, are described in the following subsections.

2.2 Algorithm for Selection of Design Contaminant

If a set of contaminants are specified in the scenario, design calculations are performed for the compound having the highest NTU (number of transfer units) and R (stripping factor) greater than 1. Preliminary NTU estimates are made by applying the Onda model, with an assumed air:water ratio of 30, to each of the contaminant specified by the user in the scenario. The NTU and R criteria are then applied to these results. Note that if the calculated air:water ratio is substantially different from 30, the ranking used to select the component as the basis of air stripper design may not be correct. In ASDC for Windows, the user has the option to specify the compound for which the designs will be determined, i.e., the user has the option to over-ride the design contaminant selected by the program.

2.3 Estimation of Mass Transfer Coefficient

The two-phase resistance or two-film theory is generally accepted and widely used for description of mass transfer in gas-liquid exchange processes (References 11, 18). In the two-phase resistance

theory, a solute is considered to be transported from the bulk of one phase to the interface, and then from the interface to the bulk of the second phase. A stagnant film of finite thickness exists on each side of the interface, and the solute molecules must diffuse through these films before passing from the liquid phase to the gas phase, as illustrated in Figure 2. The two-phase resistance theory assumes that the only resistances to interphase exchange are the diffusional resistances in the stagnant films and that solute transfer across the interface itself is governed by Henry's Law of vapor-liquid equilibrium. The overall resistance to mass transfer is the sum of two separate resistances, a liquid-phase and a gas phase resistance:

$$R_T = R_L + R_G \tag{6}$$

In accordance with two-phase resistance theory, these resistances R_L and R_G are defined as the reciprocals of their respective phase transfer rate constants. With the assumption that phase equilibrium exists at the interface, the following equation is obtained:

$$\frac{1}{K_L a} = \frac{1}{k_L a} + \frac{1}{H(k_G a)}$$
(7)

where K_L is the overall liquid-phase mass transfer coefficient, k_L is the individual liquid phase coefficient, k_G is the individual gas phase coefficient, and a is the effective interfacial area per unit volume of liquid. From the above equation, the significance of each phase in controlling the rate of gas-liquid mass transfer can be evaluated. For highly volatile contaminants which have larger H values, the gas-phase resistance is negligible and liquid phase control of mass transfer exists. For compounds of moderate to low volatility, both phase resistances must be considered for predicting and interpreting mass transfer rates.



Figure 2-1. Two-Phase Resistance Model for Chemical Exchange at the Gas/Liquid Interface Overall liquid-phase mass transfer coefficients for specific applications can be determined experimentally in pilot tests (Reference 13) or can be estimated using one of several available models. Three models for prediction of mass transfer coefficients in countercurrent packed columns are those by Sherwood-Holloway, Shulman, and Onda. These models are reviewed by Roberts et al. (Reference 19).

The Sherwood-Holloway model (Reference 20) was developed from a study of the desorption of hydrogen, carbon dioxide, and oxygen from water into a countercurrent air flow in packed column tests involving several sizes of Raschig ring and Berl saddle packing materials. As the gaseous solutes tested by Sherwood and Holloway have sufficiently large Henry's Law constants that liquid-phase resistance controls, the overall mass transfer rate predicted with the Sherwood-Holloway correlation is governed by liquid resistance only. In addition, the correlation does not consider the effective interfacial area explicitly. This estimation method is difficult to apply to a new type of packing material.

The Shulman and Onda models (References 21, 22) estimate both gas and liquid phase resistance values and estimation of interfacial contact area is also included. These models are, therefore, valid for a wider range of contaminants, regardless of volatility. The main item of concern for the Shulman model lies in the correlation used for prediction of interfacial area. It is not general and applies only to specific situations. This is a critical deficiency since the original work involved only a limited number of packing types. Therefore, without further information on the appropriate

values of interfacial area for use with modern packings, this model is extremely limited in terms of potential applications.

The correlation developed by Onda et al. (Reference 22) entails separate estimation of the individual phase resistance values, k_L and k_g and the interfacial area, a. The specific interfacial area is taken to be the specific wetted packing area, a_w (Reference 19), which is estimated as a function of the liquid flow rate, packing properties, and liquid properties according to the following equation:

$$\frac{a_w}{a_t} = 1 - \exp\left[-1.45 \times \left(\frac{\sigma_c}{\sigma_L}\right)^{0.75} \times \left[\frac{L_m}{a_t \mu_L}\right]^{0.1} \times \left[\frac{L_m^2 a_t}{\rho_L^2 g}\right]^{-0.05} \times \left[\frac{L_m^2}{\rho_L \sigma_L a_t}\right]^{0.2}\right]$$
(8)

where

 a_t = total specific surface area of packing

 σ_c = critical surface tension of packing material

 σ_L = surface tension of the liquid

 L_m = liquid mass loading rate

 μ *L* = liquid viscosity

 ρ_L = liquid density

 $g = \text{gravitational constant (9.81 m/s^2)}$

The last three factors within the argument of the exponential in Equation (8) are the Reynolds, Froude, and Weber numbers, all dimensionless. According to the original developers, Equation (8) is accurate within ± 20 percent. For a given packing material, liquid, and temperature, the specific interfacial area increases with increasing liquid loading rate and asymptotically approaches at as L_m becomes very large.

In the Onda model, the correlation for the liquid-phase coefficient, k_L was determined from interpretation of a large data base (including the data of Sherwood and Holloway), encompassing packed tower tests with rings, spheres, rods, and saddles from 4 to 50 mm size, covering the liquid flow range $0.8 < L_m < 43$ kg.m⁻²s⁻¹. The correlation is given in dimensionless form as:

$$k_{L} \left(\frac{\rho_{L}}{\mu_{L}g}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} = 0.0051 \times \left(\frac{L_{m}}{a_{w}\mu_{L}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} \times \left(\frac{\mu_{L}}{\rho_{L}D_{L}}\right)^{-0.5} \times \left(a_{t}d_{p}\right)^{0.4}$$
(9)

where d_p is the nominal packing size and D_L is diffusivity of the contaminant in the liquid. The accuracy of the estimate of k_L is reported to be ± 20 percent.

For the gas-phase resistance, Onda et al. correlated mass- transfer data for absorption and stripping in the gas flow range $0.014 < G_m < 1.7$ kg.m⁻².s⁻¹ and various packing shapes in the size range 4 to 50 mm. They obtained the following relationship for k_G in dimensionless form:

$$\frac{k_G}{a_t D_G} = 5.23 \times \left(\frac{G_m}{a_t \mu_G}\right)^{0.7} \times \left(\frac{\mu_G}{\rho_G D_G}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \times \left(a_t d_p\right)^{-2}$$
(10)

where D_G is the diffusivity of the contaminant in the gas phase and G_m is the air mass loading rate. The value of the constant in Equation (10) is changed for small packing ($d_p < 15$ mm) from 5.23 to 2.0. The overall accuracy for the k_G correlation was placed at ±20 percent in the original work.

The ASDC program incorporates the Onda model for estimation of the overall mass transfer factor, $K_L a$, as well as an option to specify a safety factor for the estimated value. Gosset et al. (Reference 16), Robens et al. (Reference 19), and Hand et al. (Reference 14) have validated the Onda correlation in pilot and field studies. These and other studies reported in the environmental engineering literature have found the Onda correlation to be the most accurate of the three available models for estimation of $K_L a$ in packed-tower stripping of VOCs. Implementation of the Onda model requires property data for the water (μ_L , ρ_L , σ_L), the air (μ_G , ρ_G), the packing material (a_t , d_p) and the contaminant of interest (H, D_L , D_G), as well as the water and air mass loading rates (L_m , G_m).

In the ASDC for Windows program, property data for the contaminant, the packing material, water and air are accessed from data bases while L_m and G_m are calculated. Property data for the water and air are adjusted for the appropriate temperature as discussed later in the report. Contaminant diffusion properties, namely D_L and D_e , are estimated using methods recommended by Lyman et al. (Reference 23, Chapter 17). For D_L' the estimation equation of Hayduk and Laudi (Reference 24) is employed:

$$D_L = \frac{13.26 \times 10^{-5}}{\mu_L^{1.14} V_B^{0.589}} \tag{11}$$

where μ_L is the water viscosity (centipoise) at the temperature of interest, V_B is the molar volume (cm³/mol) of the contaminant, and D_L has units of cm²/sec. The estimation method of Wilke and Lee (Reference 23, Chapter 17) is used for D_G :

$$D_G = \frac{B' T^{1.5} \sqrt{M_r}}{P \sigma_{AB}^2 \Omega} \tag{12}$$

where T is the temperature in K, P is the pressure in atm, B', Ω , and σ_{AB} are parameters defined as:

$$B' = 0.00217 - 0.00050 \sqrt{\frac{1}{M_a} + \frac{1}{m_B}}$$
(13)

where M_A and M_B are the molecular weights of air and the contaminant of interest, and

$$\Omega = \frac{a}{(T^*)^b} + \frac{c}{\exp(T^* \times d)} + \frac{e}{\exp(T^* \times f)} + \frac{g}{\exp(T^* \times h)}$$
(14)

where a=1.06036, b=0.15610, c=0.19300, d=0.47635, e=1.03587, f=1.52996, g=1.76474, h=3.89411 and,

$$T^* = \frac{T}{\sqrt{78.6 \times 1.15T_b}}$$
(15)

where T_b is the boiling point of the compound in °K, and T is the temperature of interest in °K.

 σ_{AB} is defined as,

$$\sigma_{AB} = \frac{3.711 + 1.18 \times (V_b)^{1/3}}{2} \tag{16}$$

where V_B is the molar volume of the compound of interest in cm³/mol.

 M_r is a weighted average molecular weight, and D_G has units of cm²/sec. The parameter M_r is defined as:

$$M_r = \frac{(M_A + M_B)}{M_A M_B} \tag{17}$$

where M_A is the molecular weight of air and M_B is that of the contaminant.

2.4 Estimation of Air Loading Rate

The VOC removal efficiency of air stripping units is enhanced at higher flow rates through the packed column, but with greater air flows, larger pressure drops result and operating energy requirements increase. Pressure drop occurs in a packed tower as a result of frictional resistance of the gas to the liquid as it flows over the packing material and over the column equipment (i.e. air duct, support plate, distributor, and mist eliminator, etc.). The frictional resistance increases as the velocity of the countercurrent flowing gas increases. In air stripper design, the task is to select

as high an air loading rate as possible for a particular packing and a specified maximum allowable gas pressure drop across the column.

Pressure drops associated with different gas loading rates in countercurrent flow packed towers have been measured for various types of random packing. These data have been summarized in "generalized pressure drop curves" relating to G and ΔP which enable estimation of acceptable gas loading rates for a wide range of conditions. Sherwood et al. (Reference 20) performed experiments with a Raschig ring random packing and a variety of gases (air, hydrogen, carbon dioxide) and liquids (water, aqueous glycerol, methanol, aqueous butyric acid). They published a correlation to predict "flooding" (pressure drop so high that gas cannot flow through the tower) as a function of column dimensions and physical characteristics of the gas and the liquid. However, Lobo et al. (Reference 26) observed that the Sherwood packed-bed geometry factor, a/E^3 (the area of the packing in square feet per cubic foot divided by the cube of the fractional void space) was not useful for accurate prediction of gas flow capacity for ΔP values at non-flooding conditions. Later, Leva (Reference 27) introduced the parameter of constant pressure drop and a further correction for the ratio of the density of water to the density of the liquid in the packed bed, Eckert (Reference 28) used a modification of the capacity factor of Lobo and called it the "packing factor", F. Eckert's packing factor was established by averaging the observed capacities of the bed under the conditions outlined by Lobo et al., with the exception that they were measured at pressure drops of 0.5, 1.0 and 1.5 inch H₂O per foot of packed height rather than at the flooding point. The generalized pressure drop correlation of Eckert is recommended by Perry's Chemical Engineers' Handbook (Reference 29) as the best tool for estimating acceptable gas loading rates. A set of generalized pressure drop curves (Error! Reference source not found.), obtained from the Norton Company (Akron, Ohio), are used for estimation of G in the ASDC program.



Figure 2-2. Generalized Pressure Drop Curves (Norton Company, 1988)

On the Eckert correlation plot of **Error! Reference source not found.**, the abscissa is known as the flow parameter

$$H' = \frac{L}{G} \left(\frac{\rho_G}{\rho_L}\right)^{0.5} \tag{18}$$

and the ordinate is the capacity parameter:

$$V = \frac{G^2 F \mu_L^{0.1}}{g \rho_G (\rho_L - \rho_G)}$$
(19)

where L and G refer to the liquid and gas loading rates in lbs/hr, g is the gravitational constant (32.2 ft/s²), ρ_G is the gas density (lb/ft³), ρ_L is the liquid density (lb/ft³), μ_L is the liquid viscosity

(Centipoise), and F is the packing factor (ft⁻¹). To facilitate use of Eckert correlation curves, the linearization method developed by Prahl (Reference 30) and employed by Boadway (Reference 31) was adopted. The Prahl method provides a means to represent the nonlinear Eckert correlation curves with the simple linear equations. It was implemented in the ASDC program via the following steps:

- 1. Numerical values of the flow parameter H' and the capacity parameter V were read with a digitizer from the generalized pressure drop curves for different pressure drops.
- 2. Values for $\Delta P/V$ were calculated for values of H'.
- 3. $\Delta P/V$ was plotted versus ΔP for different values of H'. Straight lines (with slope = m and y-intercept = n) were fitted to these points as shown in Figure 2-3a.
- 4. The lines for the individual H' values were expressed by equations of the type:

$$V = \frac{G^2 F \mu_L^{0.1}}{g \rho_G (\rho_L - \rho_G)}$$
(20)

Values of m and n for different H' were taken from Figure 2-3a.

5. The m and n values for the individual H' lines were plotted versus H', and a straight line (with slope = p and y-intercept = q) was fitted to the points. The same was done for the n values (slope = r and y-intercept = s). These lines, shown in Figure 2-3b, may be expressed as:

$$m = pH' + q \tag{21}$$

$$n = rH' + s \tag{22}$$

6. Rearrangement of Equation 16 gives the final equations implemented in the ASDC program

$$\Delta P = \frac{V_n}{1 - V_m} \tag{23}$$

$$V = \frac{\Delta P}{m\Delta P + m} \tag{24}$$

where m and n are defined as in Equations (21) and (22), In the process of applying above procedures, it was found that no single set of p, q, r and s values could be used to represent accurately the generalized pressure drop curves for the entire range of flow parameter H'. Therefore, fitting was performed for three different ranges of the flow parameter for accurate fitting of the data. The three different ranges for H' were from 0.004 to 0.2, 0.2 to 2 and 2 to 8.

The first two ranges were fitted according to the procedures described above, and two sets of p, q, r and s values were obtained. For H' less than 0.2, the best fit values were p = 68.64, q = 2.21, r = 3.04 and s = 6.03 for H' between 0.2 and 2 the best fit values were p = 40.74, q = 5.63, r = 10.08 and s = 4.8. At higher flow parameter values, i.e. H' greater than 2, the relationship between H' and V for a particular ΔP value is approximately linear on a log-log scale. Therefore, a linear regression equation was obtained to describe the generalized pressure drop curve at higher H' values:

$$\log V = -1.74 + 0.398 \log \Delta P - 1.22 \log H' \tag{25}$$



Figure 2-3. (a) $\Delta P/V$ vs ΔP (for H' = 0.01 - 0.1) and (b) m, n vs. Flow Parameter H'; Prahl Linearization

Figure 2-4 shows a comparison of calculated V versus H' curves with the actual curves from the Eckert generalized pressure drop correlation. The fitting relationships used to generate the fitted curves enable prediction of V given H' for any value of ΔP in the range covered; thus, they serve as an interpolation device as well as a fitting device.



Figure 2-4. Linearization Fits of the Generalized Pressure Drop Curves

Kister et al. (Reference 32) used about 2,800 processed pressure drop data to evaluate the Eckert relationship. Overall, they found that the Eckert correlation yields good pressure drop predictions for the air/water system at atmospheric pressure throughout the entire flow parameter range. Some shortcomings related to use of the Eckert relationship were noted, however. First is the inaccuracy inherent in any graphical method. Second is the large distance between the ΔP lines, which can make graphical interpolation difficult. The fitting and interpolation algorithm for the generalized pressure drop curves that is incorporated in the ASDC program avoids these problems.

The generalized pressure drop curves are empirical and extrapolation is not reliable. Thus, in ASDC the specified pressure drop must be within the ΔP data range on the Eckert plot, i.e., from 0.05 to 1.5 inch of water/ft (41 to 1225N/m².m).

A generic flooding curve is indicated on the Eckert plot for ΔP in the range of 2 to 4 inches of water per foot of packing. However, Kister et al. (Reference 32) examined about 200 flood conditions and found that, while the flood point is independent of the flow parameter, it varies within a packing family and among packing types. Similar observations have been reported by Zenz (Reference 33) and Strigle and Rukovena (Reference 34). Kister et al. developed the following empirical equation for estimating the flood point for a packing material:

$$\Delta P_{flood} = 0.115 F^{0.7} \tag{26}$$

where ΔP flood is the pressure drop at the flood point and *F* is the packing factor for the packing material in ft⁻¹. This equation is implemented in the ASDC program for providing the upper limit of the pressure drop that can be specified.

2.5 Temperature Dependency of Henry's Law Constant

In the overview of air stripper design methodology presented in section 2.1. it is shown that the value of the Henry's Law constant has a significant influence on the calculated design. It affects NTU directly and HTU indirectly through K_La . Thus, accurate values for Henry's Law constants are critical for useful design calculations. The ASDC program includes a compound property data base which contains H values at 20°C and 25°C. Since Henry's Law constants can vary significantly with temperature, it is important to use H values for the relevant water temperature in performing design calculations. ASDC includes an algorithm to adjust H values in the data base to the water temperature of interest. The basis for this algorithm is described below.

For a compound *i*, the equilibrium air-to-water partition constant (the dimensionless Henry's Law constant) is given by:

$$H = \frac{P_{i,a}/RT}{C_{i,w}}$$
(27)

where $P_{i,a}$ is the partial pressure of compound *i* in the gas phase (atm) and $C_{i,w}$ is the molar concentration of the compound in water, *R* is the gas constant (0.08206 L.atm.mol⁻¹. K⁻¹). and *T* is the temperature in °K. For the relatively low aqueous phase concentrations of most VOCs,

$$H = H^{sat} = \frac{P_{i,L}^0 / RT}{C_{i,w}^{sat}}$$
(28)

where $P_{i,L}^0$ is the vapor pressure over the pure organic (liquid) compound at the temperature of interest, and $C_{i,w}^{sat}$ is the aqueous phase solubility. The close correlation of *H* with vapor pressure and aqueous solubility enables evaluation of the temperature dependency of *H*. With use of the Clausius-Clapeyron equation, and consideration of temperature effects on aqueous solubility, it may be shown that

$$\ln H = -\left(\frac{\Delta H_{\nu} + \Delta H_s^e}{R}\right)\frac{1}{T} + A'$$
⁽²⁹⁾

where ΔH_v is the molar heat of vaporization (cal/mol), ΔH_s^e is the excess molar heat of solution (cal/mol), *R* is the molar gas constant (1.9872 cal/mol-K), and *A'* is a constant. For most small

and/or polar compounds, ΔH_s^e is close to zero or slightly negative and is usually much smaller than ΔH_v . The influence of temperature on *H* is, at maximum, similar in magnitude to the influence of temperature on vapor pressure, approximately doubling for a 20°F increase. Thus, knowledge of *H* at a temperature (e.g., 20°C) may be used for estimation of *H* at another temperature by the following equations if ΔH_v is known for each compound at different temperatures.

$$\ln H(T_1) = -\frac{\Delta H_v(T_1)}{R} \frac{1}{T_1} + A'$$
(30)

$$\ln H(T_2) = -\frac{\Delta H_v(T_2)}{R} \frac{1}{T_2} + A'$$
(31)

Subtraction of Equation (30) from (31) yields:

$$\ln\frac{H(T_1)}{H(T_2)} = \frac{\Delta H_v(T_1)}{R} \frac{1}{T_1} - \frac{\Delta H_v(T_2)}{R} \frac{1}{T_2}$$
(32)

In the ASDC program, Equation (32) is used to estimate H at any specified temperature using H($T_1 = 20^{\circ}$ C or 25^{\circ}C) as the reference value. All ΔH_v values required for this calculation are estimated using the method of Haggenmacher (described below) which estimates ΔH_v from vapor pressure and requires knowledge of critical pressure (P_c) critical temperature (T_c), and the Antoine constants for each compound. These data, together with H (T = 20°C or 25°C), have been incorporated in the compound property data base that accompanies the program.

2.5.1 Estimation of ΔH_v

The vapor pressure curve for any compound as a function of the temperature can be described by the Clapeyron Equation.

$$\frac{dP}{dT} = \frac{\Delta H_{\nu}}{T(V_G - V_L)} \tag{33}$$

where dP/dT is derivative of vapor pressure with respect to temperature, ΔH_v is the molar heat of vaporization at temperature *T*, V_G is the saturated molar volume of the vapor phase, and V_L is the saturated molar volume of the liquid phase. The quantity ($V_G - V_L$) can be obtained from the compressibility equation of state:

$$V_G - V_L = \frac{RT}{P} (Z_G - Z_L) \tag{34}$$

where *R* is the universal gas constant and Z_G and Z_L are the compressibility factors for the vapor and the liquid phases, respectively. Substitution of Equation (34) into the Clapeyron equation and rearrangement yields:

This equation can be employed for estimating the heat of vaporization of a compound or predicting the shape of its vapor pressure curve.

$$\frac{d(\ln P)}{d\left(\frac{1}{T}\right)} = \frac{-\Delta H_v}{R(Z_G - Z_L)}$$
(35)

Vapor pressure versus temperature data for a compound may also be described by the Antoine relationship:

$$\log P = A - \frac{B}{t+C} \tag{36}$$

where A, B, and C are constants and t are temperature, all expressed in °C except A, which is dimensionless. The Antoine relationship is a widely used empirical tool for describing and estimating vapor pressure as a function of temperature. Antoine constants A, B, and C have been compiled for many compounds.

The Haggenmacher method (Reference 23, Chapter 13) for estimating ΔH_v is derived from combination of Equation (36) with Equation (35) and the following:

$$Z_G - Z_L = \left[1 - \frac{(P/P_c)}{(T/T_c)^3}\right]^{0.5}$$
(37)

which expresses the compressibility difference in terms of two pressures and two temperatures, Equation (37) provides a good approximation at temperatures near or below the boiling point, T_b . ΔH_v for any temperature is computed by finding ΔH_{vb} , the heat of vaporization at the boiling point using Equation (38), and then applying Equation (39):

$$\Delta H_{vb} = \frac{2.303BRT_b^2 \left[1 - \frac{(P/P_c)}{(T_b/T_c)^3}\right]^{0.5}}{(t_b + C)^2}$$
(38)
$$\Delta H_v = \Delta H_{vb} \left(\frac{1 - (T/T_c)}{(T_b/T_c)^3}\right)^n$$
(39)

$$H_{\nu} = \Delta H_{\nu b} \left(\frac{1 - (T/T_c)}{1 - (T_b/T_c)} \right)$$
(39)

Page 18 of 100

where T, T_b and T_c are in °K, P and P_c are in atmospheres, and B, C and t_b are in °C (t_b is the boiling point of the compound in °C; B has the same numerical values regardless of the units; C is converted from °K to °C by adding 273.15). The constant 2.303 is the natural logarithm of 10, and R is the gas constant equal to 1.9872 cal/mol.K.

The value of the parameter n in Equation (39) is given as a function of T_b/T_c (Reference 23, Chapter 13):

T_b/T_c	n
<0.57	0.30
0.57 to 0.71	$0.75(T_b/T_c)$ -0.116
>0.71	0.41

Equations (38) and (39) are employed in the ASDC program to estimate the heat of vaporization at different temperatures. To enable use of these equations, values of P_c and T_c are included in the compound property data base. In the case of compounds for which P_c , T_c and/or Antoine constants are not available, ΔH_v is estimated by use of an approximation.

Trouton's rule (Reference 23, page 13-2), which is an approximation that gives ΔH_v at the boiling point, is used to estimate ΔH_v when T_c , P_c and Antoine's constants are missing:

$$\frac{\Delta H_{vb}}{T_b} = 21 \ cal/K - mole \tag{40}$$

The compressibility factor difference (the left-hand side of Equation (37)) is estimated as 1.0 when Antoine's constants are available, but T_c and P_c are missing (Reference 23, Table 13-6). When only T_c values are missing, T_c is estimated as 1.5 x T_b (Reference 23, page 14-13).

2.5.2 Validation of Temperature Dependency Algorithm

Munz and Roberts (Reference 35) reported the temperature dependency of the Henry's Law constant in the range of 10 to 30°C for bromoform, chloroform, trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene and carbon tetrachloride. The values from Munz's experiments and results from other experiments compiled by Munz were used for the validation of the method used in ASDC to describe the temperature dependency of *H*. The *H* value for each compound at 25°C was used as the basis for estimation of *H* at other temperatures. In Figure 7, *H* values for the four compounds are compared to the values measured at various temperatures. The Henry's Law constants predicted with the model incorporated in ASDC generally agree closely with the measurements of Munz and Robens (Reference 35) and others cited by them.



Figure 2-5. Temperature-Dependency of H for: (a) Chloroform, (b) Trichloroethylene, (c) Carbon Tetrachloride, and (d) Tetrachloroethylene

2.6 Design Air and Water Temperatures

Water temperature affects several parameters involved in air stripper design and operation, most importantly the Henry's Law constant and the mass transfer coefficient for the target VOC contaminants. The higher the water temperature, the greater the Henry's Law constant and the mass transfer coefficient. At higher water temperatures, lower air-to-water ratios may thus be employed. Effects of water temperature on H and K_{La} are considered in ASDC, as discussed previously.

The temperature of influent air has been found to have little effect on the performance of air stripping units. Gross and Termaath (Reference 2) evaluated air temperature effects in a full-scale system in which the inlet air temperature was varied systematically from 15 to 50°F. During these tests, no change in water temperature was detected along the packed column. In similar experiments with a pilot-scale column, Cummins (Reference 36) took water and air temperature measurements along the column and determined that the water temperature remained essentially constant and that air temperature adjusted rapidly to that of the water. These observations are consistent with basic thermodynamics. Straudinger (Reference 37) performed a heat balance calculation for a hypothetical air stripping system with an inlet air temperature of 0°F, an inlet water temperature of 55°F, and an air-to-water ratio of 20, and estimated that the water temperature would not change by more than 1°F.

In the ASDC program, the inlet water temperature is used as the design temperature upon which all the air, water, and contaminant property values are calculated. This approach is employed commonly in air stripper design.

2.7 Design Air and Water Properties

The basic properties of air and water used in the design of an air-stripping system, especially in estimation of K_{La} , are density and viscosity and, for water, surface tension. All these property values vary with temperature, though water viscosity exhibits the greatest sensitivity to temperature. It increases by approximately a factor of two from 10°C to 30°C. The ASDC program contains functions that can estimate the values for the air and water properties at different temperatures.

Extensive data for water density as a function of temperature are available. In Perry's Chemical Engineers' Handbook (Reference 29), such data are given for 0 to 100°C. The following polynomial equation can fit these data well:

$$\rho_L = 999.85 + 6.1474 \times 10^{-2} (T) - 8.3633 \times 10^{-3} (T^2) + 6.6805 \times 10^{-5} (T^4) + 1.3095 \times 10^{-9} (T^5)$$
(41)

where ρ_L is water density in kg/m³ and *T* is the temperature in °C. Equation (41) is incorporated in ASDC for estimation of ρ_L .

Estimation of water viscosity as a function of temperature is performed in ASDC using data fitting equations from the CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics (Reference 38):

for
$$0^{\circ}C < T < 20^{\circ}C$$
:

$$\log \mu_L = \frac{1301}{998.333 + 8.1855(T - 20) + 5.85 \times 10^{-3}(T - 20)^2} - 1.30233 \tag{42}$$

for
$$20^{\circ}$$
C < T < 100° C:

$$\log \frac{\mu_L}{\mu_{20}} = \frac{1.3272(20-T) - 1.053 \times 10^{-3}(T-20)^2}{T+105}$$
(43)

where μ_{20} is the water viscosity in centipoise at 20°C and *T* is the temperature of interest in °C. To convert centipoise to kg/m-sec, multiply by 0.001.

The dependence of water surface tension on temperature is also described using an equation for data in the CRC Handbook (Reference 38):

$$\sigma_L = 75.712 - 0.14475 \times T - 2.352 \times 10^{-4} T^2 \tag{44}$$

where σ_L is water surface tension in dyne/cm and *T* is the temperature of interest in °C. Equation (44) is valid for 0°C to 100°C. To convert dyne/cm to kg/sec², multiply by 0.001.

Air density and viscosity values for temperatures in the range of 0 to 100° C are given in the CRC Handbook (Reference 38) and Roberson and Crowe (Reference 39). The following equations describe these data accurately and are incorporated in ASDC:

$$\rho_G = 1.2926 - 4.6769 \times 10^{-3}T + 1.3986 \times 10^{-5}T^2 \tag{45}$$

$$\mu_G = 1.71 \times 10^{-5} + 5.0 \times 10^{-8} T \tag{46}$$

where ρ_G is air density in g/L or kg/m³, μ_G is air viscosity in N.sec/m², and *T* is the temperature of interest in °C.

3 Cost Model

3.1 Introduction

A cost model is incorporated in the ASDC program to give an approximate indication of the costs associated with a design. In many cases, capital and operating costs will not be the only considerations involved in the selection of an optimal design. Designs less than optimal with respect to total costs may be needed to provide flexibility for possible changes in influent characteristics or flow rate, to provide operational simplicity, or to fulfill any of a number of design goals other than the minimum cost. However, capital and operating costs will always be design considerations, if for no other reason than to quantify the price of meeting noneconomic design criteria.

The cost model incorporated in ASDC is not intended to provide a highly accurate estimate of the cost of a particular system, but rather to enable comparison of approximate costs for different designs on a consistent basis. Major capital and operating costs are evaluated using cost data and estimation methods obtained from manufacturers and from engineering literature. System costs are evaluated by summing the component capital and operating costs. An alternative approach is to estimate whole system cost by empirical correlation with total costs for existing systems of similar size (e.g. References 40-43). The component-by-component approach was selected because (1) system costs exhibit variability due to site-specific factors, (2) the component approach enables identification of key cost factors, and (3) single component cost information is easier to update.

An outline of the capital and operating costs considered in the cost model is provided. Estimation of direct capital costs (excluding electrical equipment and control system costs) depends on equipment sizes and material quantities and is performed for a given design on the basis of unit prices in the cost data base. For indirect capital costs and electrical/control equipment, coarse but generally accepted estimation methods are employed. The chief operating costs for an air stripping unit are the energy costs for the water pump and the air blower. Power cost estimation is performed using the operating characteristics for the particular pump and blower selected by the program for a particular design. Key assumptions necessary for estimation of labor and maintenance costs are requested from the user. Costs included in the cost data bases are referenced to 2019 and can be

adjusted in the program for inflation through use of the Engineering News Record (ENR) Construction Index. Detailed descriptions of the components of the cost model are provided below.

3.2 Standard Air Stripper Configuration

Construction considerations vary from site to site and, therefore, an assumed standard configuration of the air stripping system is employed in the cost model. This is done to provide internal consistency in the cost estimates for alternative designs. The assumed configuration, shown in Figure 3-1, contains the basic process and support equipment required for a single tower system. It includes the column shell, column internals (i.e., liquid distributor, liquid redistributor(s), and packing support plate), random packing material, mist eliminator, one centrifugal pump, and one centrifugal fan. A constant suction head loss to the water pump of 5 feet is assumed. Support equipment considered includes a 15 ft x 15 ft x 4 ft concrete foundation, steel piping (with a valve and flow meter) from the pump discharge to the top of tower, 100 feet of field piping to the pump, 10 feet of stainless steel air duct (with a damper and a flow meter) from the blower discharge directly to the base of the tower, a gas pressure measurement device at the air inlet and outlet locations in the tower, and a simple manual switch-on electrical power and control system.



Figure 3-1. Standard Air Stripping Configuration

3.3 Direct Capital Costs

The direct capital cost includes all the physical items required for installation of an air stripping tower, that is, process and support equipment costs. The process equipment cost is the key component of the cost model. Process equipment includes the column shell, column internals (i.e., liquid distributor, liquid redistributor, and packing support plate), packing material, air blower, water pump, and mist eliminator. Equipment size requirements calculated in the design procedure are used to determine the quantity of material involved with a particular design.

3.3.1 Column Shell

The cost of the column shell is one of the key components of the tower direct cost. Column shells typically are constructed using aluminum or corrosion-resistant steel, predominantly the former. Generic cost data for air stripper column shells are difficult to obtain since they are often custom fabricated. Some very approximate prices for aluminum column shells were provided by one leading manufacturer of air stripper systems. These prices were compared to prices for standard pressure vessels in Richardson Process Plant Construction Estimating Standards (Reference 44, Sections 100-341 to 100-362) and it was found that the approximate column prices were similar to those for pressure vessels constructed with A-285 and A-515 pressure-vessel-quality steel plate. As is the case for an air stripping column shell, the cost of a pressure vessel depends on its height and diameter. A general expression is given in the Richardson Standards for the cost of the pressure vessels cited above:

$$C_{column} = (45.2 + 3.5D_i - 7.7 \times 10^{-3}D_i^2) \times H_{tower}$$
(47)

where D_i is the column diameter in inches and H_{tower} is the column total height in feet. (The result is multiplied by 2.0 in the program to update the cost to 2019.) This expression is used in the ASDC program to estimate the base cost of an aluminum column shell.

The cost for the column shell itself is related with the total height of the column. The total height of the column is the sum of the packing material height, the height of the column skirt which accommodates the air duct inlet and treated water outlet, and the height of the column top for the water pipe inlet, liquid distributor, mist eliminator, and some other devices (e.g., connection to offgas treatment). As the sizes of these accessories vary, determination of the total height of the air stripping tower requires some assumptions. The ASDC program assumes that the total height is given by the packing height plus some fraction of the packing height. From careful examination
of several air stripper designs, it was determined that the multiplication factor is a function of the water flow rate. The multiplication factors employed in ASDC for determining total column height are given in Table 3-1.

Water Flow Rate (gpm)	Packing Height Multiplier
< 500	1.30
500 - 1000	1.40
1000 - 1400	1.45
1400 - 1800	1.50
> 1800	1.60

Table 3-1. Packing Height Multipliers for Estimating Total Column Height

To estimate the total cost of the column shell, the cost of shell accessories must be considered along with the cost of the shell itself. As shown in Figure 3-1, the assumed configuration of the column shell includes two access ports for maintenance, one pipe inlet, one air duct inlet, one water outlet, and some open nozzles for instrument devices. The costs for all of these items depend on size and quantity.

The access ports are assumed to be of the same material as the column shell. The assumed access port type, a long weld neck-type radial nozzle, is illustrated in Figure 3-2. In ASDC, access ports ranging in size from 2 to 24 inches in diameter are considered and the following equation from the Richardson Standards (Reference 44, Section 2 100-348) is used to estimate access port cost:

$$C_{port} = -31.6 + 72.8D_m - 2.8D_m^2 + 0.11D_m^3$$
(48)

where D_m is the diameter of the access port in inches. (The result is multiplied by 2.0 in the program to update the cost to 2019.) The size for the port is determined in relation to the diameter of the column. The ASDC program chooses the largest available size that does not exceed two-thirds of the column diameter up to a maximum 24 inches.



Figure 3-2. Column shell accessories assumed in standard configuration: (a) typical long-weld neck type nozzles, and (b) typical buttweld flange type nozzles

Costs for the water pipe inlet and treated water outlets are also estimated in ASDC using a correlation equation from the Richardson Standards (Reference 44, Sections 100-347 and 100-349) for buttweld flange-type nozzles:

$$C_{outlet} = 133.8 + 42D_p + 4.8D_p^2 \tag{49}$$

where D_p is the pipe diameter in inches. (The result is multiplied by 2.0 in the program to update the cost to 2019.) In ASDC the water inlet pipe size is the optimal pump discharge pipe size, discussed later in the section on water pump selection. The treated water outlet pipe size is determined by the same rules for choosing access port size. Estimation of cost for the instrument device nozzles also is performed using the above equation by considering six 2-inch or smaller nozzle openings. The cost for the air duct inlet is estimated using the cost equation for the access port and an additional five percent is added for the tangential shape of the air duct inlet.

Total Column Cost (\$)	Design-Contingency-Overhead-Multiplier
< 6,000	1.25
6,000 - 8,000	1.24
8,000 - 10,000	1.23
10,000 - 15,000	1.22
15,000 - 20,000	1.21
20,000 - 25,000	1.20
25,000 - 35,000	1.19
35,000 - 50,000	1.18
50,000 - 75,000	1.17
> 75,000	1.16

Table 3-2. Design Contingency Overhead Multipliers for Total Column Cost

Note 1: from Richardson (Reference 44), Section 100 – 358

In the assumed tower configuration, tray rings are used to support the liquid distributor and fiberglass-reinforced plastic (FRP) support plate. The number of tray rings used is discussed in the next subsection on column internals. Ring cost estimation is performed using a correlation equation from the Richardson Standards (Reference 44, Section 100-352):

$$C_{ring} = 70.4 + 4.45D_i + 1.73 \times 10^{-2}D_i^2 \tag{50}$$

where D_i is the column diameter in inches. (The result is multiplied by 2.0 in the program to update the cost to 2019.)

The total cost of the column shell is estimated by adding the shell accessory costs to the cost of the shell itself. A cost multiplier of approximately 1.2 (see Table 3-2) is added to the total column shell cost to account for engineering design, contingency, and overhead.

3.3.2 Column Internals

The column internals include one plate-type liquid distributor, wall-wiper liquid redistributors (for every 5 to 6 feet), and one FRP packing support plate. For packing height greater than 30 feet or the ratio of packing height to tower diameter greater than 10, another liquid distributor is included. The costs of these items are functions of diameter. Costs of FRP grid support plates were obtained from equipment vendors, while costs for orifice plate-type liquid distributor trays were taken from

the Richardson Standards (Reference 44, Sections 100-353 and 100-359). Correlations of cost versus diameter were developed as follows:

$$C_{tray} = 658.1 - 6.5D_i + 0.22D_i^2 \tag{51}$$

$$C_{plate} = 20.6 + 1.1D_i + 9.7 \times 10^{-2}D_i^2$$
(52)

where C_{tray} is the cost for the liquid distributor, C_{plate} is the cost for the FRP packing support plate, and D_i is the column diameter in inches. (Both costs are multiplied by 2.0 in the program to update them to 2019.) The wall-wiper liquid redistributors are assumed to be 5 percent of the liquid distributor cost. The total cost for internals is obtained by summing these components and applying a factor of 1.2 for contingency and overhead.

To illustrate calculation of the costs of internals, consider a column with diameter of 5 feet (1.52 m) and packing height of 32 feet (9.75 m). The cost for the two liquid distributors required would be $\$1060 \times 2$, or \$2120. The cost for four wall-wiper redistributors would be $1060 \times 0.05 \times 4$, or \$212. The number of wall wipers is determined by the rule that if more than one distributor is used, consider one redistributor every 6 feet over half of the packing height. If only one liquid distributor is used, a redistributor is placed every 5 feet over the entire packing height. The cost of the FRP support plate would be \$436. Therefore, the total cost for the column internals, including the contingency factor, would be (\$2120 + 212 + 436) $\times 1.2$ or \$3322.

3.3.3 Packing Material

The cost for packing material is also one of the key components of the tower direct cost. This cost can be calculated readily with knowledge of the unit prices for different types of packing material. From contacting several packing material manufacturers ceramic, polypropylene packing materials were obtained. The unit costs incorporated in the program are listed in Table 3-3. Packing costs for materials other than polypropylene were determined using the polypropylene packing cost data in Table 3-3 and cost multiplying factors ascertained from manufacturers. The program provides users the flexibility to input cost information for specific packing material for more accurate estimation of packing materials cost.

Packing Volume	Unit Packing Cost (\$/ft ³)
0 - 99	15
100 - 499	15
500 - 999	14
1000 - 1999	12
> 2000	10

Table 3-3. Average unit costs for polypropylene packing material (2020)

3.3.4 Water Pump

An algorithm is included in the ASDC program to determine the pump type and size required for a particular design. This level of design detail is necessary for process capital and operating cost estimation. For pump sizing, the total head loss to be overcome and system flow rate must be known. Determination of the total system head requires knowledge of the pump discharge head loss which is related to the pump discharge pipe size. Therefore, pipe sizing is the first step in the algorithm.

Generally, the aim in designing a piping system is to transmit the desired flow rate at the lowest overall cost. The cost of the pipe and associated fittings is directly proportional to the pipe diameter. The energy cost of pumping is, however, inversely proportional to the diameter. Thus, an economic balance is needed such that the pipe diameter gives the minimum sum for capital and operating cost. To determine the optimum pump discharge pipe diameter, the ASDC program employs the methodology developed by Genereaux (Reference 45) and by Sarchet and Colburn (Reference 46); the approach is summarized in Reference 47. In this approach, the annual cost of pumping and the annual (amortized) cost of a unit length of pipe are combined and the pipe diameter that gives the minimum sum is selected. The power required in a year for pumping liquids is given by the product of flow rate (Q), pressure drop (ΔP), and duration of operation (Y):

$$Power = Q \times \Delta P \times Y = Q \left(\frac{4fLV^2}{2gD}\right) Y$$
(53)

where Y is the duration of operation per year, f is the friction factor $(0.4/N_{Re}^{0.16})$ for turbulent flow, N_{Re} is the Reynold number $(DV\rho/\mu)$, D is the pipe diameter, ρ is the fluid density, μ is the fluid viscosity, V is the fluid velocity, L is pipe length and g is the gravitational constant Over the course of a year, the cost of pumping may be obtained by considering the cost of electricity and the pump efficiency.

$$C_{pump} = Q\left(\frac{4fLV^2}{2gD}\right)Y\frac{K}{E}$$
(54)

where *K* is electricity cost (cost per KW-hr), *E* is efficiency of motor and pump and C_{pump} is the pumping cost per linear foot per year. For pipe sizing calculations, a combined efficiency of 0.5 is assumed in the program (E = E_{pump} × E_{motor} = 0.8 × 0.6 = 0.5).

Capital pipe cost must be considered as well as the associated operating cost. For most types of pipe, a plot of logarithm of the pipe diameter versus the logarithm of the purchase cost per foot is essentially a straight line. Therefore, the purchase cost for pipe may be represented by the following equation:

$$C_{pipe} = XD^n \tag{55}$$

where C_{pipe} is purchase cost of new pipe per foot of pipe length, X is the purchase cost of new pipe per foot for unit diameter, and n is the constant with value dependent on type of pipe. (The result is multiplied by 2.0 in the program to update the cost to 2019.)

The annual cost for the installed piping system may be expressed as follows:

$$C_{pipe} = (1+F)XD^n K_F \tag{56}$$

where K_F is the amortized annual fixed cost, expressed as a fraction of initial cost, for installed pipe and *F* is the ratio of cost for fitting and installation to purchase cost of pipe.

Combining the annual operating cost (C_{pump}) and amortized capital cost (C_{pipe}) yields the total annual cost, C_T . The differential of C_T with respect to D may then be taken, set equal to 0, and the resulting expression solved from $D_{optimum}$, the economic pipe size. Various expressions for $D_{optimum}$ are summarized in Reference 47, Chapter 10; one of these (Equation 46) is implemented in ASDC for determination of the discharge pipe size.

Once the pump discharge pipe size is selected, the optimum pump size can be determined for different flow rates. In ASDC, the total system head is set at the pump discharge head loss plus the assumed 5 feet suction head loss and the static discharge head (the tower height). Determination of the optimum pump size is accomplished by the following procedure:

- 1. Determine the pump system head, h_{sys} .
- 2. For pumps (included in a database) that can handle the desired flow rate Q_w , and system head, h_{sys} . Scan the pump characteristic curve data for each pump to determine the pump efficiency at the specific operation point (Q_w , h_{sys}).
- 3. Choose the most efficient pump.

Characteristic curves for a number of variable speed centrifugal water pumps, with capacities from 150 gpm to 4000 gpm (for $h_{sys} < 100$ feet) have been obtained from several leading pump manufacturers. These characteristic curves have been described using polynomial fitting equations and included in a data base (see Appendix A). Pump selection is performed using this data base and the procedures discussed above.

Once a pump is selected, its capital cost is determined directly from cost information incorporated in the cost data base (see Table A-1 in Appendix A). When the flow rate is outside of the 150 gpm to 4000 gpm range, pump capital cost is estimated via a simple extrapolation procedure that utilizes the available pump cost data. Pump capital cost is estimated by applying a multiplier to the capital cost for either the 150 gpm or the 4000 gpm pump that reflects the proportional flow below 150 gpm or above 4000 gpm. For a flow Q_1 less than 150 gpm, the pump capital cost is estimated as C_{pump} , $Q_1 = C_{pump}$, $150 \times (Q_1/150 \text{ gpm})$. At a flow Q_2 above 4000 gpm, C_{pump} , 4000 is multiplied by the factor $Q_2/4000$ gpm.

Pump operating cost (discussed later) is calculated using the efficiency for the operating condition and determined in the pump selection routine, except when the flow rate is outside the range of available data. For water flow rates less than 150 gpm and greater than 4000 gpm, a pump efficiency of 70 percent is assumed.

3.3.5 Air Blower

An algorithm is included in ASDC for determination of air blower type and size for a particular design. As in the case of the water pump, detailed blower design is necessary for capital and operating cost estimation.

Air blower size is determined by the system static pressure drop and the air flow required which depends on the air/water ratio. The system air pressure drop is the sum of the pressure drop over the tower plus the pressure drop over the equipment (e.g., air duct, support plate, liquid distributor, and mist eliminator). A value of 1.5 in-H₂O is assumed in the program for the pressure drop over the equipment; pressure drop over the packing is specified by the user (i.e., ΔP). Fan capacity tables for a number of variable speed centrifugal air blowers, with capacity ranging from 200 cfm up to approximately 40,000 cfm (for ΔP up to 10 in-H₂O), have been obtained from a leading blower manufacturer. These tables are included in a data base in ASDC which is scanned for determination of the appropriate fan size. The tables are given in Appendix B. Blower selection is accomplished in ASDC by the following procedure:

- 1. Determine the system static pressure drop, ΔP .
- 2. Calculate the required air volume from air loading rate, tower area and the density of air.
- 3. For blowers (included in a database) that can handle the desired air volume, Q_a and ΔP , scan the fan capacity tables for each blower to determine the blower efficiency at the specified operation point ($Q_a, \Delta P$).
- 4. Choose the most efficient blower.

Once a blower is selected, its capital cost is determined directly from cost information incorporated in the cost data base (see Table B-1 in Appendix B). When the blower flow rate is outside the range of available data (200 cfm to 40,000 cfm), blower capital cost is estimated using the same extrapolation procedure described for estimation of pump capital costs at high and low flow rates. For an air flow Q_1 less than 200 cfm, C_{blower} , Q_1 is estimated by multiplying C_{blower} , 200 by $Q_1/200$ cfm. At a flow Q_2 greater than 40,000 cfm, C_{blower} , 40,000 is multiplied by $Q_2/40,000$ cfm.

Blower operating cost (discussed later) is calculated using the efficiency for the operating condition and particular blower determined in the blower selection routine, except when the flow rate is outside the range of available data. For air flow rates less than 200 cfm or greater than 40,000 cfm, a blower efficiency of 70 percent is assumed.

3.3.6 Mist Eliminator

The mist eliminator is assumed to be stainless steel mesh type, 4 inches in thickness. Its cost is estimated using data given in the Richardson Standards (Reference 44, Section 100-360). The correlation developed for the demisting pad and associated bottom grid is:

$$C_{mist} = 1.2 \times (46.4 + 9.3D_i + 0.14D_i^2)$$
(57)

where D_i is the tower diameter in inches and the constant 1.2 is the multiplier assumed for contingency and overhead. (The result is multiplied by 2.0 in the program to update the cost to 2019.) The correlation is based upon data for mist eliminators with diameters varying from 36 to 144 inches.

3.3.7 Support Equipment

Ancillary equipment needed for connection of the major process equipment components includes piping and air ducts, and electrical control equipment. In ASDC, costs for these support equipment items are estimated as percentages of the total process equipment cost. Pipe and air duct costs are estimated as 20 percent of the total process equipment cost plus the cost of piping from the water pump discharge to the top of the column. For the discharge piping cost, the optimum pipe diameter is estimated as described in subsection 3.3.1; the pipe length is given by the column height, and unit prices for steel pipe are taken from Richardson Standards (Reference 48, Section 15). Electrical system cost is estimated as 10 percent of total process equipment cost. This fraction is representative of basic electrical control system costs (References 47, 48, 49); it is not intended to include the cost of elaborate instrumentation.

3.4 Indirect Capital Costs

Indirect capital cost includes all nonphysical items required for an air stripping system. The indirect capital costs considered in the ASDC program include site work, engineering design, construction, and contingency and profit. The cost estimates for each of these items are based on percentages of the total direct cost, the approach most commonly used for estimation of indirect costs. Percentages used in the program for site work, design, and construction are 15 percent, 27 percent, and 20 percent, respectively. These percentages include contractor profit and overhead and were selected after review of cost estimating procedures for various water treatment technologies (e.g., References 49, 50). Actual percentages will be site specific but use of a single

set of percentages in the program provides internal consistency in cost estimates for alternative designs.

3.5 Operating Costs

The main operating cost associated with operation of an air stripper is the energy cost for electrical power to drive the water pump and the air blower. Power costs are based on the projected volume of water to be treated in a year and the electrical power consumed therewith. Energy requirements for treatment in a packed tower depend on the liquid and gas flow rates and associated friction losses. Once these have been calculated and a particular blower and pump have been selected, estimation of power consumption is straightforward.

Other operating costs include maintenance costs (cleaning of the tower, pump and blower maintenance, etc.), labor costs, and administrative costs. Labor cost may be included with maintenance cost or estimated separately. These costs are usually calculated on the basis of water volume treated. Administrative cost may be estimated as the sum of fractions of labor and maintenance costs, but it is usually not significant and hence is not considered explicitly in the ASDC program.

3.5.1 Power Cost

The power cost is based on the projected volume of water to be treated per year and the electrical power consumed by the pump and the blower associated with the air stripping system. The pump power cost is based on the volume of water pumped per year, head loss through the pipes, pump efficiency, and motor efficiency. It can be expressed as:

$$C_{pump} = 0.746 \frac{Qh_{sys}Y}{3960E_{pump}E_{motor}}$$
(58)

where C_{pump} is the pump operating power cost (\$/yr), Q is the average water flow rate (gallon/min), h_{sys} is the total system head loss (ft), Y is the electrical cost (\$/KW-hr), E_{pump} is the pump efficiency (%) and the E_{motor} is the motor efficiency (%).

In ASDC, pump efficiency is determined in the pump selection algorithm, as discussed above. The motor efficiency is assumed to be 60 percent.

The blower power cost can also be calculated using Equation (58) and is based on volume of air used per year, air pressure drops through the column and through the ducts, fan efficiency and motor efficiency. The air pressure drop is that through the packing plus that through the other column equipment and ducts. For the column internals other than packing, a pressure drop equal to 1 inch of water is assumed. The air volume is calculated from the design air-to-water ratio; the blower efficiency is determined in the blower selection algorithm. The cost of electricity is fixed by the user in the ASDC program.

3.5.2 Maintenance and Labor

The maintenance cost for an air stripping system will vary a lot from site to site. It depends significantly upon the chemistry of the inlet water which determines the likelihood of potential problems such as scaling or biofouling. Some existing full-scale systems have been operated without any serious problems, while other systems have experienced problems with clogged packing material after just a few months (e.g., References 2, 14). For internal consistency among cost estimates for alternative designs, 10 percent of the direct capital cost is assumed in ASDC for the maintenance cost. This method of estimating maintenance cost is common, and the percentage employed is typical (References 14, 43). The labor cost is based on a flat rate of 0.5 cent per 1000 gallon treated plus an add-on for the total volume of liquid treated per year.

3.6 Total Annual Cost

The total annual cost is estimated by summing the amortized capital cost and annual operating cost. The amortized cost is the total capital cost amortized over a particular time period at an interest rate. The total annual cost is given by the following equation:

Annual Cost = Operating Cost + Total Capital Cost ×
$$\frac{1/100}{1 - (1 + I/100)^{-y}}$$
 (59)

where I the annual interest rate in percent, and y is the time in years over which the capital costs are being amortized. Both the interest rate and time period can be specified by the user in the ASDC program.

3.7 Adjustment of Costs for Inflation

Costs in the ASDC cost data bases and calculated by ASDC are referenced to 2019. However, cost calculations including adjustment for inflation may be performed for any year with the program through use of the ENR Construction Cost Index. All costs estimated by ASDC are adjusted for

inflation using this index. Table 4 lists average values of the ENR Construction Cost Index for the years 1971-2019; the index value of interest is specified by the user in ASDC, with the default value being that for 2019.

Year	Average ENR CCI Value	Year	Average ENR CCI Value	Year	Average ENR CCI Value
1971	1581	1991	4835	2011	9070
1972	1753	1992	4985	2012	9308
1973	1895	1993	5210	2013	9547
1974	2020	1994	5408	2014	9806
1975	2212	1995	5471	2015	10035
1976	2401	1996	5622	2016	10338
1977	2576	1997	5825	2017	10737
1978	2776	1998	5920	2018	11062
1979	3003	1999	6060	2019	11281
1980	3237	2000	6221		
1981	3535	2001	6342		
1982	3825	2002	6538		
1983	4066	2003	6695		
1984	4146	2004	7115		
1985	4195	2005	7446		
1986	4295	2006	7751		
1987	4406	2007	7967		
1988	4519	2008	8310		
1989	4615	2009	8570		
1990	4732	2010	8799		

Table 3-4. Average Annual ENR Construction Costs Index Values for 1971-2019

Note: 1. Base Year = 1913; ENR CCI = 100

4 **Program Operation**

4.1 Introduction

The Air Stripper Design and Cost (ASDC) for Windows program is intended to serve as an aid in designing an air-stripping unit for the removal of VOCs from water and wastewater. This program builds on a program developed in 1991 under a CMU contract with the U.S. Air Force. ASDC for Windows has been completely re-written but incorporates some code from the original program. The original ASDC program was written in C++ and developed for use with the DOS operating system.

ASDC for Windows is an interactive, menu-driven program written in Smart C++ language that can be run on computers with the Microsoft Windows operating system. A software product called DevExpress was used to create the graphics code in the ASDC for Windows program. The program can be run on Windows 8 or higher version of Windows operating system.

ASDC is based upon well-established procedures for design of counter-current air stripping units for water treatment. The program includes a cost model. Consideration of capital and operating costs enables evaluation of optimum designs with respect to cost.

This chapter describes the operation and functions of the ASDC for Windows program. There are two basic ways of running the program, referred to below as Standard Sequential Execution and Quick Start Execution.

While the ASDC program has been constructed with care, it is furnished "as is" and with absolutely no warranty, expressed or implied. The entire risk associated with the use of ASDC is with the user. All information generated by the program should be evaluated independently by the user as to its accuracy, completeness, reliability and suitability for any particular purpose.

4.2 System Requirements

4.2.1 Hardware

- Minimum Processor: 1 gigahertz (GHz) or faster x64-processor
- Minimum RAM: 4 GB
- Minimum Disk Space: 8 GB

4.2.2 Supported Operating Systems

The software requires a 64-bit operating system and is supported by Windows 8 x64, Windows Server 2016 x64, Windows Server 2019 x64, and Windows 10 x64.

4.3 Installation

The following is a step-by-step installation guide. Please note minor differences will exist depending on the operating system. The installation guide is prepared with a system running windows 10 64-bit.

Step 1: Run Installer



Figure 4-1. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup wizard

Step 2: Press Next to Check Software Prerequisites



Figure 4-2. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup prerequisites

Step 3: Start Installing Prerequisites by pressing the Next Button

Step 3-1: Allow Installation of Microsoft SQL Server 2019 Express by Pressing Yes Button



Figure 4-3. Screenshot of ASDC user account control

Step 3-2: Select a location for extracting installation files for SQL 2019 Express

Choose Directory F	or Extracted File	es X
Choose Directory Fo	r Extracted Files	
/indows\prerequisite	es\SQLEXPRES	S_2019_x64_ENU\
Ok	Cancel	Browse

Figure 4-4. Screenshot of Directory chosen for extracted files

Step 3-3: Select to install a new SQL instance by pressing "New SQL Server stand-alone installation or add features to an existing installation" under "Installation"



Figure 4-5. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server installation center

Step 3-4: Accept Microsoft Software License Terms



Figure 4-6. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL license terms

Step 3-5: Check for SQL Server 2019 Updates and the press "Next"



Figure 4-7. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server setup

Step 3-6: Select all instance features to be installed by pressing "Select All" and then "Next"

髋 SQL Server 2019 Setup				-		×
Feature Selection Select the Express features to ins	tall.					
License Terms Global Rules Product Updates Install Setup Files Install Rules Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Installation Progress Complete	Looking for Reporting Servi Features: Instance Features Statabase Engine Services Sol, Server Replication Shared Features Sol, Client Connectivity S Redistributable Features	ces? <u>Download it fron</u> Download it fron	n the web Feature descriptic The configuratio instance feature isolated from ot Prerequisites for s Already installed Mindows Po Microsoft Vis Disk Space Requi Drive C: 1003 MB	n and operation of of a SQL Server in res SQL Server ins selected features: : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	of each Istance is tances. SQL gher distributable MB available	
	Select All Unselect All]				
	Instance root directory:	C:\Program Files\Mici	rosoft SQL Server\			
	Shared feature directory:	C:\Program Files\Micr	rosoft SQL Server\			
	Shared feature directory (x86):	C:\Program Files (x86))\Microsoft SQL S	erver\		
			< Back	Next >	Cancel	

Figure 4-8. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL feature selection

Step 3-7: Select an instance name for the SQL 2019 Server by default it is "SQLExpress", if other instances are installed, use a different instance name.

Setup Support Nates Setup Role Feature Selection	 Default instance Named instance 	1			
Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration	Instance ID: Instance root direct	tory:		-	
Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	SQL Server director	y: C:\Program Fi	es\Microsoft SQL Sen	ver\MSSQL11.AUTODI	ESKVAULT
Installation Progress Complete	Instance Name	Instance ID	Features	Edition	Version

Figure 4-9. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL instance configuration

Step 3-8: Keep default values under server configuration and press "Next"

髋 SQL Server 2019 Setup				-	
Server Configuration					
Specify the service accounts an	d collation configuration.				
License Terms Global Rules Product Undates	Service Accounts Collation Microsoft recommends that you	use a separate account for each	SQL Server servic	:e.	
Install Setup Files	Service	Account Name	Password	Startup	Type
Install Rules	SQL Server Database Engine	NT Service\MSSQL\$SQL		Automat	ic 🗸
Feature Selection	SQL Server Browser	NT AUTHORITY\LOCAL		Disabled	~
Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Installation Progress Complete	This privilege enables instant to information disclosure by a <u>Click here for details</u>	file initialization by avoiding zer	oing of data page	es. This may	lead
		< Bac	k Next	>	Cancel

Figure 4-10. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server configuration

Step 3-9: Keep default values under Database Engine Configuration. If an administrator is not specified under SQL Server administrators, press "Add Current User" and the press "Next"

Database Engine Confi	guration
Specify Database Engine authe parallelism, Memory limits, and	tication security mode, administrators, data directories, TempDB, Max degree of Filestream settings.
License Terms Global Rules Product Updates Install Setup Files Install Rules Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Database Engine Configuration Deture Configuration Rules	Server Configuration Data Directories TempDB Memory User Instances FILESTREAM Specify the authentication mode and administrators for the Database Engine. Authentication Mode Image: Configuration of the Configu
Complete	SQL Server administrators have unrestricted access to the Database Engine. Add Current User Add

Figure 4-11. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL database engine configuration

Installation Progress License Terms Global Rules Product Updates Install Setup Files Install Rules Feature Selection Feature Selection Database Engine Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Installation Progress Complete	髋 SQL Server 2019 Setup		-		×
License Terms Global Rules Product Updates Install Setup Files Install Rules GenerateConfigFeatureRequestForSlipstreamAction Install Rules Installe Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Installation Progress Complete Next 2 Cancel	Installation Progress				
Next > Cancel	License Terms Global Rules Product Updates Install Setup Files Install Rules Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Installation Progress Complete	GenerateConfigFeatureRequestForSlipstreamAction			
			Next >	Canc	:el

Step 3-10: Installation of SQL Server 2019 will initiate

Figure 4-12. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server installation progress

Step 3-11: After SQL Server 2019 Installation is completed close the SQL Server Installation Main Menu by pressing the X (close) button located at the top right corner.

SQL Server Installation Center		- 0	2
Planning		New SQL Server stand-alone installation or add features to an existing installation	
Installation	N	Launch a wizard to install SQL Server 2019 in a non-clustered environment or to add features to an existing SQL Server 2019 instance.	
Maintenance			
Tools		Install SQL Server Reporting Services	
Resources		Launch a download page that provides a link to install SQL Server Reporting Services. internet connection is required to install SSRS.	An
Options	0.7	Install SQL Server Management Tools	
	%	Launch a download page that provides a link to install SQL Server Management Studi SQL Server command-line utilities (SQLCMD and BCP), SQL Server PowerShell providi SQL Server Profiler and Database Tuning Advisor. An intermet connection is required t install these tools.	o, er, o
		Install SQL Server Data Tools	
		Launch a download page that provides a link to install SQL Server Data Tools (SSDT). S provides Visual Studio integration including project system support for Microsoft Azu SQL Database, He SQL Server Database Engine, Reporting Services, Analysis Services a Integration Services. An internet connection is required to install SSDT.	SD' ire ind
	-	Upgrade from a previous version of SQL Server	
		Launch a wizard to upgrade a previous version of SQL Server to SQL Server 2019. Click here to first view Upgrade Documentation	
Microsoft SQL Server 2019			

Figure 4-13. Screenshot of ASDC Windows - SQL server installation setup

Step 4: After the installation of the prerequisites, the ASDC-Windows setup welcome screen will pop-up. Press "Next" to continue the installation



Figure 4-14. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup wizard

Step 5: Please accept the end-user license agreement to continue with installation and then press "Next"

ASDC-Windows Setup	
nd-User License Agreement	
Please read the following license agree	eement carefully
Сору	right © 2018
Air Stripping Design and C	Costing Model (ASDC) for Windows
All rig	ghts reserved.
SOFTWARE L	LICENSE AGREEMENT
ACADEMIC OR NON-PROFIT	ORGANIZATION NONCOMMERCIAL
● I accept the terms in the License /	Agreement
\bigcirc I <u>d</u> o not accept the terms in the Li	icense Agreement

Figure 4-15. Screenshot of ASDC Windows license agreement

Step 6: Select an installation directory for the ASDC-Windows and then press "Next"

🖏 ASDC-Windows Setup	_		×
Select Installation Folder This is the folder where ASDC-Windows will be installed.		¢	Ð
To install in this folder, click "Next". To install to a different folder, ent "Browse".	er it be	low or clich	k
Folder: C:\Program Files (x86)\CMU - CEE\ASDC-Windows\		Browse	
< Back Next >		Cano	el

Figure 4-16. Screenshot of ASDC Windows setup installation folder

Step 7: Install the software by pressing the "Install" button and accepting the setup to make changes to your device by selecting "Yes" on the "User Account Control" screen.

SASDC-Windows Setup × Ready to Install The Setup Wizard is ready to begin the ASDC-Windows installation	SASDC-Windows Setup ×
Click "Install" to begin the installation. If you want to review or change any of your installation settings, click "Back". Click "Cancel" to exit the wizard.	Please wait while the Setup Wizard installs ASDC-Windows. This may take several minutes. Status:
< Back Sack Cancel	< Back Next > Cancel
(a)	(b)
User Account Control X	s ASDC-Windows Setup ×
Do you want to allow this app to make changes to your device?	Installing ASDC-Windows
ASDC-Windows	Please wait while the Setup Wizard installs ASDC-Windows. This may take several minutes. Status: Extracting files from archive
File origin: Hard drive on this computer	
Show more details Yes No	< Back Navak - Connel
(c)	(d)

Figure 4-17. Screenshots for step 7 of the installation of the ASDC-Windows: (a) installing ASDC windows after prerequisites are installed and program location was selected, (b) installation is preparing package, (c) accept changes to your device and (d) setup extracts necessary files

Step 8: Close setup screen once installation is done by pressing the "Finish" button at completion screen.



Figure 4-18. Screenshot of ASDC Windows installation setup wizard

4.4 Program Functions

The ASDC for Windows program has interactive menus and on-screen help and instructions, making most operations self-explanatory. When guidance is needed, the Operation Manual can be accessed by pressing the HELP function tab which will result in a drop-down menu consisting of Manual and details about the License agreement.

4.4.1 Standard Sequential Execution

The home screen of the ASDC for Windows program consists of various tabs in series which allows the user to enter the data and select the scenario for which they would like the design and estimate the cost.

Main Menu Contaminant Packing Design Parameters	Air Stripper Design Scenario Viewer Advanced Tools	Help	
Air Stripper Design and Cos	ting Model for Windows	Quick Air Stripper Design	
All Supper Design and Cos	ang woder for windows	Quic	sk Start
Release 1.0,	April, 2020	Scenario Name:	
Update for Air Stripper Design and	Costing Model (DOS Version)	Contaminants	
Unginal Devi	alopers		Define/Edit
Hung-Sung Fang, Sujoy B. Ro	by a David A. Dzombak	Packing	Define/Edit
Muhammad M. Sherif, Nimit Shah, Vishal	Vaidyanathan & David A. Dzombak	Design Parameters	Define/Edit
Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering	Originally Developed with support from	Air Stripper Design	C Design
Carnegie Mellon University	HQ AFCESA/RAV	Quick Air Stripper Design:	
Pittsburgh, PA 15213	Tyndall AFB, FL 32403-6001	This tool allows the user to ex user is comfortable and family	ecute the program swifty if the ar with the functions of the
Copyright © 2020, Carney	gie Mellon University	software.	
opyright © 2020 Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (ASDC) OFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT IONCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY	for Windows). All rights reserved.		
Y USING OR DOWNLOADING THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AG OU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE.	REEING TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT	I. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE	WITH THESE TERMS,
VY USING OR DOWNLOADING THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AN OU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. his is a license agreement ("Agreement") between your academic :alled "Licensor" in this Agreement). All rights not specifically g	REEING TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT institution or organization or self (called "Licensee" or "Yo ranted to you in this Agreement are reserved for Licensor.	 IF YOU DO NOT AGREE u" in this Agreement) and 0 	WITH THESE TERMS, Carnegie Mellon University
VUSINO OR DOWNLOADDIG THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AV OU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. This is a locuse agreement ("Agreement") between your academic alled "Licensics" in this Agreement, "A lights not specifically ESERVATION OF OWNERSHIP AND ORANT OF LICENSE incomer trains nachaive ownership of any copy of the Software on transfrahle license to use the Software for noncommercial tre this Agreement, the term. "Software" means the securable file n eremedre or subsequently supplied by Licensor, including all or I documentation and instructions related to it.	REEING TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT institution or organization or self (called "Licenster" or "Yo ranted to you in this Agreement are reserved for Licensor. (as defined below) licensed under this Agreement and heref- earch pupoes, without the right to sublicense, pursuant take accessible to License by Licensor pursuant to this Ag- ny file structures, programming instructions, user interfaces	P. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE u" in this Agreement) and (uy grants to Licensee a perso the terms and conditions- reement, inclusive of backu and screen formats and se	WITH THESE TERMS, Carnegie Mellon University onal, non-exclusive, of this Agreement. As use ps, and updates permitted quences as well as any an

Figure 4-19. Screenshot of ASDC home screen

4.4.2 New Scenario Specification

This function enables specification of the new scenario upon which the air stripper design is named. A new scenario can be started from either the contaminant tab or the packing tab or design parameter tab. The users are provided with an option to start a scenario from any of three tabs as mentioned above and then carry on the program by adding other data.

4.4.3 Starting a New Scenario with Contaminant Selection

The contaminant can be selected by starting a new scenario and then entering the concentrations of the influent and effluent streams. Selection of compounds is performed by scrolling through the contaminant drop down menu list and pressing the left mouse key to select. The program permits a selection of up to 10 contaminants. Once all contaminants of interest have been selected, the user inputs the inlet concentration and the desired outlet concentration for each of the selected

contaminant. Then the user saves the scenario details using the 'Save' function. This enables the user to access and modify changes to the design criteria specified in the program. Next step is to select the packing material which can done using the edit menu in the packing tab.



Figure 4-20. Screenshot of contaminant – new scenario

In the packing tab, the user goes to the edit menu and selects the packing material after loading the scenario entered. The complete description is provided in the Section 4.4.8.2 under the editing scenario.

After choosing the packing material, the design parameters are to be given by the user which can be done by going to the edit menu under the design parameter tab, loading the scenario and entering the parameters as described in the Section 4.4.8.3 under the editing scenario.

4.4.4 Starting a New Scenario with Packing Material Selection

This function enables selection of a packing material and its properties for subsequent air stripping design calculations. Approximately 60 different packing materials available from several manufacturers (Ceilcote, Glitsch, Jaeger, Koch, Lantec and Norton) are listed in a dropdown menu list. Selection of a packing material is performed by loading the scenario to display the contaminants saved during the previous step and scrolling through the dropdown menu and clicking on the packing material of interest. Only one kind of packing material can be specified for a scenario. After selecting a packing material click on 'Save' to save the selected packing material to the design scenario. The selected packing material will be displayed in the Scenario Properties table displayed on the top-right corner of the ASDC for Windows program screen.

Properties reported by manufacturers of the various packing materials have been compiled in a database and are displayed in the bottom-right corner of the ASDC for Windows program. A critical surface tension value of 61 dynes/cm is used for ceramic packings and a value of 33 dynes/cm for all the other packings.

After creating a new scenario with a packing material, we can go to the contaminant or design parameter menu and input the contaminant and the design parameters in the edit tab of the respective menu options as described in Sections 4.4.8.1 and 4.4.8.3 respectively.



Figure 4-21. Screenshot of packing – new scenario

4.4.5 Starting a New Scenario with Design Parameters

This function specifies the values for important design parameters to perform the design calculations for removal of the specified contaminants using the selected packing material. Upon selection of the 'Design Parameters' tab the user clicks on the 'New Scenario' tab and types the Scenario for which the contaminants and packing materials have to be selected.

The user then specifies the water flow rate, water temperature, ambient air pressure and ranges of the variable design parameters R (stripping factor) and ΔP (gas pressure drop). A default value of 1.2 is recommended for the K_{La} safety factor and hence is already available in the field. After all the design parameters have been specified click on 'Save' to save the values to the selected scenario. The selected design properties can be seen in the Scenario Properties table on the top right-hand corner of the ASDC program screen. Select 'Reset Fields' to clear any unsaved changes made to the design parameters for the specified scenario.

For selecting the main design contaminant, the ASDC software performs a set of design calculations for the compound having the highest NTU (Number of Transfer Units) and R (Stripping factor) greater than 1. The protocol used to select the design contaminant is explained in Section 2.2.

After creating a new scenario under the design parameter tab with the design parameters entered by the user, contaminant and packing material needs to be selected by the user. This is done by going to the edit tab under the contaminant and packing menu, loading the scenario created and inputting the contaminant to be treated and the packing material to be used in the design respectively. For detailed description, refer to Sections 4.4.8.1 and 4.4.8.2 for selecting contaminant or packing material respectively.

💀 Design Parameters						- 0	×
Main Menu Contaminant Packing	Design Parameters Air Stripper Design	Scenari	o Viewer Advan	ced Tools Help			
New Scenario Edit Scenario Main Contamin	ant						
Scenario			Scenario Paramet	ers			
			Scenario Name	Packing Name	Flow Rate (gpm)	Water Temperat.	. Ambient
			Scenario 1	Tellerette #3 Ty	100.00	25.0	0
Scenario Properties							
Flow Rate	gpm						
Water Temperature	25 °C						
Ambient Pressure	1 atm						
Stripping Factor to	by	1					
ΔP (N/m2m) to	by						
Safety Factor KLa	1.2						
Save or Reset							
Save	Reset Fields						

Figure 4-22. Screenshot of design parameter – new scenario

4.4.6 Air Stripper Design

After selecting the contaminant, packing material and the design parameters, the user chooses the air stripper design by loading the scenario for which the air stripper is to be designed under the "Air Stripper Design" tab. Specify the design contaminant or press the 'AutoSelect' option for the program to select the most appropriate contaminant based on the NTU value and the stripping factor, using the protocol explained in Section 2.2. Select a file name and folder for where the report is to be saved.

For the cost calculations, the time span and interest per year are given by default as 20 years and 10%, both of which can be altered by the user. Check the required boxes from the six options provided and click the 'Design Air Stripper' button.



Figure 4-23. Screenshot of air stripper design tab

4.4.7 Scenario Viewer – to View Report

After the 'Design Air Stripper' is clicked, the program develops a report with the optimal air stripper design, cost estimate, and predicted removals for the contaminants to be treated. One can use the 'Scenario Viewer' menu to view flowcharts, tables and various other information generated by the program. A complete explanation of the output report generation can be viewed in Section 4.4.10.

4.4.8 Edit Scenario – to Edit an Existing Scenario for Another Run

In the case of any corrections or changes to be made in design conditions, the ASDC program comes with an option to edit the entered data.

4.4.8.1 Edit Contaminant Entered

The program permits the user to edit, delete and reset compounds to the existing list of contaminants. For this, the user selects the 'Edit Scenario' function under the Contaminant tab in the main menu screen.

Scenario			Та	ibles				
<-Please Select a Scenario Name->	•	Load	C	ontaminants Pro	perties			
Calant Cantanianata				Contaminant Nam	e Contaminant Form	ila Molecula	r Weight (g/mol)	Boiling
Select Contaminants	Toffuent Concentration	Effluent Concentration	•	Acenaphthene	C12H10		154.2100000000	279.
Containing in Huma	(ppb)	(ppb)		Acenaphthylene	C12H8		152.200000000	280.
~				Acetone	C3H6O		58.090000000	56.
~				Acrolein	C3H4O		56.060000000	52.
~			4	Acrylonitrile	C3H3N		53.0600000000	77.
~	•		s	cenario Paramet	ers			
~				Scenario Name	Packing Name	Flow Rate (gpm)	Water Temperat	Ambier
~			•	Scenario 1	Telerette #3 Ty	100.00	25.00	
~	•							
~								
~	•		4					
~	•		s	cenario Contamir	ants			
				Scenario Name	Contaminant ID	Contaminant Name	Inlet ppb	Desire
Edit, Delete or Reset			÷	Scenario 1	1	Acenaphthene	100.00	
Save Edits	Reset Fields	Delete		Scenario 1	2	Acenaphthylene	100.00	

Figure 4-24. Screenshot of contaminant – edit scenario tab

To enter a new contaminant, click on the 'New Contaminant' tab under the properties – contaminant tab. The compound name and values for its properties are to be entered in the space provided; use the 'Save' function to add the new contaminant to the database of the existing list of contaminants. New compounds added will be sorted alphabetically, according to the first capital letter in the compound name.

in Menu	itaminant Packii	ng Design Parameters Air Stripper Desi	gn scena	no viewer Advanced loo	ыз нер	
ew Contaminant	Existing Contaminant	Contaminant Properties Table				
Contaminant			C	ontaminant Formulae		
Contaminant						
Contaminant Prop	erties		R	ef. and Notes		
Molecular Weight	:	g/mol	В	P Vap	Kh AB	
Soiling Point		°C	M	P Sol	Tc	
Melting Point			N	V Kow	Pc	
- Malar Valuma						
		Ciliadina	N	ote:		
/apor Pressure		mmHg @				
Solubility		mg/1@ °C		Contaminant Name	Contaminant Formula	Molecular Weight (g
Kh		atm.m3/mol @ *C	•	Acenaphthene	C12H10	154. 🔺
Log Kow				Acenaphthylene	C12H8	152.
Tc.				Acetone	C3H6O	58.
, in the second s				Acrolen	C3H4O	56.
rc .		кра		Acryionitrie	CIRHAN	53.
Antoine @				Apline	C1210CI0	02
A		в		Anthracene	C14H10	178
		с		Renzene	CRH6	78
				Benzidine	C12H12N2	184.
				Benzo[a] Anthracene	C18H12	228.
	Save	Clear/Refresh				

Figure 4-25. Screenshot of contaminant – edit – new contaminant tab

To edit the compound properties, click on the "Existing Contaminant" tab and select the compound that needs to be edited using the dropdown menu. This will display the existing properties of the selected compound. Next, edit the required properties and click on 'Save Edits' to save changes made to the existing contaminant. Select 'Clear/Refresh' to clear any unsaved changes to the compound.

To delete a compound from the database, click on the existing contaminant tab and select the contaminant from the dropdown menu list and click 'Delete' to remove the contaminant from the database.



Figure 4-26. Screenshot of contaminant - edit - existing contaminant tab

Properties relevant to prediction of air-water exchange have been compiled in a database for each of the compounds in the menu. The table in the top right-hand corner of the ASDC for Windows screen lists the properties included in the database. The property values for individual compounds are presented in the table for each compound. Most of the properties are for use in the Onda correlation for prediction of mass transfer coefficients. The Antoine constants, critical temperature and critical pressure are used to estimate the variation of the Henry's Law equilibrium constant with temperature. Some additional properties relevant to the environmental fate and transport of the compound are also included for the user's information.

		acking Design Parame	ters Air surpper Design Sc	enano viewer Advanced i	oois Heip	
w	Contaminant Existing Contam	Contaminant Formula	Molecular Weight (g/mol)	Boiling Point (°C)	Melting Point (°C)	Molar Volume (cm^3/mol)
	<-Please Select a Scenario	C12H10	154.2100000000	279.000000000	96.200000000	150.6000000000
	Acenaphthylene	C12H8	152.200000000	280.000000000	92.500000000	169.4900000000
	Acetone	C3H6O	58.090000000	56.200000000	-95.3500000000	73.500000000
	Acrolein	C3H4O	56.060000000	52.500000000	-87.7000000000	66.7000000000
	Acrylonitrile	C3H3N	53.060000000	77.300000000	-82.000000000	65.800000000
	Aldrin	C12H8Cl6	364.9200000000	145.0000000000	104.0000000000	214.6600000000
	Anline	C6H7N	93.1200000000	184.0000000000	-6.300000000	91.200000000
	Anthracene	C14H10	178.2400000000	339.900000000	216.300000000	143.7400000000
	Benzene	C6H6	78.1100000000	80.100000000	5.500000000	88.9000000000
	Benzidine	C12H12N2	184.2300000000	401.7000000000	128.000000000	147.3800000000
	Benzo[a] Anthracene	C18H12	228.300000000	437.6000000000	162.0000000000	179.200000000
	Benzo[a] Pyrene	C20H12	252.320000000	495.0000000000	179.000000000	186.760000000
	Benzo[b] Fluoranthene	C20H12	252.320000000	0.000000000	168.000000000	298.500000000
	Benzo[ghi] perylene	C22H12	276.340000000	500.000000000	276.000000000	280.000000000
	Benzo[k] Fluoranthene	C20H12	252.320000000	480.0000000000	217.0000000000	298.000000000
	Benzoic Acid	C7H6O2	121.1200000000	249.200000000	122.400000000	112.6000000000
	Benzyl Butyl Phthalate	C19H20O4	312.3700000000	370.000000000	-35.000000000	278.900000000
	Bis-(2-chloroethoxy) metha	C5H10Cl2O2	173.0400000000	218.100000000	-32.800000000	140.2400000000
	Bis+(2-chloroethyl) Ether	C4H8Cl2O	143.0200000000	178.000000000	-24.500000000	117.2000000000
	Bis-(2-chloroisopropyl) Ether	C6H12Cl2O	171.0700000000	187.000000000	96.800000000	159.400000000
	Bis-(2-ethylhexyl) Phthalate	C24H38O4	390.5700000000	384.1500000000	-45.8500000000	396.100000000
	4-Bromophenyl Phenyl Ether	C12H9BrO	249.200000000	305.100000000	18.700000000	154.8000000000
	2-Butanone	C4H8O	72.1100000000	79.600000000	-85.900000000	89.600000000
	Carbon Disulfide	CS2	76.1300000000	46.500000000	-111.5000000000	58.900000000

Figure 4-27. Screenshot of contaminant – edit – contaminant property tab

4.4.8.2 Edit Packing material

The user can add, edit or delete packing materials and their property values. To edit the packing material name and/or properties select the "Edit Scenario" tab under Packing and select a scenario from the drop-down option and click "Load".

	Potong robic						
Packing			P	acking Properties	Table		
-Please Select a Packing N	ame-> ~	Load		Packing Name	Nominal Size (mm)	Material	Surface Area (m2/m3)
			•	Telerette	25.40	Polypropylene	180.1
Packing Properties				Telerette #2 Ty	50.80	Polypropylene	92.0
Nominal Size		mm		Tellerette #2 Ty	50.80	Polypropylene	125.0
Material				Telerette #3 Ty	76.20	Polypropylene	99.0
Surface Area		m2/m3		Intlox Snowflake	94.00	Plastic	91.8
Packing Factor		1/ft		Super Intalox Sa	25.40	Ceramic	253.0
Range (ft^3)	Price (\$/ft^3)]		Super Intalox Sa	50.80	Ceramic	105.0
0 to 100		1		Super Intalox Sa	18.00	Plastic	207.
100 to 500				Super Intalox Sa	28.00	Plastic	108.0
100 10 300				Super Intalox Sa	40.00	Plastic	89.0
500 to 1000				Intalox Saddles 1	25.40	Ceramic	256.
1000 to 2000				Intalox Saddles 1	38.10	Ceramic	195.0
2000 to 5000				Intalox Saddles 2	50.80	Ceramic	118.0
5000+				Intalox Saddles 3	76.20	Ceramic	89.0
Source				Raschig Rings 1 i	25.40	Ceramic	190.0
Note				Raschig Rings 1	38.10	Ceramic	125.
				Raschig Rings 2 i	50.80	Ceramic	92.0
SVR Index]		Raschig Rings 3 i	75.00	Ceramic	62.0
ENR Year				Pall Rings 1 inch	25.40	Plastic	220.0
Cours Colta	Delete	David Calife		Pall Rings 1.5 inch	38.10	Plastic	138.0
Save colts	Delete	Reset Heids		Pall Rings 2 inch	50.80	Plastic	108.0
				Pall Rings 3.5 inch	88.90	Plastic	85.0
				Tri-Packs No. 1/2	25.40	Plastic	278.



To input a new packing material, click on the 'New Packing' tab on the screen. The packing material name and values for its properties are typed in the spaces provided and use the 'Save' function to add the new packing material to the database of the existing list of packing materials. New packing materials added will be sorted alphabetically, according to the first capital letter in the packing material name.

To edit the packing material name and/or properties, click on the 'Edit Packing' tab on the screen and select the packing material to be edited from a drop down list of packing materials and click on 'Load' to display the existing properties of the packing material on the screen. Make the corrections on the existing properties as desired and press the 'Save' key to save the changes made to the packing material. The updated properties for the packing material will be displayed in the database on the right side of the screen. Select 'Reset Fields' to clear any unsaved changes to the existing packing material.

To delete a packing material from the database, click on the 'Edit Packing' tab and 'Load' the packing material from a drop-down menu list and click 'Delete' to remove the packing material from the database.

4.4.8.3 Edit Design Parameters

To edit the design parameters, click on the 'Edit Scenario' tab on the screen and select the packing material to be edited from a dropdown list of packing materials and click on 'Load' to display the existing properties of the packing material on the screen. Make the corrections on the existing properties as desired and press the 'Save' key to save the changes made to the packing material. The updated properties for the packing material will be displayed in the database on the right side of the screen. Select 'Reset Fields' to clear any unsaved changes to the existing packing material.

Main Menu	Contaminai	it Packing	Design Parameters	Air Stripper Design	Scenario	Viewer Advan	ced lools Help			
New Scenario	Edit Scenario	Main Contamina	nt							
Scenario					50	enario Paramet	ers			
<-Please Sele	ct a Scenario Na	me->	~	Load		Scenario Name	Packing Name	Flow Rate (gpm)	Water Temperat	Ambient
					- F	Scenario 1	Telerette #3 Ty	100.00	25.00	
Scenario Pi	operties									
Flow Rate				gpm						
Water Temper	ature		25	°C						
			25							
Ambient Press	ure		1	atm						
Chinoine East				-						Þ
Sulpping Pace	^		by							
ΔP (N/m2m)		to	by		S	cenario Contami	inants			
Safety Factor	KLa		1.2		1	Scenario Name	Contaminant ID	Contaminant Name	Inlet ppb	Desired p
			1.2			Scenario 1	1	Acenaphthene	100.000000000	10.00
						Scenario 1	2	Acenaphthylene	100.000000000	10.00
Edit, Delete	or Reset					Scenario 1	3	Acetone	100.000000000	10.00
38761		Keset	11003	Decie	•					Þ

Figure 4-29. Screenshot of design parameter – edit scenario tab

The ASDC for Windows program also provides an option for the user to override the program's choice of design contaminant. Select the 'Main Contaminant' tab under 'Design Parameter' and after 'Loading' the design scenario select the desired design contaminant from a dropdown list of the contaminants specified in the scenario and click 'Edit' to save the desired contaminant as the design contaminant.

💀 Design Pa	ameters								- 0	×
Main Menu	Contaminant	Packing	Design Parameter	s Air Stripper Design	Scenari	Viewer Advan	ced Tools Help			
New Scenario	Edit Scenario M	ain Contaminar	ıt							
Scenario Na	ne				9	icenario Paramel	ters			
<-Please Selec	t a Scenario Name	:->	~	Load		Scenario Name	Packing Name	Flow Rate (gpm)	Water Temperat	Ambient
					-	Scenario 1	Tellerette #3 Ty	100.00	25.00	
Main Contar	ninant									
<-Please Selec	t a Contaminant N	lame->			~					
AutoSel	ect			Select						
Edit, Delete	or Reset									
Save E	dits			Reset Fields						
										Þ
						Scenario Contam	inants			
					_	Scepario Name	Contaminant ID	Contaminant Name	Inlet pob	Desired
					- 5	Scenario 1	1	Acenaphthene	100.00	
						Scenario 1	2	Acenaphthylene	100.00	
						Scenario 1	3	Acetone	100.00	
					4					Þ

Figure 4-30. Screenshot of design parameter – main contaminant tab

4.4.9 Quick Start

The Quick Start menu is displayed to the right of the ASDC for Windows home screen which allows the user to execute the program swiftly if the user is familiar with the functions of the software.



Figure 4-31. Screenshot of ASDC home screen – quick start

4.4.9.1 Scenario Selection

Once the Quick Start option is selected, a pop-up screen displays, asking for scenario name that needs to be entered by the user. The scenario name can consist of letters, numbers and special characters. After entering the scenario name, press the proceed button for contamination selection.

🖶 Scenario Name	_	×
Scenario Name:		
	Proceed	
	Exit	



4.4.9.2 Contaminant Selection

The next step of the Quick Start is selecting the contaminant(s) for which the air stripper is to be designed. A pop-up screen displays fields for selecting the contaminant using the dropdown menu.

ect Contaminants			Та	ables		Select Contaminants		Т	ables	
taminant	Inf. Conc. (nnh)	Eff. Conc. (nnh)	C	ontaminants Prop	erties	Contaminant	Inf. Conc. Eff. Conc. (oph) (oph)		Contaminants Prop	erties
	~ (ope)			Contaminant Name	Contaminant Formula Mc		V 0000		Contaminant Name	Contaminant Formula
			Þ	Acenaphthene	C12H10			•	Acenaphthene	C12H10
	~			Acenaphthylene	C12H8	Acenaphthene			Acenaphthylene	C12H8
	~			Acetone	C3H6O	Acetone			Acetone	C3H6O
	~			Acrolein	C3H4O	Acrolen Acrylonitrile			Acrolein	C3H4O
				Acrylonitrile	C3H3N	Aldrin			Acrylonitrile	C3H3N
			4	<u></u>		Anthracene		4	Ĺ	
~ <u> </u>		s	cenario Paramete	75	Benzidine			Scenario Paramete	rs	
	~			Scenario Name	Padking Name Flow Rate (g	Benzo[a] Anthracene Benzo[a] Pyrene			Scenario Name	Packing Name Flow
	~		•	Scenario 1	Tellerette #3 Ty	Benzo[b] Fluoranthene Benzo[chi] perviene			Scenario 1	Tellerette #3 Ty
						Benzo[k] Fluoranthene				
						Benzyl Butyl Phthalate				
	~					Bis-(2-chloroethoxy) methane Bis-(2-chloroethyl) Ether				
						Bis-(2-chloroisopropyl) Ether				
Proceed	Б	it	4		•	4-Bromophenyl Phenyl Ether	Exit	4		

Figure 4-33. Screenshot of quick start – contaminant selection (a) before selection of contaminants and (b) after selection of contaminants

The influent concentration of the contaminant to be treated is to be given in parts per billion (ppb) units and the desired effluent concentration is to be entered as well.

elect Contaminants			Та	bles				
Contaminant	Inf. Conc. (ppb)	Eff. Conc. (ppb)	C	Contaminants Properties				
Acenaphthene ~				Contaminant Name	Contaminant Formu	ıla		
•			•	Acenaphthene	C12H10			
Acenaprioryjene V		A	Acenaphthylene	C12H8				
				Acetone	C3H6O			
~				Acrolein	C3H4O			
				Acrylonitrile	C3H3N			
~			•			Þ		
~			Scenario Parameters					
~				Scenario Name	Packing Name	Flow Rat		
~			Þ	Scenario 1	Tellerette #3 Ty			
~								
~								

Figure 4-34. Screenshot of quick start – contaminant influent and effluent concentration Press the 'Proceed' button to continue to the next step.

4.4.9.3 Packing Material Selection

The next step in the process is selecting the packing material from the given list using the dropdown button.

Press the 'Proceed' button after selecting the packing material from the list shown above to continue to the design parameters.

🖳 Packing Selection	-		\times
Tellerette			~
Proceed		Exit	

Figure 4-35. Screenshot of quick start – packing material selection

4.4.9.4 Design parameters

After selecting the packing material, the program now asks for the design parameters for which the design cost will be estimated. Values such as flow rate, water temperature, ambient pressure, safety factor are to be entered by the user.

🖳 Design Parame	ters						\times
Flow Rate		gpm					
Water Temperature	25	°C					
Ambient Pressure	1	atm					
Safety Factor KLa	1.2						
Stripping Factor		to		by			
ΔP (N/m2m)		to		by			
Design Contaminant	Acenaphthene			\sim	- 1	Auto Select	t
Proc	eed		[E	kit		

Figure 4-36. Screenshot of quick start – design parameters

The ranges for stripping factor and pressure drop need to be provided along with the value by which the values are to be incremented.

After entering the characteristic design parameters, press the 'Auto-Select' button for the program to select the most appropriate contaminant to be treated. This auto-selection is performed by the software based on NTU and stripping factor explained in Section 2.2.

4.4.9.5 Report Generation

Once we click the proceed button, a report is generated having the details of the contaminant to be removed along with design parameters and cost estimates. A complete explanation of the output report generation can be viewed in Section 4.4.10.
4.4.10 Output and Report Options

The output generated using either the Standard Sequential Execution or Quick Start will give same report. However, using standard sequential execution process includes much more than the report such as a flowchart, table and so on using the tab 'Scenario Viewer'.

🛃 Main Menu			- 🗆 🗙					
Main Menu Contaminant Packing Design Parameters Air Stripper Design	Scenario Viewer Advanced Tools	Help						
	Design Summary	sk Air Stripper Design						
Air Stripper Design and Costing Model Io	Design: Outlet Concentrations	Quick Start						
Release 1.0, April, 2020	Design: Estimated Cost	nario Name:						
Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DOS	Design: Pump Selection	taminante						
Original Developers	Design: Fan Selection	(Define/Edit					
Hung-Jung Fang, Sujoy B. Roy & David A. Dzom	Design: Report	sking 👔	Define/Edit					
Updated by:	Design: Lowest Cost Report	sion Parameters						
Munammad W. Sherit, Nimit Shan, Vishai Valdyahathan & Dav	art Deomodit		Define/Edit					
Origina	ally Developed with support from	Air Stripper Design	Design					
Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering	U.S. Air Force							
Pittsburgh PA 15213	Vndall AFB EL 32403-6001	This tool allows the user to execute the program swifty if the						
Copyright @ 2020. Comparin Mallon University	,	user is comfortable and familiar software	with the functions of the					
copylight = 2020, camegie Mellon Oniversity								
Copyright © 2020 Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All righ	ts reserved.							
SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT								
NONCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY								
BY USING OR DOWNLOADING THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO THE TER	MS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT	L. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE V	VITH THESE TERMS,					
YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE.								
This is a license agreement ("Agreement") between your academic institution or organizz (celled "Licenses" in this Agreement). All rights not possible lay greated to you in this A	ation or self (called "Licensee" or "Yo	u" in this Agreement) and Ca	amegie Mellon University					
(caned Electrisor in this Agreement). An ingrits not specificanly granted to you in this A	greement are reserved for Licensor.							
RESERVATION OF OWNERSHIP AND GRANT OF LICENSE:								
non-transferable license to use the Software for noncommercial research purposes, witho	out the right to sublicense, pursuant to	o the terms and conditions of	this Agreement. As used					
in this Agreement, the term "Software" means the executable file made accessible to Lice	nsee by Licensor pursuant to this Ag	reement, inclusive of backup	s, and updates permitted					
increander or subsequently supplied by Licensor, including all or any file structures, pro- all documentation and instructions related to it.	gramming instructions, user interfaces	s and screen formats and seq	uences as well as any and					
Licensee may request a commercial non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited term, royalty	bearing license to make, have made, u	1se, lease, sell, or otherwise d	lispose of products and/or					
the second se	and the second	1 N 1 N 1 1 1 1						

Figure 4-37. Screenshot of home screen – scenario viewer

The figure above shows the different options that can be generated and analyzed from the program. The design summary would generate a spreadsheet containing the design tower output, i.e. tower height, column height and the diameter for different stripping factors and pressure drop as shown in figure 4-42.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1	Design Tower Outpu	t					
2	Delta P (N/m^2.m)	SF: 40 (T.H.)	SF: 40 (C.H.)	SF: 40 (d)	SF: 50 (T.H.)	SF: 50 (C.H.)	SF: 50 (d)
3	50	2.07	1.59	0.61	1.97	1.51	0.68
4	55	2.09	1.61	0.6	1.99	1.53	0.66
5	60	2.11	1.62	0.59	2	1.54	0.65
6	65	2.13	1.64	0.58	2.02	1.55	0.64
7	70	2.14	1.65	0.57	2.03	1.56	0.63
8	75	2.16	1.66	0.56	2.05	1.58	0.62
9	80	2.17	1.67	0.55	2.06	1.58	0.61

Figure 4-38. Screenshot of design summary excel sheet

The design outlet concentrations options would generate the effluent output concentration that is achieved by the design and the packing material entered.

The estimated cost option provides the user with a cost tree or charts as shown below. Two different types of charts can be generated, namely: Line Plot and Pie chart.

Main Menu Contaminant Packing Design Parameters Air Stripper Design Air Stripper Desi								
Main Menu Contaminant Packing Design Parameters Air Stripper Design Air Stripper Design and Costing Model for Release 10, April, 2020 Scenario Viewer Advanced Tools Help Design: Summary Bigin: Cutter Concentrations Outex State Outex State Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DD: Diginal Developerts Design: Fammated Cost Cost Tree Outex State Hung-Jung Fang, Supp B Roy & David A Dzom Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DD: Design: Report Design: Pump Setcrino Charts Define/Edit Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering Camegie Mellon. Unstriky Pribudry, Ph T2013 Originally Developed with support from US S Air Force Visit Force Define/Edit Define/Edit<	🛃 Main Menu			– 🗆 🗙				
Air Stripper Design and Costing Model for Release 1.0, April, 2020 Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DO Digital Developers) Hung-Jung Fang, Sujoy B, Roy & David A, Dzon Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DO Digital Developers) Muhammad M. Sherif, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidyanathan & Data Muhammad M. Sherif, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidyanathan & Data Design: Lower Cost Report Design: Lower Cost Report Design: Ravier Cost Report Design: Cost Report Design: Ravier Cost Report Design: Ravier Cost Report Design: Ravier Cost Report Design: Cost Report Design: Ravier Cost Report Design: Ravier Cost Report Design: Cost Report Design: Ravier Cost Report Ravier Cost Report Ravier Cost Ravier Cost Report Ravi	Main Menu Contaminant Packing Design Parameters Air Stripper Design	Scenario Viewer Advanced Tools	Help					
Aris Stripper Design and Costing Model (DC <u>Diginal Davidopera</u> Hung-Jung Fang, Supper Design and Costing Model (DC <u>Diginal Davidopera</u> Hung-Jung Fang, Supper Design and Costing Model (DC <u>Diginal Davidopera</u> Hung-Jung Fang, Supper Boy & David A. Dcan <u>Updated Davidopera</u> Muhammad M. Sherit, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidyanathan & Davidopera <u>Diginal Davidopera</u> Muhammad M. Sherit, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidyanathan & Davidopera <u>Diginal Davidopera</u> <u>US</u> , Air Force HO & AFCE SARAW <u>Pittsburgh</u> , PA 15213 <u>Copyright © 2020</u> , Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT NONCOMADERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY ST USING OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTWARE; This Sa General ("Davidopera) Davidopera in this Agreement ("Davidopera) Davidopera in this Agreement, Davidopera of Toule and Sa General Davidopera, Vision on this Agreement, Davidopera and costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT NONCOMADERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY ST USING OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTWARE; This Sa General ("Davidopera Davidopera in this Agreement, Davidopera of any copy of the Software (as defined below) licenses during with this Agreement, and any copy of the Software (as defined below) licenses during the same and contains of the apreement, inclusive of Davidopera Davidopera and file and a costability for any copy of the Software (as defined below) licenses during the same and contains and contains of the Agreement, inclusive of Davidopera and the stresserved of Licensee" or "You" in this Agreement, and as of the Software (as defined below) licenses during the same and contains and contains of this Agreement, and as of the same), the same and contains of this Agreement, and as of the same), the same and contains of this Agreement, and as of the same) becaused and utility the stresses of the same and contains of this Agreement, and as of the Software for a defined below) licenses and and the same and contains of this Agreement, and as of the same). ESESE		Design Summary	sk Air Stripper Design					
Replete soft 10, April, 2020 Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DOD <u>Disjonal Devalopersis</u> Hung-Jung Fang, Sujoy B. Roy & David A. Dzon Updated bz: Design: Family Support Stripper Design: Family Stripper Design	Air Stripper Design and Costing Model Io	Design: Outlet Concentrations	Quick Start					
Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DOC Drigital Developers Hung-Jung Fang, Stejoy B, Roy & David A, Dzom Ubdated Dy. Design: Report Design: R	Release 1.0, April, 2020	Design: Estimated Cost	 Cost Tree 					
Original Developeration Design: Fan Steetcion program of the steetcion Hung-Jung Fang, Study B. Roy & David A. Dorn Ubdated Dyr. Design: Lowet Cost Report program of the steetcion Muhammad M. Sherif, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidyanathan & Da Design: Lowet Cost Report of stopper Design Design: Lowet Cost Report Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering Camegin Mellon University Pitsburgh, PA 15213 Originally Developed with support for HO AFCESARAW Veloper Design: Camegin Mellon University Cast & Groper Design: Cast & Groper Design: Camegin Mellon University Copyright © 2020. Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT Software for Software for Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTW ARE. This I a lacense agreement ("Agreement") between your academic institution or organization or self (called "License" or "You" in this Agreement) and Camegie Mellon University YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTW ARE. Software for Concentration or Soft Called "License" or "You" in this Agreement. SUSSING ROWNLOADD THE SOFTWARE. Software for Concommendation granization or self (called "License" or "You" in this Agreement. Indoversitian and conditions of the Academent on the Agreement on the Academent on the Agreement. SUSSING ROWNLOADD THE SOFTWARE. Software for concommendation esting for advices of the software for conconcommend the reserved ander this Agreement and beneby	Update for Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (DOS	Design: Pump Selection	Charts >	Line Plot				
Hung-Jung Fang, Suoy B. Roy & David A. Dom Updated by. Muhammad M. Sherif, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidyanathan & Dat Design: Report Design: Re	Original Developers	Design: Fan Selection		Pie Chart				
Updated Dy: Muhammad M. Sherft, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidy anathan & Darwert Cost Report Muhammad M. Sherft, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidy anathan & Darwert Cost Report Carringie Mellon University Pitsburgh, PA 15213 Originally Developed with support for HO APCESKRAV Tyndall AFB, FL 32403-6001 If Stopper Design Originally Developed with support for HO APCESKRAV Tyndall AFB, FL 32403-6001 Copyright © 2020. Ari Striper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. Originally Developed with support for HO APCESKRAV Tyndall AFB, FL 32403-6001 Originally Developed with support for HO APCESKRAV Tyndall AFB, FL 32403-6001 SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT NONCOALMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY BY USMO RO POWNLOADD THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREENG TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMS, YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTWARE. This Jagetter mit, The Software Sof	Hung-Jung Fang, Sujoy B. Roy & David A. Dzom	Design: Report	sking 👩	Define/Edit				
Muhammad M. Shert, Nimi Shah, Vishal Vaidyanatha B. Da'. Version of the structure of the st	Updated by:	Design: Lowest Cost Report	tion Parameters					
Department of Civit & Environmental Engineering Camegie Mellon University Prisburgh: PA 15213 Copyright © 2020. Camegie Mellon University Copyright © 2020. Camegie Mellon University Copyresity Copyright © 2020. Camegie Mellon University Copyr	Muhammad M. Sherit, Nimit Shah, Vishal Vaidyanathan & Dav	an Deombail		Define/Edit				
Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering Carrenge Mellon University Pitsburgh, PA 15213 Copyright © 2020. Camegie Mellon University Copyright © 2020. Ar Stepper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTW ARE LICENSE AGREEMENT NONCOAMARCRCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY BY USING OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTWARE. You CARE AGREENG TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMS, YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. This is a license agreement ("Agreement") between you academic institution or organization or self (called "Licensee" or "You" in this Agreement) and Camegie Mellon University (called "Licensor" in this Agreement. All rights or specifically granted to you in this Agreement on the Agreement on this Agreement. In this Agreement, Industro Postopara Software for a software for software for a software for a software for a soft	Origina	ally Developed with support from	Air Stripper Design	Design				
Carnegies Mellon University Pritsburgh, PA 15213 Copyright © 2020. Carnegies Mellon University Copyright © 2020. Ari Stripper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE ADREEMENT NONCOMMERCIAL ESSEARCH USE ONLY BY USING OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. NONCOMMERCIAL SESSARCH USE ONLY BY USING OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. NOT MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. NOT MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. SOFTWARE INFORMATION OF OWNERSHIP AND GRANT OF LICENSE. IDENSITY ethins a former agroup of the Software (as defined below) licensed under this Agreement and hereby grants to Licensee a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable license to use the Software for anonommercial research purposes, without the right to sublicense, pursuant to the terms of backaps, and updates permitted hereunder or subsequently supplied by Licenser, including all or any file structures, programming instructions, user name to conclude spenitized to License e and screen formats	Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering	U.S. Air Force						
Copyright © 2020. Carnegie Mellon University Copyright © 2020. Ari Stripper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE AOREEMENT NONCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY SUSNO OR DOWNLOADIN THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMS, YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOADIN THE SOFTWARE. This is a license agreement ("Agreement") between your academic institution or organization or self (called "Licensee" or "You" in this Agreement, and Angelss on speciality granted to you in this Agreement. In this Agreement, and Angelss on speciality and the you ou in this Agreement and hereby grants to Licensee a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable locens to use the Software for andering all or any file structures, programming instructions, user interfaces and scoree flows and sequences as well as any and documentation and instructions rated to it.	Carnegie Mellon University	HQ AFCESA/RAV	Quick Air Stripper Design: This tool allows the user to execute the program swifty if the					
Copyright © 2020. Air Stipper Design and Corting Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT NONCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY BY USING OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTW ARE. USING OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTW ARE. USING OR DOWNLOADD THE SOFTW ARE. This is a lacense agreement ("Agreement") between your academic institution or organization or self (called "Licensee" or "You" in this Agreement), and Camegie Melion University (called "License" in this Agreement. All rights or specializing granted to you in this Agreement, and this Agreement, and this Agreement, and the server of the time's for the server of the server of the time's for the server of the server of the server of the time's for the server of t	Pittsburgh, PA 15213	yndall AFB, FL 32403-6001	user is comfortable and familiar with	the functions of the				
Copyright © 2020 Air Stipper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All rights reserved. SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT NORCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY BY USING OR DOWNLOADING THE SOFTWARE. YOU ARE AGREEING TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMS, TYOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. This is a locine agreement ("Agreement) between your academic institution or organization or self (called "Licensee" or "You" in this Agreement) and Carnegie Mellon University (called "Licensor" in this Agreement). All rights not specifically granted to you in this Agreement are reserved for Licensor. RESERVATION OF OWNERSHIP AND GRANT OF LICENSE: Licenstor etims activative ownerhip of any copy of the Software (as defined below) licensed under this Agreement and hereby grants to Licensee a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable licens to use the Software for noncommercial research purposes, without the right to sublicense, pursuants to the terms in adversed to Sokaps, and Updates permitted hereunder or subsequently supplied by Licensor, including all or any file structures, programming instructions, user and the Software in adverse as well as any and discommentation and instructions related to it. Licensee may request a commercial non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited term, royably bearing license to make, have eade, use, lase, sell, or otherwise dispose of products and or Licensee may request a commercial non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited term, royably bearing license to make, have eade, use, lase, sell, or otherwise dispose of products and on Licensee may request a commercial non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited term, royably bearing license to make, have eade, use, lase, sell, or otherwise dispose of products and o	Copyright © 2020, Carnegie Mellon University		soltware.					
SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT NONCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY SUBJECT AND A DATE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREENG TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMS, YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOADIN THE SOFTWARE. This is a license agreement ('Agreement') between you academic institution or organization or self (called 'License' or 'You' in this Agreement). and Camegie Mellon University (called 'Licenso' in this Agreement'). All offsh or of specially grainted to you on this Agreement ereserved for Licensee. RESERVATION OF OWNEEMIT AND GRANT OF LICENSE: Licensor trainst activative ownership of any copy of the Software (sa defined below) licensed under this Agreement and hereby grants to Licensee a personal, non-exclusive, non-trainfeable license to use the Software for anoncommercial research purpose, without the ngh to sublecense, inclusive of Deckspa, and Updates permitted bereunder or subsequently supplied by Licensor, including all or any file structures, programming instructions, user interfaces and screen formats and sequences as well as any and documentation and instructions related to it. Licensee many request a commercial news of the term, torylay beaming licenses to make, have nade, use, lese, sel, or otherwise dispose of products and o	Copyright © 2020 Air Stripper Design and Costing Model (ASDC for Windows). All righ	ts reserved.		/				
NONCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY BY USING OR DOWNLOADING THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMS, YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. This is a license agreement ("Agreement") between your academic institution or organization or self (called "Licensee" or "You" in this Agreement) and Camegie Mellon University (called "Licensor" in this Agreement"). All rights not specifically granted to you in this Agreement are reserved for License. RESERVATION OF OWNERSHIP AND ORANT OF LICENSE: Licensor ettams activative ownerhip of any copy of the Software (as defined below) licensed under this Agreement and hereby grants to Licensee a personal, non-exclusive, non-trantferable license to use the Software for noncommercial research purposes, without the right to sublement, inclusive of Dackaps, and updates permitted hereunder or subsequently supplied by Licensor, including all or any file structures, programming instructions, user line starter, inclusive of Dackaps, and updates permitted documentation and instructions related to it.	SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT							
BY USING OR DOWNLOADING THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO THE TERMIS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMIS, TYOU MAY INOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE. THIS is a locume statement of agreement of agreement of the statement and the statement and the statement of the statement and the statement and the statement of the statement and the statement of the statement and the statement and the statement and conducts and the statement and the statement of the statement of the statement of the statement and conducts and the statement of the statement of the statement and conducts and the statement and the statement and conducts and the statement. A statement and conducts and the statement and the statement and conducts and the statement and conducts and the statement and conducts and the statement and the statement. A statement, inclusive of the statement and the statement. A statement, inclusive of the statement and the s	NONCOMMERCIAL RESEARCH USE ONLY							
This is a license agreement ("Agreement") between your academic institution or organization or self (called "Licensee" or "You" in this Agreement) and Camegie Mellon University (called "Licensor" in this Agreement). All rights not specifically granted to you in this Agreement are reserved for Licensor. RESERVATION OF OWNERSHIP AND GRANT OF LICENSE: Licensor retains acclusive ownership of any copy of the Software (as defined below) licensed under this Agreement and hereby grants to Licensee a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable license to use the Software for noncommercial research purposes, without the right to sublicense, pursuant to the teams and conditions of this Agreement. As use in this Agreement, herm "Software" means the exclusible fine and accessible to Licenses be therm Software to Tockskyn, and update permitted hermunder or subsequently supplied by Licensor, including all or any file structures, programming instructions, user metraces and screen formats and sequences as well as any and discommentation and instructions retained to it.	BY USING OR DOWNLOADING THE SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO THE TER YOU MAY NOT USE OR DOWNLOAD THE SOFTWARE.	MS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT	. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH	I THESE TERMS,				
RESERVATION OF OWNEESHIP AND GRANT OF LICENSE: Licensor retinist reductive ownership and any copy of the Southware (sa defined below) licensed under this Agreement and hereby grants to Licensee a personal, non-eschaive, non-transferable license to use the Software for noncommercial research purposes, without the right to sublicense, purruant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. As use in this Agreement, the term "Software" means the securable file mead accessible to Licensee by Licensor, inclusive of Deckops, and Updates permitted hereunder or subsequently supplied by Licensor, including all or any file structures, programming instructions, user interfaces and screen formats and sequences as well as any and all documentation and instructions rated to it.	This is a license agreement ("Agreement") between your academic institution or organizz (called "Licensor" in this Agreement). All rights not specifically granted to you in this A	ation or self (called "Licensee" or "Yo greement are reserved for Licensor.	u" in this Agreement) and Carneg	ie Mellon University				
Licensee may request a commercial non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited term, royalty bearing license to make, have made, use, lease, sell, or otherwise dispose of products and/o	RESERVATION OF OWNERSHIP AND GRANT OF LICENSE: Licensor retains: exclusive ownership of any copy of the Software (as defined below) lice non-transfreheld license to use the Software for nonconcencial research purposes, with in this Agreement, the tem "Software" means the executable file made accessible to Lice hereunder or subsequently supplied by Licenson, including all or any file structures, proj all documentation and instructions related to it.	nsed under this Agreement and hereb ut the right to sublicense, pursuant to nsee by Licensor pursuant to this Ag gramming instructions, user interfaces	y grants to Licensee a personal, r o the terms and conditions of this reement, inclusive of backups, an and screen formats and sequenc	oon-exclusive, Agreement. As used d updates permitted es as well as any and				
	Licensee may request a commercial non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited term, royalty	bearing license to make, have made, t	se, lease, sell, or otherwise dispo	se of products and/or				

Figure 4-39. Screenshot of design estimated cost display options

The line plot can be plotted either between cost and stripping factor, keeping a constant pressure drop or between cost and pressure drop at a constant stripping factor. The figure below shows a line plot plotted between cost and stripping factor at a pressure drop of 60.

💀 Line Plot											-		×			
Main Menu O	ontaminant	Packing	Design Parameters	Air Stripper Design	Scenario V	iewer	Advanced	Tools H	elp							
- Line Plot Inputs -					Sele	t X-Axis	Parameter									
Scenario Name:-	Scenario 1				 Sele 	ct Plot:-	Stripping F	actor					~			
Annual Capita	and Operation C	lost														
🗹 Total Cap	ital Cost			Annual Operating Co:	st Seler	ct Strippin	ng Factor and	d/or Pressur	e Drop							
Direc	t Cost		Indirect Cost	Power	Strip	ping Fact	or:- All		\sim	Pressure Drop:-	Al		\sim			
F F	Process Equipmen	t Cost	Sitework	Pump	Line	Plot										
6	Column Shell		Engineering	Blower		3000000										
5	Column Intern	als	Construction	☑ Labor		270000							- 11			
5	Packing Mater	rial		Maintenance		2700000	1									
6	Air Blower					2400000										
6	Water Pump					2100000	•——									
6	Mist Eliminator				0	1800000	, i									
⊠ s	Support Equipment	t Cost			±	1500000							-			
F	Pipe and Air D	ucts			ß	100000	· _						- 11			
F	Electrical				Ŭ	1200000							_			
	_		Plat			900000										
			1.05			600000	• •									
Quick Line Plot						30000	. 🗆 💻									
Plot A	NI I	Dir	ect Cost	Process Equipment Cost		550000							- 11			
Total Capit	al Cost	Ind	rect Cost	Support Equipment Cost		(2	2.2	2	.4 2.6	2.8		3			
Annual Opera	ating Cost			Power					Str	ipping Facto	r					

Figure 4-40. Screenshot of line plot

Using a pointer by dragging over the different stripping factor values, the program displays the cost at the particular stripping factor and given pressure drop as shown below. This can be used to observe which stripping factor and pressure drop would give the least expensive design cost for the required air stripper.

🛃 Line Plot		- 🗆 X
Main Menu Contaminant Packing Design Parameters	Air Stripper Design	cenario Viewer Advanced Tools Help
Line Plot Inputs		Select X-Axis Parameter
Scenario Name:- Scenario 1	~	Select Plot:- Stripping Factor ~
Annual Capital and Operation Cost		
Total Capital Cost	Annual Operating Cost	Select Stripping Factor and/or Pressure Drop
Direct Cost Indirect Cost	Power	Stripping Factor:- All V Pressure Drop:- All V
Process Equipment Cost Sitework	Pump	Line Plot
Column Shell Engineering	Blower	
Column Internals Construction	Labor	DeltaP: 50 Power DeltaP: 50 Blower Power DeltaP: 50 Pump Power DeltaP: 60 Pump Power
Packing Material	Maintenance	Deltar: 00 Power Deltar: 00 Blower Power Deltar: 00 Pump Power
Air Blower		200
Water Pump		3
Mist Eliminator		250 — DeltaP: 50 Power : 292.11
Support Equipment Cost		DeltaP: 50 Blower Power : 88.43
Pipe and Air Ducts		- DeltaP: 50 Pump Power : 203.69
Electrical		- DeltaP: 60 Power : 293.06
Plot		O DeltaP: 60 Blower Power : 88.43
Tite		- DeltaP: 60 Pump Power : 204.63
Quick Line Plot		50
Plot All Direct Cost	Process Equipment Cost	4
Total Capital Cost Indirect Cost	Support Equipment Cost	2 2.2 2.4 2.6 2.8 3
Annual Operating Cost	Power	Stripping Factor

Figure 4-41. Screenshot of line plot – interpretation

The pie chart requires the user to specify a particular stripping factor and pressure drop unlike the line plot. The pie chart shows the distribution of cost in terms of percentages as shown below.

ain Menu Contaminant F	Packing Design Parameters	Air Stripper Design Scenario Viewer Advanced Tools Help
icenario Name: Scenario 1		Select Suppling ractor and ressure prop
Annual Capital and Operation C	iost	Pie Chart Plot
Direct Cost	Indirect Cost	Stripping Factor: 2 & Pressure Drop: 50
Column Shell	Engineering	📐 Total Capital Cost: 94% 📄 Annual Operating Cost: 6%
Packing Mater	ial Annual Operating Cost	
Air Blower Water Pump	Power	
Mist Eliminator	Blower	
Pipe and Air D	ucts Maintenance	Total Capital Cost: 94%
e Chart Options		
Annual Capital a	nd Operating Cost	Annual Operating Cost: 69
Total Capital Cost	Direct Cost	
Annual Operating Cost	Indirect Cost	
Process Equipment Cost	Support Equipment Cost	
Power		



The "Design: Report" generates the report with the every possible detail obtained and calculated from the user specifications. The report includes the scneario name, the date on which the report was generated, the contaminant list, contaminant concentrations, the packing materials, the design parameters such as Henry's Law constant, vapor pressure and the cost for the air stripper to be designed.

Figures 4-43 to 4-46 present the screenshots of the report generated by the program for an example case: two contaminants, Acenapthene and Benzene, with the packing material Tellerette #2 type K. The report consists of four pages.

The first page of the report contains all the basic design parameters and the contaminant properties as well. Here, only the property of benzene is displayed since out of the two selected contaminants, benzene is more volatile and based on the principle described in Section 2.2 it was selected as the design contaminant.

The second page of the rerport contains the packing material details along with mass transfer and physical propertes of water displayed. The third and the fourth pages of the report contain quantitative information of the contaminant to be removed and the cost estimates for the given case, respectively.

Every page of the report conatins a header displaying the stripping factor and the pressure drop for which the report is generated and a footer containing information such as the scenario name, page number and the date on which the report was generated.

The "Design: Final Report" generates a report for the design with the estimated lowest overall cost. This can be used as the optimum design for the entered conditions by the user to find the system that achieves the design objectives at minimum cost.

Stripping Factor : 2.000

ΔP: 45.000 (N/m² m)

System Design Parameters

Water Temperature : 25.000 (°C)

Water Flow Rate : 100.000 (gpm)

Ambient Pressure : 1.000 (atm)

Tower Diameter : 1.91 (m)

Packing Height : 4.83 (m)

Tower Height : 3.71 (m)

Volumetric Air/Water Ratio : 326.2

Water Mass Loading Rate : 2.201E+00 (kg/m^2/sec)

Air Mass Loading Rate : 8.529E-01 (kg/m^2/sec)

Air Flow Rate : 4360.23 (cfm)

Design Contaminant Properties

Name : Acenaphthene

Formula : C12H10

Molecular Weight : 154.210 (g/mol)

Boiling Point : 279.000 (°C)

Molar Volume : 150.600 (cm^3/mol)	
Vapor Pressure @ 25.00 °C :	1.550E-03 (mmHg)
Solubility @ 25.00 °C :	3.930E+00 (mg/L)
Henry's Constant @ 25.00 °C :	1.500E-04 (atm.m^3/mol)
Henry's Constant @ 25.00 °C :	1.500E-04 (atm.m^3/mol)

Diffusivity in Air : 6.861E-02 (cm²/sec) Diffusivity in Water : 7.893E-06 (cm²/sec)

ASDC Design Scenario : Trial 1

Thursday, April 23, 2020

Stripping Factor : 2.000 ΔP : 45.000 (N/m^2 m)
Page 1 of 4

Figure 4-43. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 1

Stripping Factor : 2.000

ΔP: 45.000 (N/m² m)

Packing Material Properties

Name : Tellerette

Material : Polypropylene

Nominal Size : 25.400 (mm)

Specific Area : 180.500 (m^2/m^3)

Packing Factor: 40.000 (1/ft)

Mass Transfer Parameters

Packing Material Wetted Area : 52.696 (m²/m³)

Mass Transfer Rate in Water : 7.474E-05 (m/sec)

Mass Transfer Rate in Air : 1.969E-02 (m/sec)

Overall Mass Transfer Rate : 2.841E-06 (m/sec)

Overall Mass Transfer Coefficient : 2.027E-03 (1/sec)

Overall KLa Safety Factor : 1.2

Height of Transfer Unit (HTU) : 1.089 (m)

Physical Properties of Water/Air

Density of Water : 9.970E+02 (kg/m³) Viscosity of Water : 8.905E-01 (Centipose) Surface Tension of Water : 7.195E-02 (Kg/Sec²) Density of Air : 1.184E+00 (g/L) Viscosity of Air : 1.835E-05 (Nùsec/m²)

ASDC Design Scenario : Trial 1 Thursday, April 23, 2020 Page 2 of 4

Figure 4-44. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 2

Stripping Factor : 2.000

ΔP: 45.000 (N/m² m)

Contaminant Removal

Contaminant Name	Influent Conc ppb	Desired Conc ppb	Effluent Conc ppb	Efficiency %
Acenaphthene	100	10	10	90
Acenaphthylene	100	10	3.96	96.04
		-		

Cost Parameters

Labor Rate : 0.005 (\$/1000Gal)

Electric Rate : 0.08 (\$/kWh)

ENR Index (Year : 2019) : 11281

Operating Hours per Day : 24 (Hr/Day)

Operating Days per Year : 365 (Day/Year)

Interest Rate : 10 (%)

Authorization Period : 20 (Year)

ASDC Design Scenario : Trial 1

Stripping Factor : 2.000 ΔP : 45.000 (N/m² m)

Page 3 of 4

Thursday, April 23, 2020

Figure 4-45. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 3

Stripping Factor : 2.000

ΔP: 45.000 (N/m² m)

Cost Estimate

Capital Cost

Column Shell	: \$19349		
Column Internals	: \$8747		
Packing Material	: \$21862		
Air Blower	: \$6694		
Water Pump	: \$5995		
Mist Eliminator	: \$1750347		
P	rocess Equipment	Cost : \$1812993	
Pipe & Air Ducts	: \$362711		
Electrical	: \$181299		
Su	upport Equipment	Cost : \$547122	
		Total Direct Cost	: \$2360116
Sitework	: \$354017		
Engineering	: \$637231		
Construction	: \$472023		
		Total Indirect Cost	: \$1463272
		Total Capital Cost	: \$3823388
	Annual (Cost (S/Year)	
Blower Operating Cost	: \$1046		
Pump Operating Cost	: \$920		
Labor Cost	: \$263		
Maintenance Cost	: \$236012		
Annual Operating Cost		: \$238240	
Amortized Capital Cost		: \$449094	
		Total Annual Cost	: \$687334
ASDC Design Scenario : Trial 1		Stripping Factor : 2.000	ΔP : 45.000 (N/m^2 m)
Thursday, April 23, 2020			Page 4 of 4

Figure 4-46. Sample of ASDC Design Summer Report Page 4

References

- [1] Clark RM, Eilers RG, Goodrich JA. VOCs in drinking water: cost of removal. Journal of Environmental Engineering. 1984 Dec;110(6):1146-62.
- [2] Gross RL, Termaath SG. Packed tower aeration strips trichloroethylene from groundwater. Environmental Progress. 1985 May;4(2):119-24.
- [3] Ashworth RA, Elliott MG, Cleaning Up Contaminated Groundwater. The Military Engineer, No. 523, pp. 461-466, August, 1988.
- [4] Adams JQ, Clark RM. Evaluating the Costs of Packed-Tower Aeration and GAC for Controlling Selected Organics. Journal-American Water Works Association. 1991 Jan;83(1):49-57.
- [5] Hess AF. Getting the VOCs out of well water. Civil Engineering. 1988 May 1;58(5):81.
- [6] Hand DW, Crittenden JC. Design of a Packed Tower Aeration System. Association, of Environmental Engineering Professors Computer Sgiitware Manual, JC Crittenden, editor, Michigan Technological University, Houghton, MI. 1986:166-70.
- [7] Haarhoff J. AIRSTRIP. AIRSTRIP, Inc., Ames, Iowa. 1988.
- [8] Chao AC, Liu Y, Rasdorf WJ. Spreadsheet Approach for the Design of Air Stripping of Volatile Organic Contaminants (VOCs) From Water. InComputing in Civil Engineering: Microcomputers to Supercomputers (pp. 731-741). ASCE.
- [9] Clark RM. Drinking Water and Groundwater Remediation Cost Evaluation: Air Stripping. Lewis; 1991.
- [10] Treybal RE. Mass transfer operations. New York. 1980;466.
- [11] King CJ. Separation processes. Courier Corporation; 2013 Dec 18.
- [12] Kavanaugh MC, Trussell RR. Design of aeration towers to strip volatile contaminants from drinking water. Journal-American Water Works Association. 1980 Dec;72(12):684-92.
- [13] Ball WP, Jones MD, Kavanaugh MC. Mass transfer of volatile organic compounds in packed tower aeration. Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation). 1984 Feb 1:127-36.
- [14] Hand DW, Crittenden JC, Gehin JL, Lykins Jr BW. Design and Evaluation of an Air-Stripping Tower for Removing VOCs From Groundwater. Journal-American Water Works Association. 1986 Sep;78(9):87-97.
- [15] Shukla HM, Hicks RE. Process design manual for stripping of organics. US Environmental Protection Agency, Industrial Environmental Research Laboratory; 1984 Mar.
- [16] Gosset JM, Cameron CE, Eckstrom BP, Goodman C, Lincoff AH. Mass Transfer Coefficients and Henry's Constants for Packed-Tower Air Stripping of Volatile Organics: Measurements and Correlation. CORNELL UNIV ITHACA NY DEPT OF CIVIL ENGINEERING; 1985 Jun.
- [17] Gross RL. Development of Packed-Tower Air Strippers for Trichloroethylene Removal at Wurtsmith Air Force Base, Michigan. AIR FORCE ENGINEERING AND SERVICES CENTER TYNDALL AFB FL ENGINEERING AND SERVICES LAB; 1985 Aug.

- [18] Weber WJ. Physiochemical processes for water quality control.
- [19] Roberts PV, Hopkins GD, Munz C, Riojas AH. Evaluating two-resistance models for air stripping of volatile organic contaminants in a countercurrent, packed column. Environmental science & technology. 1985 Feb;19(2):164-73.
- [20] Sherwood TK, Shipley GH, Holloway FA. Flooding velocities in packed columns. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry. 1938 Jul;30(7):765-9.
- [21] Shulman HL, Ullrich CF, Proulx AZ, Zimmerman JO. Performance of packed columns. II. Wetted and effective-interfacial areas, gas-and liquid-phase mass transfer rates. AIChE Journal. 1955 Jun;1(2):253-8.
- [22] Onda K, Takeuchi H, Okumoto Y. Mass transfer coefficients between gas and liquid phases in packed columns. Journal of chemical engineering of Japan. 1968 Feb 20;1(1):56-62.
- [23] Lyman WJ, Reehl WF, Rosenblatt DH. Handbook of chemical property estimation methods.
- [24] Hayduk W, Laudie H. Prediction of diffusion coefficients for nonelectrolytes in dilute aqueous solutions. AIChE Journal. 1974 May;20(3):611-5.
- [25] Fuller EN, Schettler PD, Giddings JC. New method for prediction of binary gas-phase diffusion coefficients. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry. 1966 May 1;58(5):18-27.
- [26] Lobo WE, Friend L, Hashmall F, Zenz F. Limiting capacity of dumped tower packings. Transactions of the American Institute of Chemical Engineers. 1945 Jan 1;41(6):693-710.
- [27] Leva M. Tower packings and packed tower design.
- [28] Eckert JS. Design techniques for sizing packed towers. Chemical Engineering Program. 1961 Sep;57:54.
- [29] Perry RH, Green DW, Maloney JO. Perry's chemical engineers' handbook, 6th editionMcGraw-Hill. New York. 1984.
- [30] Prahl WH. Pressure drop in packed columns. Chemical Engineering. 1969 Jan 1;76(17):89.
- [31] Boadway DA. Decision analysis: stripping and adsorption to treat organic hazardous waste (Doctoral dissertation, University of Texas at Austin).
- [32] Kister HZ, Gill DR. Predict flood point and pressure drop for modern random packings. Chemical engineering progress. 1991;87(2):32-42.
- [33] Zenz FA. What every engineer should know about packed tower operations. Chem. Eng. 1953 Aug;60(8):176-84.
- [34] Strigle RF. Packed distillation column design.
- [35] Munz C, Roberts PV. Air-water phase equilibria of volatile organic solutes. Journal-American Water Works Association. 1987 May;79(5):62-9.
- [36] Dzombak DA, Fang HJ, Roy SB. ASDC: A Microcomputer-Based Program for Air Stripper Design and Costing. Revision. CARNEGIE-MELLON UNIV PITTSBURGH PA DEPT OF CIVIL ENGINEERING; 1993 Oct.

- [37] Staudinger J. Evaluation of mass transfer correlations for packed column air stripping of volatile organic contaminants from water supplies (Doctoral dissertation, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University).
- [38] Weast RC, Melvin AJ, Beyer WH. CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 64th edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 1985.
- [39] Roberson JA, Crowe CT. Engineering fluid mechanics. 4th Edition, Houghton Mifflin; 1990.
- [40] Gumerman RC, Culp RL, Hansen SP. Estimating costs for water treatment as a function of size and treatment plant efficiency.
- [41] Gumerman RC, Culp RL, Hansen SP. Estimating Water Treatment Costs, Vol. II, Cost Curves Applicable to 1- to 200-mgd Treatment Plants. EPA-600/2-79-162b, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Municipal Environmental Research Laboratory, Cincinnati, OH, 1979.
- [42] Nirmalakhandan N, Lee YH, Speece RE. Designing a cost-efficient air-stripping process. Journal-American Water Works Association. 1987 Jan;79(1):56-63.
- [43] Zaghloul HH, Ball RO, Maloney SW. Economic evaluation of air stripping to remove volatile organic compounds from water. Final report. Army Construction Engineering Research Lab., Champaign, IL (USA); 1987 Dec 1.
- [44] Richardson. Process Plant Construction Estimating Standards, Vol. 4 Process Equipment. Richardson Engineering Services, Inc., Mesa, AZ, 1991.
- [45] Genereaux RP. Fluid-flow design methods. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry. 1937 Apr;29(4):385-8.
- [46] Sarchet BR, Colburn AP. Economic Pipe Size. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, Vol. 32, pp. 1249-1252, 1940.
- [47] Peters MS, Timmerhaus KD, West RE, Timmerhaus K, West R. Plant design and economics for chemical engineers. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1968.
- [48] Richardson, Process Plant Construction Estimating Standards, Vol. 3 Mechanical and Electrical. Richardson Engineering Services, Inc., Mesa, AZ, 1991.
- [49] Cummins MD, Westrick JJ. Feasibility of air stripping for controlling moderately volatile synthetic organic chemicals. InProc. 1987 AWWA Ann. Conf.. Denver, Cola 1987 Jun 14.
- [50] Vatavuk WM. OAQPS (Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards) control cost manual. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC (USA). Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards; 1990 Jan 1.
- [51] Saunders GL. Air/Superfund National Technical Guidance Study Series. Comparisons of airstripper simulations and field-performance data. Final report. PEI Associates, Inc., Cincinnati, OH (USA); 1990 Feb 1.



Apendix A: Water Pump Characteristic Curves

Figure A1. Type 1 pump characteristic curves



Figure A2. Type 2 pump characteristic curves



Figure A3. Type 3 pump characteristic curves



Figure A4. Type 4 pump characteristic curves



Figure A5. Type 5 pump characteristic curves



Figure A6. Type 6 pump characteristic curves



Figure A7. Type 7 pump characteristic curves



Figure A8. Type 8 pump characteristic curves



Figure A9. Type 9 pump characteristic curves



Figure A10. Type 10 pump characteristic curves



Figure A11. Type 11 pump characteristic curves



Figure A12. Type 12 pump characteristic curves



Figure A13. Type 13 pump characteristic curves



Figure A14. Type 14 pump characteristic curves



Figure A15. Type 15 pump characteristic curves



Figure A16. Type 16 pump characteristic curves

Apendix B: Fan Capacity Tables

 Table B1. Type 1 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
200	0.04	0.07	0.11	0.15	0.19	0.23	0.28	0.33	0.38	0.43	0.49	0.54	0.60	0.65	0.71	0.78	0.91	1.04
250	0.05	0.09	0.13	0.18	0.22	0.27	0.32	0.38	0.43	0.49	0.55	0.61	0.67	0.74	0.80	0.87	1.00	1.14
300	0.07	0.11	0.16	0.21	0.26	0.32	0.37	0.43	0.49	0.55	0.62	0.68	0.75	0.82	0.89	0.96	1.11	1.26
350	0.10	0.14	0.20	0.25	0.31	0.37	0.43	0.49	0.56	0.62	0.69	0.76	0.83	0.91	0.98	1.06	1.22	1.38
400	0.13	0.18	0.24	0.30	0.36	0.42	0.49	0.56	0.63	0.7	0.77	0.85	0.92	1.00	1.08	1.16	1.33	1.50
450	0.16	0.22	0.29	0.35	0.42	0.49	0.56	0.63	0.71	0.79	0.86	0.94	1.03	1.11	1.19	1.27	1.44	1.63
500	0.21	0.28	0.34	0.42	0.49	0.56	0.64	0.72	0.80	0.88	0.96	1.05	1.13	1.22	1.31	1.40	1.58	1.77
550	0.26	0.34	0.41	0.49	0.57	0.65	0.73	0.81	0.90	0.98	1.07	1.16	1.25	1.35	1.44	1.53	1.73	1.93
600	0.33	0.41	0.49	0.57	0.65	0.74	0.83	0.92	1.01	1.10	1.19	1.28	1.38	1.48	1.58	1.68	1.89	2.10
650	0.40	0.49	0.58	0.66	0.75	0.84	0.94	1.03	1.13	1.23	1.32	1.42	1.52	1.62	1.73	1.84	2.05	2.27
700	0.49	0.58	0.67	0.77	0.86	0.95	1.06	1.16	1.26	1.36	1.47	1.57	1.68	1.79	1.89	2.00	2.23	2.46
750	0.59	0.69	0.79	0.89	0.98	1.08	1.19	1.29	1.40	1.51	1.62	1.73	1.85	1.96	2.07	2.19	2.42	2.66
800	0.71	0.80	0.91	1.02	1.12	1.23	1.33	1.44	1.56	1.67	1.79	1.91	2.03	2.15	2.27	2.39	2.63	2.87
850	0.83	0.94	1.05	1.16	1.27	1.39	1.50	1.61	1.73	1.85	1.97	2.10	2.22	2.34	2.47	2.60	2.86	3.11
900	0.98	1.08	1.20	1.32	1.44	1.56	1.68	1.79	1.91	2.04	2.17	2.30	2.43	2.56	2.69	2.82	3.09	3.37
950	1.13	1.25	1.37	1.50	1.62	1.75	1.87	2.00	2.12	2.24	2.38	2.52	2.65	2.79	2.93	3.07	3.34	3.63
1000	1.31	1.43	1.55	1.69	1.82	1.95	2.09	2.22	2.35	2.48	2.61	2.75	2.89	3.04	3.18	3.33	3.62	3.91
1050	1.50	1.63	1.76	1.89	2.03	2.17	2.31	2.45	2.59	2.73	2.86	3.00	3.14	3.30	3.45	3.60	3.91	4.21
1100	1.72	1.85	1.98	2.12	2.27	2.42	2.56	2.71	2.85	3.00	3.14	3.28	3.42	3.57	3.73	3.89	4.21	4.53
1150	1.95	2.09	2.23	2.36	2.52	2.67	2.83	2.98	3.13	3.28	3.43	3.58	3.73	3.88	4.03	4.20	4.53	4.86
1200	2.20	2.35	2.49	2.63	2.79	2.95	3.11	3.27	3.43	3.59	3.75	3.90	4.06	4.22	4.37	4.53	4.87	5.22
1250	2.47	2.63	2.78	2.93	3.08	3.25	3.42	3.59	3.75	3.92	4.08	4.25	4.41	4.57	4.73	4.90	5.23	5.59
1300	2.77	2.93	3.09	3.24	3.40	3.57	3.75	3.92	4.09	4.27	4.44	4.61	4.78	4.95	5.12	5.29	5.63	5.98
1350	3.08	3.25	3.42	3.58	3.74	3.91	4.10	4.28	4.46	4.64	4.82	4.99	5.17	5.35	5.53	5.71	6.05	6.40
1400	3.43	3.60	3.77	3.94	4.11	4.28	4.47	4.66	4.84	5.03	5.22	5.40	5.59	5.77	5.96	6.14	6.51	6.87

Note: 1. S.P. (Static Pressure: in H₂O)

 Table B2.
 Type 2 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP												
500	0.11	0.19	0.26	0.35	0.44	0.53	0.62	0.73	0.83	0.94	1.05	1.17	1.28	1.40	1.52	1.65	1.90	2.16
600	0.16	0.24	0.33	0.43	0.53	0.63	0.73	0.84	0.95	1.07	1.19	1.32	1.44	1.58	1.71	1.84	2.12	2.40
700	0.22	0.31	0.41	0.52	0.63	0.74	0.86	0.98	1.10	1.23	1.35	1.48	1.62	1.75	1.90	2.04	2.34	2.65
800	0.29	0.40	0.51	0.63	0.75	0.87	0.99	1.13	1.26	1.40	1.54	1.68	1.82	1.97	2.11	2.26	2.57	2.90
900	0.39	0.50	0.62	0.75	0.88	1.02	1.16	1.29	1.44	1.59	1.74	1.89	2.04	2.20	2.36	2.52	2.85	3.18
1000	0.50	0.63	0.76	0.90	1.04	1.19	1.34	1.49	1.64	1.79	1.95	2.12	2.29	2.45	2.62	2.79	3.15	3.50
1100	0.63	0.78	0.92	1.07	1.22	1.38	1.54	1.70	1.87	2.03	2.20	2.37	2.54	2.73	2.91	3.09	3.46	3.84
1200	0.79	0.95	1.11	1.27	1.42	1.59	1.77	1.94	2.12	2.30	2.48	2.66	2.84	3.02	3.21	3.41	3.80	4.21
1300	0.98	1.15	1.32	1.49	1.66	1.83	2.02	2.21	2.40	2.58	2.78	2.97	3.17	3.36	3.56	3.76	4.16	4.59
1400	1.20	1.37	1.56	1.75	1.93	2.11	2.29	2.49	2.70	2.90	3.10	3.31	3.52	3.73	3.94	4.15	4.58	5.01
1500	1.45	1.63	1.83	2.03	2.23	2.43	2.62	2.81	3.03	3.25	3.47	3.68	3.90	4.12	4.35	4.57	5.03	5.48
1600	1.73	1.93	2.13	2.35	2.56	2.77	2.98	3.19	3.40	3.62	3.50	4.08	4.32	4.55	4.78	5.02	5.50	5.99
1700	2.05	2.26	2.47	2.70	2.92	3.15	3.38	3.60	3.82	4.04	4.27	4.52	4.77	5.01	5.26	5.51	6.00	6.51
1800	2.41	2.63	2.85	3.09	3.33	3.57	3.80	4.04	4.28	4.51	4.74	4.99	5.25	5.51	5.77	6.03	6.55	7.08
1900	2.81	3.04	3.27	3.51	3.77	4.02	4.28	4.52	4.78	5.03	5.27	5.51	5.76	6.04	6.31	6.59	7.14	7.69
2000	3.25	3.5	3.73	3.98	4.25	4.52	4.78	5.05	5.31	5.57	5.84	6.10	6.35	6.61	6.89	7.19	7.76	8.35
2100	3.74	3.99	4.25	4.50	4.78	5.06	5.34	5.62	5.90	6.17	6.45	6.72	7.00	7.27	7.54	7.82	8.43	9.04
2200	4.27	4.54	4.80	5.07	5.35	5.64	5.94	6.23	6.52	6.81	7.11	7.39	7.68	7.97	8.26	8.54	9.13	9.77
2300	4.85	5.13	5.41	5.69	5.96	6.27	6.58	6.89	7.20	7.50	7.81	8.11	8.41	8.71	9.01	9.32	9.91	10.54
2400	5.49	5.78	6.07	6.37	6.65	6.96	7.28	7.60	7.92	8.24	8.56	8.87	9.19	9.51	9.83	10.14	10.76	11.38
2500	6.17	6.48	6.79	7.09	7.39	7.69	8.03	8.37	8.70	9.03	9.37	9.69	10.02	10.36	10.69	11.01	11.67	12.32

 Table B3. Type 3 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP							
800	0.18	0.30	0.42	0.56	0.70	0.85	0.99	1.15	1.32	1.49	1.67	1.85	2.04	2.22	2.42	2.61	3.01	3.42
900	0.23	0.35	0.49	0.64	0.79	0.94	1.11	1.27	1.44	1.62	1.81	2.00	2.20	2.39	2.60	2.80	3.22	3.66
1000	0.28	0.42	0.57	0.72	0.88	1.05	1.22	1.40	1.58	1.77	1.95	2.15	2.36	2.57	2.78	3.00	3.45	3.90
1100	0.34	0.49	0.65	0.82	0.98	1.16	1.35	1.53	1.73	1.93	2.13	2.33	2.54	2.75	2.97	3.20	3.67	4.15
1200	0.42	0.57	0.75	0.92	1.10	1.29	1.48	1.68	1.89	2.09	2.31	2.52	2.74	2.96	3.19	3.41	3.90	4.40
1300	0.50	0.67	0.85	1.04	1.23	1.43	1.63	1.84	2.06	2.27	2.50	2.72	2.95	3.19	3.42	3.66	4.15	4.65
1400	0.60	0.78	0.97	1.17	1.37	1.58	1.80	2.01	2.23	2.46	2.70	2.94	3.17	3.42	3.67	3.92	4.43	4.95
1500	0.70	0.90	1.10	1.31	1.53	1.75	1.97	2.20	2.43	2.66	2.92	3.16	3.41	3.67	3.92	4.19	4.72	5.27
1600	0.82	1.04	1.25	1.46	1.69	1.92	2.16	2.40	2.65	2.89	3.13	3.40	3.67	3.93	4.20	4.47	5.03	5.60
1700	0.96	1.19	1.41	1.63	1.87	2.12	2.37	2.62	2.87	3.13	3.39	3.65	3.92	4.20	4.49	4.77	5.34	5.93
1800	1.11	1.35	1.59	1.82	2.06	2.32	2.59	2.84	3.12	3.39	3.66	3.93	4.21	4.49	4.78	5.08	5.69	6.29
1900	1.29	1.53	1.78	2.03	2.28	2.55	2.82	3.09	3.37	3.66	3.95	4.23	4.52	4.81	5.09	5.41	6.03	6.67
2000	1.47	1.73	2.00	2.26	2.52	2.78	3.07	3.36	3.65	3.94	4.24	4.55	4.85	5.15	5.45	5.75	6.39	7.05
2100	1.68	1.94	2.22	2.50	2.78	3.05	3.34	3.64	3.95	4.25	4.56	4.87	5.19	5.51	5.82	6.14	6.78	7.46
2200	1.91	2.17	2.47	2.76	3.05	3.34	3.62	3.94	4.26	4.57	4.89	5.22	5.54	5.87	6.21	6.54	7.21	7.87
2300	2.15	2.43	2.74	3.04	3.34	3.65	3.94	4.25	4.58	4.92	5.26	5.59	5.91	6.26	6.61	6.96	7.65	8.35
2400	2.42	2.71	3.02	3.34	3.66	3.98	4.29	4.60	4.93	5.28	5.63	5.98	6.32	6.67	7.03	7.39	8.11	8.84
2500	2.71	3.01	3.33	3.67	4.00	4.33	4.66	4.98	5.30	5.66	6.02	6.39	6.75	7.11	7.47	7.84	8.59	9.34
2600	3.02	3.33	3.66	4.01	4.36	4.70	5.04	5.38	5.72	6.06	6.44	6.82	7.19	7.57	7.94	8.32	9.09	9.88
2700	3.36	3.69	4.02	4.38	4.74	5.10	5.45	5.81	6.16	6.51	6.87	7.26	7.66	8.04	8.43	8.83	9.60	10.42
2800	3.72	4.06	4.39	4.77	5.14	5.52	5.89	6.26	6.62	6.99	7.34	7.73	8.14	8.54	8.95	9.35	10.16	10.99
2900	4.10	4.46	4.81	5.19	5.58	5.96	6.35	6.73	7.11	7.49	7.86	8.24	8.64	9.07	9.48	9.90	10.74	11.58
3000	4.52	4.89	5.25	5.63	6.04	6.43	6.83	7.23	7.62	8.02	8.40	8.79	9.18	9.60	10.05	10.47	11.35	12.21
3100	4.96	5.34	5.71	6.09	6.52	6.93	7.34	7.75	8.17	8.57	8.98	9.37	9.77	10.18	10.62	11.07	11.97	12.87
3200	5.43	5.82	6.21	6.59	7.02	7.46	7.88	8.30	8.72	9.15	9.57	9.99	10.4	10.82	11.22	11.68	12.62	13.54
3100	5.93	6.34	6.74	7.13	7.56	8.01	8.45	8.88	9.32	9.76	10.2	10.62	11.06	11.48	11.91	12.33	13.30	14.25
3400	6.46	6.87	7.29	7.70	8.13	8.59	9.04	9.50	9.95	10.4	10.84	11.29	11.74	12.19	12.62	13.06	13.99	14.99
3500	7.02	7.45	7.86	8.30	8.73	9.20	9.67	10.14	10.6	11.07	11.53	11.99	12.45	12.91	13.36	13.82	14.71	15.73

 Table B4. Type 4 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
600	0.09	0.18	0.28	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
700	0.12	0.21	0.31	0.43	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
800	0.14	0.24	0.35	0.47	0.61	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
900	0.18	0.28	0.40	0.53	0.66	0.81	0.97	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1000	0.22	0.33	0.46	0.59	0.73	0.88	1.05	1.22	1.40	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1100	0.26	0.39	0.52	0.66	0.81	0.96	1.13	1.31	1.49	1.68	1.88	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1200	0.32	0.45	0.59	0.74	0.89	1.05	1.23	1.41	1.59	1.79	2.00	2.21	2.42	*	*	*	*	*
1300	0.38	0.52	0.67	0.82	0.99	1.16	1.33	1.52	1.71	1.91	2.12	2.34	2.56	2.79	3.02	*	*	*
1400	0.45	0.60	0.76	0.92	1.09	1.27	1.45	1.64	1.84	2.05	2.26	2.47	2.70	2.94	3.18	3.42	*	*
1500	0.53	0.69	0.86	1.03	1.21	1.39	1.58	1.78	1.98	2.19	2.41	2.64	2.86	3.10	3.34	3.60	4.11	4.65
1600	0.62	0.79	0.97	1.15	1.33	1.53	1.72	1.93	2.14	2.35	2.58	2.81	3.04	3.28	3.53	3.78	4.31	4.86
1700	0.72	0.90	1.09	1.28	1.47	1.67	1.88	2.09	2.31	2.53	2.75	2.99	3.23	3.48	3.73	3.99	4.51	5.07
1800	0.84	1.03	1.22	1.42	1.62	1.83	2.04	2.26	2.49	2.72	2.95	3.19	3.43	3.69	3.95	4.21	4.75	5.31
1900	0.96	1.16	1.36	1.57	1.79	2.00	2.22	2.45	2.68	2.92	3.16	3.41	3.65	3.91	4.18	4.45	5.00	5.57
2000	1.10	1.31	1.52	1.74	1.96	2.19	2.42	2.65	2.89	3.13	3.39	3.64	3.90	4.16	4.42	4.69	5.27	5.85
2100	1.25	1.47	1.69	1.92	2.15	2.39	2.63	2.87	3.11	3.36	3.62	3.89	4.15	4.42	4.69	4.97	5.54	6.14
2200	1.41	1.64	1.88	2.11	2.36	2.60	2.85	3.10	3.35	3.61	3.88	4.15	4.42	4.70	4.98	5.26	5.84	6.45
2300	1.59	1.83	2.08	2.32	2.57	2.83	3.09	3.35	3.61	3.88	4.15	4.42	4.70	4.99	5.28	5.57	6.17	6.77
2400	1.78	2.04	2.29	2.55	2.81	3.07	3.34	3.61	3.88	4.16	4.44	4.72	5.00	5.30	5.60	5.90	6.51	7.13
2500	1.99	2.26	2.52	2.79	3.06	3.33	3.61	3.89	4.17	4.45	4.74	5.03	5.33	5.63	5.93	6.24	6.87	7.51
2600	2.22	2.49	2.77	3.04	3.32	3.61	3.89	4.18	4.47	4.77	5.07	5.37	5.67	5.98	6.28	6.60	7.25	7.91
2700	2.47	2.75	3.03	3.32	3.61	3.90	4.20	4.49	4.79	5.10	5.41	5.71	6.03	6.34	6.66	6.98	7.64	8.32
2800	2.73	3.02	3.31	3.61	3.91	4.21	4.52	4.83	5.13	5.45	5.76	6.08	6.40	6.73	7.05	7.38	8.05	8.74
2900	3.01	3.31	3.62	3.92	4.23	4.54	4.86	5.17	5.49	5.82	6.14	6.47	6.80	7.13	7.47	7.81	8.49	9.19
3000	3.31	3.62	3.94	4.25	4.57	4.89	5.22	5.54	5.87	6.21	6.54	6.88	7.22	7.56	7.90	8.25	8.95	9.66

 Table B5. Type 5 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP																
800	0.13	0.23	0.36	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
900	0.15	0.27	0.40	0.54	0.70	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1000	0.18	0.30	0.44	0.59	0.75	0.93	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1100	0.22	0.35	0.49	0.64	0.81	0.99	1.19	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1200	0.26	0.39	0.54	0.70	0.88	1.06	1.26	1.47	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1300	0.30	0.45	0.61	0.77	0.95	1.14	1.34	1.55	1.78	2.01	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1400	0.35	0.51	0.67	0.85	1.03	1.23	1.44	1.65	1.88	2.11	2.36	2.61	*	*	*	*	*	*
1500	0.41	0.58	0.75	0.93	1.12	1.32	1.54	1.76	1.98	2.22	2.48	2.73	3.00	*	*	*	*	*
1600	0.48	0.65	0.83	1.02	1.22	1.43	1.64	1.87	2.11	2.35	2.60	2.87	3.14	3.42	3.70	*	*	*
1700	0.55	0.73	0.92	1.12	1.33	1.54	1.76	1.99	2.24	2.49	2.74	3.00	3.28	3.57	3.86	4.16	*	*
1800	0.63	0.82	1.02	1.23	1.44	1.66	1.89	2.13	2.37	2.63	2.90	3.17	3.44	3.72	4.02	4.33	4.95	5.60
1900	0.71	0.92	1.13	1.34	1.57	1.79	2.03	2.28	2.53	2.79	3.06	3.34	3.62	3.90	4.20	4.50	5.15	5.81
2000	0.81	1.02	1.24	1.47	1.70	1.93	2.18	2.43	2.69	2.95	3.22	3.51	3.80	4.10	4.40	4.70	5.34	6.02
2100	0.92	1.14	1.37	1.60	1.84	2.09	2.34	2.60	2.86	3.13	3.41	3.70	4.00	4.30	4.61	4.92	5.56	6.24
2200	1.03	1.26	1.50	1.75	2.00	2.25	2.51	2.77	3.05	3.33	3.61	3.90	4.20	4.51	4.83	5.15	5.81	6.48
2300	1.15	1.40	1.64	1.90	2.16	2.42	2.69	2.96	3.24	3.53	3.82	4.12	4.42	4.73	5.05	5.39	6.06	6.75
2400	1.29	1.54	1.80	2.06	2.33	2.60	2.88	3.16	3.45	3.74	4.04	4.35	4.66	4.98	5.29	5.63	6.32	7.03
2500	1.44	1.70	1.97	2.24	2.52	2.80	3.08	3.37	3.67	3.97	4.28	4.59	4.91	5.24	5.56	5.89	6.59	7.31
2600	1.59	1.87	2.14	2.43	2.71	3.00	3.30	3.60	3.90	4.21	4.52	4.84	5.18	5.50	5.84	6.18	6.87	7.61
2700	1.76	2.04	2.33	2.62	2.92	3.22	3.52	3.83	4.14	4.46	4.78	5.11	5.45	5.79	6.13	6.48	7.18	7.92
2800	1.94	2.24	2.53	2.83	3.14	3.45	3.76	4.08	4.40	4.73	5.06	5.39	5.73	6.08	6.43	6.79	7.51	8.25
2900	2.14	2.44	2.75	3.06	3.37	3.69	4.02	4.34	4.67	5.01	5.34	5.69	6.03	6.39	6.75	7.12	7.85	8.61
3000	2.34	2.66	2.97	3.30	3.62	3.95	4.28	4.62	4.96	5.30	5.65	6.00	6.35	6.71	7.08	7.45	8.21	8.99
3100	2.56	2.89	3.21	3.54	3.88	4.22	4.56	4.91	5.25	5.61	5.96	6.32	6.68	7.05	7.42	7.81	8.58	9.37
3200	2.80	3.13	3.47	3.81	4.15	4.50	4.85	5.21	5.57	5.93	6.29	6.66	7.04	7.41	7.79	8.17	8.97	9.77
3300	3.05	3.39	3.74	4.09	4.44	4.80	5.16	5.53	5.89	6.27	6.64	7.01	7.40	7.78	8.17	8.56	9.36	10.19
3400	3.31	3.67	4.02	4.38	4.75	5.11	5.48	5.86	6.24	6.61	7.00	7.39	7.77	8.17	8.56	8.96	9.77	10.61
3500	3.59	3.96	4.32	4.69	5.06	5.44	5.82	6.2	6.59	6.98	7.38	7.77	8.17	8.57	8.98	9.38	10.21	11.06
3600	3.89	4.26	4.64	5.02	5.40	5.79	6.17	6.57	6.97	7.36	7.77	8.18	8.58	8.99	9.41	9.82	10.67	11.52

 Table B6.
 Type 6 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP											
1000	0.16	0.29	0.45	0.62	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1150	0.20	0.34	0.50	0.69	0.88	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1300	0.25	0.40	0.57	0.76	0.96	1.19	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1450	0.31	0.47	0.65	0.85	1.06	1.29	1.53	1.78	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1600	0.37	0.55	0.74	0.95	1.17	1.40	1.65	1.91	2.19	2.48	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1750	0.45	0.64	0.85	1.06	1.29	1.54	1.79	2.06	2.34	2.63	2.94	3.25	*	*	*	*	*	*
1900	0.54	0.75	0.96	1.19	1.43	1.68	1.95	2.22	2.51	2.80	3.12	3.44	3.77	4.11	*	*	*	*
2050	0.64	0.86	1.09	1.33	1.59	1.85	2.11	2.40	2.70	3.00	3.31	3.63	3.98	4.33	4.69	5.05	*	*
2200	0.76	0.99	1.24	1.49	1.75	2.03	2.31	2.59	2.90	3.22	3.54	3.87	4.21	4.56	4.93	5.30	6.08	*
2350	0.89	1.14	1.40	1.66	1.94	2.22	2.52	2.82	3.12	3.44	3.78	4.13	4.47	4.83	5.19	5.57	6.36	7.18
2500	1.03	1.30	1.57	1.85	2.14	2.43	2.74	3.05	3.37	3.70	4.04	4.39	4.75	5.12	5.49	5.87	6.66	7.50
2650	1.19	1.48	1.76	2.06	2.36	2.67	2.98	3.30	3.64	3.98	4.32	4.68	5.05	5.43	5.82	6.21	7.00	7.83
2800	1.38	1.67	1.97	2.28	2.60	2.92	3.24	3.58	3.92	4.28	4.68	5.00	5.37	5.75	6.15	6.55	7.38	8.22
2950	1.58	1.89	2.20	2.53	2.85	3.19	3.53	3.88	4.21	4.60	4.96	5.34	5.72	6.11	6.50	6.92	7.76	8.63
3100	1.79	2.12	2.45	2.79	3.13	3.48	3.83	4.19	4.56	4.93	5.31	5.70	6.10	6.50	6.90	7.31	8.17	9.07
3250	2.03	2.38	2.72	3.07	3.43	3.79	4.16	4.53	4.91	5.29	5.69	6.09	6.50	6.91	7.32	7.75	8.60	9.51
3400	2.30	2.65	3.01	3.38	3.75	4.12	4.51	4.90	5.29	5.68	6.08	6.49	6.91	7.34	7.77	8.20	9.09	9.98
3550	2.58	2.95	3.33	3.70	4.09	4.48	4.88	5.28	5.68	6.09	6.51	6.93	7.35	7.79	8.23	8.68	9.59	10.52
3700	2.89	3.27	3.66	4.06	4.46	4.86	5.27	5.69	6.11	6.53	6.96	7.39	7.83	8.27	8.73	9.19	10.13	11.07
3850	3.22	3.62	4.02	4.43	4.85	5.27	5.69	6.12	6.56	6.99	7.43	7.88	8.33	8.78	9.25	9.72	10.68	11.66
4000	3.58	3.99	4.41	4.84	5.27	5.70	6.14	6.59	7.03	7.48	7.94	8.39	8.86	9.33	9.80	10.27	11.26	12.27
4150	3.96	4.39	4.83	5.27	5.71	6.16	6.61	7.07	7.53	8.00	8.46	8.94	9.42	9.90	10.38	10.87	11.86	12.90
4300	4.37	4.82	5.27	5.73	6.19	6.65	7.12	7.58	8.06	8.54	9.02	9.51	10.00	10.5	10.99	11.50	12.52	13.56
4450	4.81	5.28	5.75	6.21	6.68	7.16	7.65	8.13	8.62	9.11	9.61	10.11	10.62	11.13	11.64	12.16	13.20	14.25

 Table B7. Type 7 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP								
1200	0.19	0.35	0.54	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1350	0.23	0.40	0.59	0.81	1.05	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1500	0.28	0.46	0.66	0.88	1.13	1.39	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1650	0.33	0.52	0.73	0.97	1.21	1.49	1.76	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1800	0.39	0.59	0.82	1.06	1.32	1.59	1.89	2.20	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1950	0.46	0.68	0.91	1.16	1.43	1.71	2.01	2.33	2.66	3.01	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2100	0.53	0.77	1.01	1.27	1.55	1.84	2.15	2.47	2.81	3.16	3.53	3.91	*	*	*	*	*	*
2250	0.62	0.87	1.13	1.40	1.69	1.98	2.30	2.64	2.97	3.33	3.71	4.10	4.49	4.90	*	*	*	*
2400	0.72	0.98	1.25	1.54	1.83	2.14	2.46	2.81	3.16	3.52	3.89	4.29	4.70	5.12	5.54	*	*	*
2550	0.83	1.10	1.39	1.68	1.99	2.31	2.65	2.99	3.36	3.73	4.11	4.50	4.91	5.34	5.78	6.23	*	*
2700	0.94	1.24	1.54	1.85	2.16	2.50	2.84	3.20	3.56	3.95	4.34	4.75	5.16	5.57	6.03	6.49	7.42	8.39
2850	1.08	1.38	1.70	2.02	2.35	2.70	3.05	3.42	3.79	4.18	4.59	5.00	5.42	5.85	6.30	6.75	7.71	8.71
3000	1.22	1.54	1.87	2.21	2.55	2.91	3.28	3.65	4.04	4.43	4.84	5.27	5.70	6.15	6.60	7.06	8.01	9.02
3150	1.38	1.72	2.06	2.41	2.77	3.14	3.51	3.90	4.30	4.71	5.12	5.55	5.99	6.45	6.91	7.38	8.34	9.35
3300	1.56	1.90	2.26	2.63	3.00	3.38	3.77	4.17	4.58	5.00	5.42	5.86	6.30	6.76	7.24	7.72	8.71	9.72
3450	1.74	2.11	2.48	2.86	3.25	3.64	4.04	4.45	4.87	5.31	5.74	6.19	6.64	7.10	7.58	8.08	9.08	10.12
3600	1.95	2.33	2.71	3.11	3.51	3.92	4.33	4.75	5.18	5.63	6.08	6.53	7.00	7.47	7.94	8.44	9.47	10.54
3750	2.17	2.56	2.96	3.37	3.79	4.21	4.64	5.07	5.51	5.96	6.42	6.90	7.37	7.86	8.35	8.85	9.89	10.96
3900	2.4	2.81	3.23	3.65	4.08	4.52	4.96	5.41	5.86	6.32	6.80	7.28	7.77	8.27	8.77	9.28	10.31	11.42
4050	2.66	3.08	3.52	3.95	4.40	4.85	5.30	5.77	6.23	6.71	7.19	7.68	8.18	8.69	9.21	9.73	10.78	11.88
4200	2.94	3.38	3.82	4.27	4.73	5.19	5.66	6.14	6.62	7.11	7.60	8.10	8.62	9.14	9.66	10.20	11.28	12.38
4350	3.23	3.68	4.14	4.61	5.08	5.56	6.05	6.53	7.03	7.53	8.04	8.55	9.06	9.60	10.14	10.69	11.80	12.93
4500	3.54	4.01	4.48	4.96	5.45	5.94	6.45	6.95	7.46	7.97	8.49	9.02	9.54	10.09	10.64	11.20	12.34	13.49
4650	3.88	4.36	4.85	5.35	5.85	6.35	6.86	7.38	7.90	8.44	8.97	9.51	10.05	10.60	11.15	11.73	12.89	14.07
4800	4.23	4.73	5.24	5.74	6.26	6.78	7.30	7.84	8.38	8.92	9.46	10.01	10.58	11.14	11.71	12.28	13.46	14.67
4950	4.61	5.12	5.64	6.17	6.70	7.23	7.77	8.32	8.87	9.43	9.99	10.56	11.13	11.70	12.28	12.87	14.07	15.30
5100	5.01	5.53	6.07	6.61	7.16	7.70	8.26	8.82	9.39	9.96	10.53	11.11	11.70	12.29	12.88	13.47	14.69	15.95
5250	5.43	5.97	6.52	7.08	7.64	8.20	8.77	9.35	9.93	10.51	11.10	11.69	12.29	12.90	13.50	14.11	15.35	16.63
5400	5.88	6.44	7.00	7.57	8.15	8.72	9.31	9.90	10.49	11.08	11.69	12.29	12.91	13.53	14.15	14.78	16.04	17.32

 Table B8. Type 8 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP
1500	0.24	0.44	0.67	0.93	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1700	0.30	0.51	0.75	1.01	1.31	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
1900	0.36	0.59	0.84	1.11	1.42	1.74	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2100	0.43	0.68	0.94	1.23	1.54	1.87	2.23	2.6	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2300	0.52	0.78	1.06	1.36	1.68	2.02	2.38	2.77	3.18	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2500	0.62	0.90	1.19	1.51	1.84	2.19	2.57	2.95	3.37	3.8	4.24	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2700	0.73	1.03	1.34	1.67	2.01	2.37	2.76	3.16	3.57	4.01	4.48	4.94	5.43	*	*	*	*	*
2900	0.85	1.17	1.50	1.84	2.20	2.58	2.98	3.39	3.82	4.26	4.71	5.20	5.70	6.21	6.73	*	*	*
3100	1.00	1.33	1.68	2.04	2.42	2.81	3.21	3.63	4.08	4.54	5.00	5.48	5.98	6.50	7.05	7.59	*	*
3300	1.16	1.51	1.88	2.26	2.65	3.06	3.47	3.91	4.35	4.82	5.31	5.80	6.30	6.81	7.37	7.93	9.08	10.26
3500	1.33	1.70	2.09	2.49	2.89	3.32	3.75	4.2	4.66	5.13	5.64	6.14	6.66	7.18	7.72	8.28	9.46	10.67
3700	1.53	1.92	2.33	2.74	3.17	3.60	4.05	4.52	4.99	5.48	5.97	6.50	7.03	7.57	8.13	8.69	9.85	11.11
3900	1.74	2.16	2.58	3.01	3.46	3.91	4.37	4.86	5.34	5.85	6.35	6.87	7.42	7.99	8.56	9.13	10.31	11.54
4100	1.98	2.41	2.86	3.31	3.77	4.24	4.72	5.21	5.72	6.24	6.76	7.30	7.84	8.41	8.99	9.59	10.80	12.05
4300	2.24	2.69	3.15	3.63	4.11	4.60	5.09	5.60	6.12	6.66	7.20	7.75	8.30	8.87	9.46	10.07	11.32	12.59
4500	2.52	3.00	3.48	3.97	4.47	4.98	5.49	6.02	6.55	7.09	7.65	8.22	8.80	9.39	9.97	10.57	11.85	13.17
4700	2.83	3.32	3.82	4.33	4.85	5.38	5.91	6.45	7.00	7.56	8.14	8.72	9.32	9.91	10.53	11.13	12.41	13.75
4900	3.16	3.67	4.19	4.72	5.26	5.81	6.36	6.92	7.49	8.06	8.65	9.25	9.86	10.48	11.10	11.73	13.02	14.36
5100	3.52	4.05	4.59	5.14	5.70	6.26	6.84	7.41	8.00	8.59	9.19	9.80	10.42	11.06	11.70	12.35	13.68	15.01
5300	3.91	4.46	5.02	5.59	6.17	6.75	7.34	7.93	8.54	9.15	9.77	10.39	11.02	11.67	12.33	13.00	14.36	15.74
5500	4.32	4.90	5.47	6.06	6.66	7.26	7.87	8.49	9.11	9.74	10.37	11.01	11.67	12.32	13.00	13.68	15.07	16.47
5700	4.76	5.36	5.96	6.57	7.18	7.80	8.43	9.07	9.71	10.36	11.00	11.67	12.33	13.01	13.68	14.39	15.81	17.26
5900	5.24	5.85	6.48	7.10	7.73	8.38	9.02	9.68	10.34	11.01	11.68	12.36	13.04	13.73	14.43	15.12	16.58	18.06
6100	5.75	6.38	7.03	7.67	8.32	8.99	9.65	10.33	11.00	11.68	12.38	13.07	13.78	14.48	15.19	15.92	17.39	18.90
6300	6.29	6.95	7.61	8.28	8.94	9.62	10.3	11.00	11.70	12.40	13.11	13.83	14.55	15.28	16.01	16.74	18.23	19.78
6500	6.86	7.54	8.22	8.91	9.60	10.29	11.0	11.70	12.43	13.16	13.88	14.61	15.34	16.10	16.84	17.61	19.14	20.69

 Table B9. Type 9 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP
2000	0.34	0.59	0.88	1.20	1.55	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2250	0.42	0.69	0.99	1.32	1.68	2.07	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2500	0.51	0.80	1.11	1.46	1.83	2.23	2.66	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2750	0.62	0.93	1.26	1.62	2.01	2.42	2.85	3.32	3.80	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3000	0.74	1.07	1.43	1.81	2.20	2.63	3.08	3.54	4.04	4.56	5.09	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3250	0.88	1.24	1.61	2.01	2.42	2.86	3.33	3.81	4.30	4.83	5.39	5.94	6.53	*	*	*	*	*
3500	1.04	1.42	1.82	2.23	2.67	3.12	3.59	4.09	4.61	5.14	5.68	6.27	6.87	7.48	8.10	*	*	*
3750	1.22	1.62	2.04	2.48	2.93	3.41	3.89	4.40	4.93	5.48	6.05	6.62	7.22	7.85	8.49	9.15	*	*
4000	1.42	1.85	2.29	2.75	3.22	3.71	4.22	4.74	5.28	5.85	6.43	7.03	7.63	8.25	8.91	9.59	10.96	12.40
4250	1.64	2.09	2.57	3.04	3.54	4.05	4.58	5.12	5.67	6.24	6.84	7.46	8.08	8.72	9.37	10.03	11.46	12.92
4500	1.89	2.37	2.87	3.37	3.88	4.41	4.96	5.52	6.10	6.68	7.28	7.91	8.56	9.21	9.88	10.56	11.95	13.45
4750	2.17	2.67	3.19	3.72	4.25	4.81	5.36	5.94	6.54	7.15	7.76	8.39	9.04	9.73	10.41	11.11	12.55	14.01
5000	2.47	3.00	3.54	4.09	4.65	5.22	5.81	6.40	7.02	7.65	8.29	8.93	9.59	10.27	10.98	11.70	13.17	14.68
5250	2.80	3.36	3.92	4.50	5.08	5.68	6.29	6.90	7.53	8.18	8.84	9.51	10.18	10.87	11.57	12.31	13.82	15.37
5500	3.17	3.75	4.33	4.93	5.54	6.16	6.79	7.43	8.08	8.74	9.43	10.11	10.81	11.52	12.24	12.96	14.49	16.08
5750	3.57	4.17	4.78	5.40	6.04	6.68	7.33	7.99	8.67	9.34	10.04	10.75	11.47	12.20	12.94	13.68	15.21	16.84
6000	4.00	4.62	5.26	5.91	6.56	7.23	7.91	8.59	9.28	9.98	10.70	11.42	12.17	12.91	13.67	14.45	16.01	17.61
6250	4.46	5.11	5.78	6.45	7.13	7.82	8.52	9.22	9.93	10.66	11.39	12.14	12.89	13.67	14.44	15.24	16.84	18.47
6500	4.97	5.65	6.33	7.02	7.73	8.44	9.17	9.90	10.63	11.38	12.13	12.89	13.67	14.45	15.25	16.07	17.72	19.38
6750	5.51	6.21	6.93	7.64	8.36	9.10	9.85	10.61	11.36	12.13	12.91	13.70	14.48	15.29	16.09	16.94	18.63	20.35
7000	6.08	6.81	7.55	8.29	9.04	9.81	10.58	11.36	12.14	12.92	13.73	14.54	15.35	16.18	17.01	17.84	19.57	21.35
7250	6.71	7.46	8.23	9.00	9.77	10.56	11.34	12.14	12.95	13.77	14.59	15.42	16.27	17.10	17.94	18.81	20.56	22.37
7500	7.38	8.15	8.93	9.74	10.54	11.34	12.15	12.97	13.81	14.65	15.49	16.35	17.21	18.08	18.95	19.83	21.61	23.46
7750	8.08	8.88	9.70	10.52	11.34	12.17	13.00	13.86	14.72	15.59	16.44	17.32	18.20	19.09	20.00	20.89	22.72	24.58
8000	8.84	9.66	10.5	11.34	12.19	13.05	13.91	14.79	15.66	16.55	17.44	18.35	19.26	20.17	21.09	22.01	23.88	25.78

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
2300	0.38	0.67	1.01	1.40	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2600	0.47	0.79	1.14	1.53	1.97	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
2900	0.57	0.91	1.28	1.70	2.13	2.62	3.13	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3200	0.69	1.05	1.45	1.88	2.34	2.82	3.35	3.91	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3500	0.83	1.22	1.64	2.08	2.56	3.07	3.60	4.17	4.77	5.38	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3800	0.99	1.41	1.85	2.32	2.81	3.34	3.89	4.46	5.06	5.70	6.36	7.03	*	*	*	*	*	*
4100	1.16	1.62	2.08	2.58	3.09	3.63	4.20	4.80	5.41	6.04	6.71	7.41	8.12	8.86	*	*	*	*
4400	1.37	1.85	2.34	2.86	3.40	3.96	4.54	5.15	5.79	6.44	7.11	7.80	8.54	9.30	10.07	10.84	*	*
4700	1.60	2.10	2.63	3.17	3.73	4.32	4.92	5.53	6.19	6.87	7.57	8.27	9.00	9.76	10.55	11.35	13.00	*
5000	1.86	2.39	2.95	3.51	4.09	4.70	5.33	5.98	6.63	7.32	8.05	8.78	9.52	10.28	11.05	11.87	13.57	15.34
5300	2.14	2.70	3.29	3.88	4.49	5.12	5.77	6.44	7.12	7.81	8.54	9.30	10.08	10.87	11.65	12.47	14.16	15.97
5600	2.46	3.05	3.66	4.29	4.92	5.58	6.24	6.94	7.64	8.37	9.10	9.86	10.65	11.46	12.29	13.12	14.82	16.63
5900	2.81	3.43	4.07	4.73	5.38	6.06	6.76	7.47	8.20	8.95	9.71	10.49	11.27	12.10	12.95	13.81	15.56	17.36
6200	3.19	3.84	4.51	5.19	5.88	6.59	7.31	8.04	8.79	9.57	10.35	11.14	11.96	12.77	13.63	14.52	16.31	18.17
6500	3.60	4.29	4.99	5.69	6.42	7.16	7.89	8.65	9.42	10.22	11.04	11.85	12.69	13.54	14.38	15.25	17.11	19.02
6800	4.06	4.78	5.5	6.24	6.99	7.76	8.52	9.31	10.11	10.91	11.75	12.59	13.46	14.34	15.21	16.11	17.95	19.90
7100	4.56	5.30	6.06	6.83	7.60	8.39	9.19	10.00	10.83	11.67	12.51	13.37	14.27	15.17	16.08	16.98	18.84	20.81
7400	5.10	5.86	6.65	7.44	8.25	9.08	9.90	10.75	11.60	12.46	13.32	14.20	15.12	16.05	16.97	17.91	19.83	21.78
7700	5.68	6.48	7.28	8.11	8.95	9.80	10.66	11.53	12.41	13.29	14.19	15.08	16.01	16.96	17.92	18.89	20.86	22.85
8000	6.30	7.13	7.97	8.83	9.70	10.56	11.46	12.35	13.25	14.17	15.09	16.02	16.97	17.93	18.90	19.91	21.92	23.98
8300	6.96	7.83	8.70	9.59	10.47	11.38	12.29	13.23	14.15	15.09	16.05	17.02	17.98	18.96	19.94	20.96	23.04	25.14
8600	7.68	8.57	9.49	10.39	11.32	12.25	13.19	14.15	15.11	16.07	17.05	18.03	19.03	20.05	21.07	22.09	24.20	26.37
8900	8.45	9.37	10.31	11.26	12.2	13.17	14.14	15.12	16.11	17.10	18.11	19.14	20.15	21.18	22.23	23.27	25.40	27.61
9200	9.27	10.22	11.19	12.15	13.14	14.14	15.14	16.13	17.15	18.18	19.22	20.26	21.32	22.38	23.45	24.52	26.70	28.95
9500	10.13	11.12	12.13	13.11	14.13	15.15	16.18	17.22	18.25	19.32	20.39	21.45	22.52	23.62	24.70	25.81	28.03	30.30
9800	11.06	12.09	13.11	14.15	15.17	16.22	17.29	18.35	19.43	20.52	21.59	22.69	23.80	24.91	26.03	27.18	29.45	31.76

Table B10. Type 10 Fan Capacity Table

Table B11.	Type	11 Fan	Capacity Table
------------	------	--------	----------------

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP
2700	0.32	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3050	0.39	0.68	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3400	0.46	0.78	1.13	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3750	0.55	0.89	1.26	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
4100	0.65	1.02	1.41	1.83	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
4450	0.77	1.15	1.57	2.01	2.48	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
4800	0.89	1.31	1.74	2.21	2.70	3.21	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5150	1.04	1.48	1.94	2.42	2.93	3.46	4.01	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5500	1.20	1.67	2.16	2.65	3.18	3.74	4.30	4.89	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5850	1.38	1.88	2.39	2.91	3.46	4.03	4.61	5.23	5.85	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6200	1.58	2.10	2.65	3.19	3.75	4.35	4.96	5.59	6.23	6.89	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6550	1.81	2.35	2.92	3.49	4.08	4.69	5.32	5.97	6.63	7.31	8.01	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6900	2.05	2.62	3.21	3.82	4.43	5.05	5.70	6.38	7.06	7.77	8.48	9.21	9.96	*	*	*	*	*
7250	2.33	2.90	3.52	4.16	4.80	5.44	6.12	6.82	7.52	8.25	8.97	9.72	10.50	11.28	*	*	*	*
7600	2.62	3.22	3.87	4.53	5.21	5.87	6.55	7.27	8.01	8.75	9.50	10.27	11.06	11.87	12.68	*	*	*
7950	2.94	3.57	4.23	4.93	5.62	6.32	7.02	7.75	8.51	9.28	10.06	10.85	11.66	12.47	13.31	14.17	*	*
8300	3.29	3.94	4.62	5.34	6.07	6.80	7.53	8.27	9.03	9.83	10.64	11.46	12.28	13.12	13.97	14.82	16.62	*
8650	3.67	4.33	5.04	5.79	6.54	7.31	8.06	8.84	9.61	10.40	11.25	12.08	12.93	13.79	14.68	15.55	17.37	19.24
9000	4.08	4.77	5.50	6.26	7.04	7.84	8.63	9.43	10.23	11.03	11.88	12.74	13.62	14.51	15.40	16.31	18.16	20.04
9350	4.52	5.23	5.98	6.77	7.58	8.39	9.23	10.04	10.87	11.71	12.56	13.42	14.33	15.23	16.15	17.08	18.97	20.91
9700	4.99	5.73	6.48	7.31	8.14	8.99	9.85	10.69	11.54	12.40	13.28	14.16	15.06	16.00	16.95	17.91	19.83	21.83
10050	5.49	6.26	7.05	7.87	8.73	9.59	10.49	11.37	12.27	13.14	14.03	14.94	15.84	16.82	17.77	18.77	20.75	22.78
10400	6.03	6.82	7.63	8.48	9.36	10.25	11.17	12.09	13.00	13.91	14.83	15.75	16.69	17.63	18.62	19.65	21.66	23.75
10750	6.61	7.43	8.26	9.11	10.02	10.95	11.87	12.83	13.78	14.73	15.66	16.62	17.59	18.54	19.52	20.55	22.63	24.75
11100	7.22	8.07	8.91	9.78	10.72	11.67	12.62	13.6	14.60	15.58	16.55	17.52	18.49	19.50	20.49	21.52	23.63	25.80
11450	7.87	8.74	9.61	10.52	11.46	12.43	13.43	14.42	15.43	16.43	17.44	18.44	19.45	20.47	21.49	22.55	24.68	26.89
11800	8.56	9.46	10.36	11.27	12.22	13.23	14.24	15.27	16.30	17.34	18.39	19.43	20.47	21.50	22.55	23.61	25.73	28.01

Table B12. Type 12 Fan Capacity	y Table
---------------------------------	---------

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP	BHP								
3300	0.39	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
3700	0.46	0.82	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
4100	0.55	0.93	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
4500	0.64	1.05	1.51	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
4900	0.75	1.18	1.67	2.18	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5300	0.87	1.34	1.84	2.37	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5700	1.00	1.50	2.03	2.59	3.18	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6100	1.15	1.69	2.23	2.82	3.43	4.07	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6500	1.32	1.88	2.45	3.06	3.71	4.37	5.06	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6900	1.51	2.10	2.71	3.32	4.00	4.69	5.39	6.13	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
7300	1.72	2.33	2.97	3.62	4.31	5.03	5.76	6.51	7.30	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
7700	1.94	2.59	3.27	3.94	4.65	5.38	6.15	6.92	7.72	8.57	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
8100	2.20	2.86	3.57	4.29	5.00	5.77	6.56	7.36	8.19	9.03	9.91	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
8500	2.47	3.17	3.90	4.65	5.40	6.17	6.98	7.82	8.66	9.53	10.43	11.36	*	*	*	*	*	*
8900	2.77	3.48	4.24	5.03	5.82	6.61	7.43	8.31	9.17	10.07	10.90	11.91	12.87	*	*	*	*	*
9300	3.09	3.83	4.62	5.45	6.26	7.08	7.92	8.80	9.72	10.63	11.58	12.53	13.50	14.50	15.52	*	*	*
9700	3.45	4.21	5.02	5.88	6.73	7.58	8.45	9.33	10.27	11.21	12.19	13.15	14.17	15.17	16.20	17.25	*	*
10100	3.82	4.60	5.46	6.33	7.23	8.11	9.01	9.92	10.85	11.84	12.83	13.82	14.84	15.88	16.94	18.00	*	*
10500	4.23	5.05	5.91	6.82	7.74	8.68	9.60	10.53	11.48	12.48	13.49	14.54	15.56	16.64	17.70	18.80	21.05	*
10900	4.67	5.51	6.40	7.34	8.28	9.25	10.22	11.18	12.15	13.15	14.19	15.25	16.34	17.42	18.51	19.61	21.87	24.25
11300	5.14	6.01	6.91	7.88	8.85	9.86	10.86	11.86	12.85	13.86	14.92	16.02	17.11	18.22	19.35	20.48	22.78	25.20
11700	5.65	6.54	7.47	8.45	9.46	10.50	11.52	12.57	13.59	14.65	15.69	16.78	17.94	19.05	20.21	21.38	23.75	26.16
12100	6.18	7.11	8.04	9.07	10.11	11.16	12.25	13.30	14.37	15.43	16.52	17.62	18.76	19.94	21.13	22.30	24.73	27.22
12500	6.75	7.70	8.69	9.72	10.78	11.87	12.96	14.09	15.17	16.27	17.40	18.51	19.63	20.85	22.04	23.29	25.75	28.26
12900	7.36	8.33	9.34	10.40	11.48	12.59	13.74	14.87	16.00	17.14	18.27	19.46	20.62	21.79	23.02	24.26	26.79	29.36
13300	8.00	9.02	10.03	11.11	12.23	13.37	14.53	15.70	16.89	18.04	19.21	20.40	21.60	22.81	24.03	25.30	27.90	30.50
13700	8.67	9.72	10.77	11.85	13.02	14.18	15.39	16.59	17.79	19.01	20.19	21.41	22.62	23.87	25.08	26.37	29.00	31.71
14100	9.40	10.47	11.56	12.67	13.85	15.04	16.24	17.49	18.73	19.97	21.23	22.46	23.7	24.95	26.24	27.49	30.17	32.91
14500	10.17	11.25	12.38	13.51	14.7	15.92	17.16	18.42	<u>19</u> .70	20.99	22.26	23.54	24.82	26.11	27.4	28.73	31.37	34.18

Table B	313. Type	13 Fan	Capacity	Table
	~ 1			

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
4500	0.56	1.00	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5000	0.66	1.13	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5500	0.78	1.28	1.84	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6000	0.91	1.44	2.04	2.66	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6500	1.05	1.63	2.25	2.90	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
7000	1.22	1.84	2.48	3.17	3.90	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
7500	1.41	2.07	2.73	3.45	4.22	5.01	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
8000	1.62	2.31	3.10	3.77	4.56	5.37	6.22	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
8500	1.85	2.58	3.33	4.09	4.92	5.78	6.65	7.55	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
9000	2.10	2.87	3.67	4.46	5.30	6.20	7.09	8.04	9.01	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
9500	2.40	3.19	4.03	4.86	5.72	6.64	7.58	8.55	9.54	10.56	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
10000	2.71	3.53	4.41	5.29	6.18	7.13	8.08	9.10	10.10	11.14	12.22	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
10500	3.05	3.91	4.81	5.75	6.67	7.61	8.63	9.67	10.71	11.80	12.89	14.03	*	*	*	*	*	*
11000	3.43	4.31	5.25	6.23	7.19	8.17	9.21	10.26	11.35	12.45	13.58	14.73	15.91	*	*	*	*	*
11500	3.83	4.75	5.73	6.73	7.75	8.76	9.80	10.91	12.01	13.15	14.33	15.47	16.67	17.92	19.19	*	*	*
12000	4.27	5.21	6.22	7.29	8.34	9.40	10.46	11.55	12.72	13.91	15.10	16.29	17.5	18.74	20.06	21.35	*	*
12500	4.76	5.72	6.77	7.85	8.97	10.04	11.16	12.29	13.46	14.66	15.90	17.13	18.38	19.66	20.95	22.28	*	*
13000	5.26	6.27	7.35	8.46	9.61	10.74	11.91	13.06	14.23	15.48	16.72	17.99	19.29	20.61	21.94	23.25	26.07	*
13500	5.82	6.86	7.97	9.11	10.29	11.5	12.66	13.86	15.08	16.29	17.61	18.93	20.23	21.59	22.92	24.31	27.12	30.02
14000	6.40	7.48	8.61	9.79	11.02	12.25	13.47	14.73	15.96	17.21	18.49	19.85	21.24	22.60	23.97	25.40	28.24	31.18
14500	7.04	8.15	9.29	10.52	11.79	13.04	14.32	15.60	16.87	18.17	19.51	20.85	22.23	23.64	25.10	26.53	29.44	32.46
15000	7.71	8.87	10.03	11.30	12.59	13.90	15.21	16.53	17.86	19.17	20.55	21.87	23.31	24.76	26.22	27.69	30.69	33.73
15500	8.43	9.63	10.82	12.11	13.43	14.75	16.12	17.50	18.88	20.24	21.63	22.99	24.41	25.91	27.37	28.88	31.96	35.08
16000	9.20	10.42	11.64	12.96	14.30	15.68	17.10	18.52	19.94	21.31	22.75	24.16	25.62	27.05	28.60	30.16	33.27	36.48
16500	10.01	11.27	12.54	13.86	15.25	16.69	18.13	19.56	21.04	22.46	23.95	25.41	26.87	28.34	29.86	31.47	34.67	37.91
17000	10.86	12.15	13.46	14.82	16.24	17.70	19.15	20.67	22.17	23.65	25.14	26.65	28.16	29.68	31.25	32.76	36.05	39.37
17500	11.77	13.09	14.45	15.81	17.28	18.75	20.26	21.79	23.34	24.88	26.43	27.98	29.55	31.06	32.62	34.24	37.53	40.94
18000	12.75	14.10	15.49	16.87	18.35	19.89	21.45	22.99	24.55	26.17	27.75	29.36	30.92	32.53	34.15	36.76	39.05	42.48

Table	B14 .	Type	14 Fan	Capacity	Table
	-				

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
5100	0.61	1.13	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
5750	0.74	1.29	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6400	0.88	1.47	2.14	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
7050	1.04	1.67	2.37	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
7700	1.23	1.91	2.65	3.43	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
8350	1.44	2.17	2.95	3.78	4.65	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
9000	1.68	2.47	3.27	4.14	5.04	6.00	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
9650	1.94	2.79	3.63	4.53	5.49	6.47	7.51	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
10300	2.25	3.12	4.03	4.96	5.97	6.98	8.05	9.16	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
10950	2.58	3.50	4.47	5.46	6.48	7.54	8.54	9.78	10.95	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
11600	2.97	3.93	4.95	5.96	7.02	8.14	9.29	10.45	11.64	12.89	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
12250	3.37	4.38	5.45	6.53	7.62	8.76	9.93	11.15	12.40	13.66	14.99	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
12900	3.84	4.89	6.00	7.12	8.27	9.43	10.64	11.92	13.22	14.50	15.83	17.22	18.64	*	*	*	*	*
13550	4.34	5.42	6.58	7.76	8.97	10.16	11.42	12.72	14.04	15.42	16.75	18.17	19.63	21.09	*	*	*	*
14200	4.88	5.99	7.22	8.45	9.70	10.96	12.25	13.55	14.93	16.32	17.76	19.18	20.63	22.16	23.7	*	*	*
14850	5.49	6.65	7.88	9.18	10.51	11.80	13.11	14.45	15.86	17.31	18.75	20.28	21.78	23.31	24.86	26.47	*	*
15500	6.12	7.33	8.61	9.95	11.31	12.67	14.06	15.42	16.82	18.33	19.83	21.36	22.92	24.50	26.10	27.71	31.01	*
16150	6.83	8.08	9.38	10.77	12.20	13.63	15.04	16.47	17.94	19.39	20.95	22.54	24.16	25.74	27.39	29.05	32.39	35.93
16800	7.58	8.86	10.23	11.66	13.12	14.61	16.08	17.56	19.05	20.57	22.16	23.76	25.37	27.07	28.71	30.43	33.86	37.46
17450	8.39	9.72	11.10	12.60	14.10	15.62	17.20	18.71	20.26	21.79	23.40	25.01	26.69	28.44	30.14	31.85	35.39	38.97
18100	9.26	10.64	12.04	13.59	15.12	16.71	18.30	19.90	21.51	23.11	24.73	26.37	28.11	29.86	31.62	33.38	37.03	40.72
18750	10.19	11.61	13.09	14.64	16.24	17.85	19.51	21.19	22.82	24.48	26.16	27.80	29.51	31.33	33.14	34.96	38.65	42.44
19400	11.18	12.68	14.16	15.73	17.41	19.05	20.78	22.49	24.18	25.90	27.59	29.35	31.06	32.84	34.71	36.59	40.39	44.22
20050	12.26	13.77	15.32	16.93	18.64	20.35	22.10	23.80	25.64	27.38	29.13	30.96	32.73	34.50	36.33	38.26	42.18	46.12
20700	13.38	14.96	16.55	18.18	19.92	21.70	23.47	25.26	27.13	28.97	30.79	32.62	34.45	36.28	38.18	39.99	44.03	48.08
21350	14.56	16.19	17.85	19.51	21.26	23.07	24.90	26.76	28.64	30.60	32.44	34.34	36.16	38.13	40.01	41.96	45.92	50.09
22000	15.85	17.52	19.21	20.89	22.72	24.54	26.45	28.39	30.27	32.23	34.15	36.12	38.08	39.96	41.98	43.91	47.95	52.15

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
6000	0.68	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
6800	0.82	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
7600	0.97	1.68	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
8400	1.16	1.90	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
9200	1.36	2.16	3.05	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
10000	1.59	2.46	3.38	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
10800	1.86	2.78	3.73	4.78	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
11600	2.16	3.15	4.16	5.24	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
12400	2.49	3.54	4.61	5.72	6.90	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
13200	2.88	3.96	5.10	6.26	7.47	8.79	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
14000	3.31	4.42	5.64	6.85	8.10	9.46	10.81	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
14800	3.79	4.94	6.21	7.48	8.77	10.15	11.57	13.04	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
15600	4.31	5.50	6.82	8.18	9.51	10.91	12.37	13.91	15.47	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
16400	4.89	6.10	7.48	8.89	10.3	11.76	13.25	14.81	16.39	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
17200	5.51	6.74	8.21	9.67	11.16	12.66	14.15	15.74	17.39	19.10	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
18000	6.20	7.48	8.95	10.50	12.07	13.60	15.17	16.80	18.49	20.21	21.98	23.79	*	*	*	*	*	*
18800	6.93	8.29	9.78	11.37	13.02	14.64	16.23	17.88	19.57	21.36	23.20	25.08	26.92	*	*	*	*	*
19600	7.74	9.13	10.65	12.29	13.98	15.68	17.39	19.06	20.84	22.62	24.46	26.41	28.32	30.24	*	*	*	*
20400	8.62	10.05	11.57	13.30	15.03	16.81	18.56	20.30	22.09	23.91	25.83	27.78	29.76	31.75	33.75	*	*	*
21200	9.56	11.05	12.59	14.37	16.14	17.97	19.83	21.65	23.45	25.35	27.20	29.20	31.24	33.30	35.37	37.52	*	*
22000	10.57	12.10	13.70	15.49	17.35	19.21	21.15	22.99	24.93	26.84	28.77	30.71	32.78	34.90	37.04	39.17	*	*
22800	11.64	13.22	14.86	16.68	18.56	20.51	22.51	24.46	26.41	28.39	30.39	32.40	34.42	36.55	38.75	40.95	45.51	*
23600	12.79	14.46	16.14	17.92	19.89	21.87	23.95	25.98	28.01	29.99	32.07	34.15	36.24	38.33	40.61	42.88	47.48	52.09
24400	14.01	15.72	17.44	19.23	21.29	23.34	25.45	27.52	29.68	31.74	33.81	35.97	38.13	40.29	42.43	44.78	49.51	54.24
25200	15.35	17.11	18.86	20.69	22.74	24.82	27.01	29.16	31.41	33.55	35.70	37.85	40.08	42.31	44.52	46.81	51.59	56.46
26000	16.73	18.53	20.36	22.21	24.27	26.43	28.64	30.87	33.13	35.43	37.65	39.88	42.10	44.40	46.69	48.94	53.73	58.73

 Table B15. Type 15 Fan Capacity Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
8000	0.95	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
9000	1.14	1.99	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
10000	1.37	2.27	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
11000	1.62	2.58	3.64	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
12000	1.91	2.95	4.05	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
13000	2.23	3.35	4.50	5.75	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
14000	2.61	3.82	5.01	6.31	7.70	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
15000	3.03	4.29	5.58	6.93	8.37	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
16000	3.52	4.83	6.20	7.61	9.08	10.64	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
17000	4.06	5.42	6.89	8.37	9.87	11.47	13.14	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
18000	4.68	6.06	7.63	9.17	10.72	12.40	14.10	15.90	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
19000	5.33	6.78	8.39	10.02	11.67	13.33	15.16	16.99	18.84	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
20000	6.08	7.56	9.24	10.97	12.67	14.42	16.21	18.12	20.05	22.05	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
21000	6.89	8.39	10.14	11.95	13.77	15.57	17.39	19.30	21.32	23.40	25.47	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
22000	7.77	9.34	11.11	13.02	14.89	16.77	18.69	20.67	22.71	24.80	26.95	29.14	*	*	*	*	*	*
23000	8.73	10.37	12.17	14.10	16.13	18.10	20.05	22.06	24.12	26.26	28.49	30.76	33.06	*	*	*	*	*
24000	9.76	11.46	13.31	15.29	17.37	19.44	21.48	23.58	25.73	27.84	30.08	32.44	34.82	37.12	*	*	*	*
25000	10.87	12.64	14.47	16.61	18.73	20.88	23.04	25.16	27.33	29.53	31.83	34.18	36.64	39.02	41.51	*	*	*
26000	12.11	13.94	15.80	17.94	20.17	22.42	24.61	26.90	29.08	31.37	33.68	36.07	38.53	40.99	43.56	46.12	*	*
27000	13.40	15.28	17.24	19.41	21.68	23.95	26.36	28.63	30.99	33.29	35.69	38.11	40.47	43.13	45.67	48.31	53.66	*
28000	14.82	16.77	18.77	20.89	23.27	25.64	28.07	30.53	32.89	35.28	37.78	40.18	42.68	45.22	47.97	50.58	56.09	61.73
29000	16.29	18.34	20.39	22.51	24.93	27.41	29.95	32.43	34.97	37.35	39.94	42.44	45.03	47.60	50.21	53.03	58.59	64.25
30000	17.91	20.02	22.10	24.29	26.75	29.26	31.81	34.39	37.03	39.61	42.19	44.78	47.34	50.01	52.77	55.44	61.16	66.98
31000	19.58	21.79	23.98	26.20	28.66	31.19	33.85	36.53	39.24	41.95	44.52	47.20	49.86	52.61	55.34	58.15	63.95	69.79
32000	21.41	23.67	25.89	28.21	30.66	33.30	35.97	38.76	41.47	44.27	47.06	49.71	52.59	55.31	58.13	60.89	66.67	72.80

 Table B16.
 Type 16 Fan Capacity Table

Table	e B 1	7.	Type	:17	Fan	Capa	citv	Table

S.P.	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	5.5	6.0	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	9.0	10.0
CFM	BHP																	
10000	1.19	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
11250	1.45	2.5	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
12500	1.74	2.86	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
13750	2.07	3.25	4.55	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
15000	2.44	3.71	5.08	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
16250	2.87	4.25	5.68	7.25	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
17500	3.35	4.83	6.35	7.97	9.67	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
18750	3.91	5.47	7.07	8.72	10.50	12.37	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
20000	4.55	6.17	7.88	9.61	11.42	13.40	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
21250	5.25	6.92	8.75	10.60	12.46	14.48	16.53	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
22500	6.02	7.77	9.71	11.61	13.58	15.62	17.77	19.97	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
23750	6.91	8.70	10.72	12.73	14.76	16.86	19.07	21.37	23.68	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
25000	7.84	9.69	11.80	13.96	16.08	18.22	20.46	22.84	25.26	27.65	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
26250	8.90	10.75	12.95	15.18	17.47	19.73	22.01	24.36	26.90	29.39	31.94	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
27500	10.05	11.99	14.24	16.54	18.94	21.33	23.63	26.10	28.61	31.21	33.85	36.54	*	*	*	*	*	*
28750	11.30	13.31	15.55	17.97	20.45	22.92	25.43	27.92	30.46	33.09	35.84	38.63	41.44	44.39	*	*	*	*
30000	12.65	14.79	17.00	19.57	22.10	24.77	27.31	29.82	32.48	35.17	37.91	40.80	43.72	46.63	49.68	*	*	*
31250	14.10	16.32	18.55	21.18	23.83	26.58	29.29	31.91	34.69	37.38	40.21	43.05	46.07	49.09	52.12	55.23	*	*
32500	15.73	18.02	20.32	22.96	25.66	28.54	31.36	34.10	36.88	39.69	42.63	45.44	48.51	51.64	54.75	57.99	64.34	*
33750	17.40	19.76	22.19	24.84	27.68	30.49	33.46	36.39	39.29	42.21	45.14	48.06	51.10	54.26	57.48	60.83	67.39	*
35000	19.20	21.69	24.17	26.82	29.70	32.75	35.74	38.77	41.80	44.71	47.75	50.78	53.94	57.06	60.30	63.76	70.53	77.40
36250	21.20	23.75	26.27	28.91	31.92	35.00	38.12	41.28	44.42	47.44	50.61	53.76	56.87	60.11	63.29	66.78	73.76	80.84
37500	23.24	25.85	28.49	31.27	34.26	37.36	40.61	43.77	47.06	50.29	53.57	56.68	60.08	63.26	66.55	69.96	77.09	84.17
38750	25.51	28.16	30.94	33.75	36.71	39.95	43.21	46.49	49.91	53.24	56.50	59.88	63.23	66.52	69.93	73.45	80.51	87.81
40000	27.91	30.61	33.42	36.36	39.28	42.65	45.92	49.32	52.88	56.26	59.69	63.20	66.66	70.07	73.60	77.05	84.26	91.54
Apendix C: References for Compound Property Data

- Banerjee S, Yalkowsky SH, Valvani C. Water solubility and octanol/water partition coefficients of organics. Limitations of the solubility-partition coefficient correlation. Environmental Science & Technology. 1980 Oct;14(10):1227-9.
- [2] Boublik T. V., Fried, and E. Hala. The Vapour Pressure of Pure Substances, Elsevier Scientific Publishing Co., New York. 1973.
- [3] Buckingham J, Dictionary of organic compounds, 5th Ed. (plus supplements), Chapman and Hall, New York, 1982.
- [4] Chin YP, Peven CS, Weber Jr WJ. Estimating soil/sediment partition coefficients for organic compounds by high performance reverse phase liquid chromatography.
- [5] Dean JA. Lange's handbook of chemistry. New york; London: McGraw-Hill, Inc.; 1999.
- [6] Dreisbach RR. Physical properties of chemical compounds Vol. 1. American Chemical Society; 1955.
- [7] Gossett JM. Measurement of Henry's law constants for C1 and C2 chlorinated hydrocarbons. Environmental Science & Technology. 1987 Feb;21(2):202-8.
- [8] Hansch C, Leo A. Substituent constants for correlation analysis in chemistry and biology. Wiley; 1979.
- [9] Hansch C, Vittoria A, Silipo C, Jow PY. Partition coefficients and the structure-activity relation of the anesthetic gases. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 1975 Jun;18(6):546-8.
- [10] Hine J, PK M. The intrinsic hydrophilic character of organic compounds. Correlations in terms of structural contributions.
- [11] Howard, P.H., Handbook of Environmental Fate and Ewosure Data for Organic Chemicals. Vol. I and TI, Lewis Publishers, Inc., Chelsea, MI., 1989.
- [12] Leo A, Hansch C, Elkins D. Partition coefficients and their uses. Chemical reviews. 1971 Dec 1;71(6):525-616.
- [13] Mabey WR, Smith JH, Podoll RT, Johnson HL, Mill T, Chou TW, Gates J, Partridge IW, Jaber H, Vandenberg D. Aquatic fate process data for organic priority pollutants. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Regulations and Standards, Washington, DC EPA. 1982 Dec;440:4-81.
- [14] Mackay D. Correlation of bioconcentration factors. Environmental Science & Technology. 1982 May;16(5):274-8.
- [15] Mackay D, Shiu WY. Aqueous solubility of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data. 1977 Oct;22(4):399-402.
- [16] Mackay D, Wolkoff AW. Rate of evaporation of low-solubility contaminants from water bodies to atmosphere. Environmental Science & Technology. 1973 Jul 1;7(7):611-4.
- [17] Montgomery JH. Groundwater chemicals desk reference: Volume 2.

- [18] Munz C, Roberts PV. Air-water phase equilibria of volatile organic solutes. Journal-American Water Works Association. 1987 May;79(5):62-9.
- [19] Radding SB, Mill T, Gould CW, Liw DH, Johnson HL. The environmental fate of selected poly-nuclear aromatic hydrocarbons. Available from the National Technical Information Service, Springfield VA 22161 as PB-250 948, Price codes: A 07 in paper copy, A 01 in microfiche. Report EPA-560/5-75-009, February, 1976, 122. 1976:31.
- [20] Reid RC, Prausnitz JM, Poling BE. The properties of gases and liquids.
- [21] Riddick JA, Bunger WB, Sakano TK. Organic solvents: physical properties and methods of purification.
- [22] Roberts PV, Daendliker PG. Mass transfer of volatile organic contaminants from aqueous solution to the atmosphere during surface aeration. Environmental science & technology. 1983 Aug;17(8):484-9.
- [23] Sims RC. Treatment potential for 56 EPA listed hazardous chemicals in soil. US Environmental Protection Agency, Robert S. Kerr Environmental Research Laboratory; 1988.
- [24] Stephenson RM, editor. Handbook of the thermodynamics of organic compounds. Springer Science & Business Media; 2012 Dec 6.
- [25] Sutton C, Calder JA. Solubility of alkylbenzenes in distilled water and sea water at 25.0. deg. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data. 1975 Jul;20(3):320-2.
- [26] Shaul GM, Waterman JD. Treatability data base, version 5.0. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, OH (United States); 1995 Oct 1.
- [27] Verschueren K. Acetaldehyde. Handbook of Environmental Data on Organic Chemicals, 2nd Edn. Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York, NY. 1983.
- [28] Warner HP, Cohen JM, Ireland JC. Determination of Henry's law constants of selected priority pollutants. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, OH (USA). Water Engineering Research Lab.; 1987 Jul 1.
- [29] Weast RC. Definitive rules for nomenclature of organic chemistry. CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 64th edition, (1983-1984), p. C1-C44, CRC Press Inc., Boca Raton, Florida (44 p.). 1983.
- [30] Yoshida K, Shigeoka T, Yamauchi F. Non-steady-state equilibrium model for the preliminary prediction of the fate of chemicals in the environment. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety. 1983 Apr 1;7(2):179-90.